Expert Report for the UK Covid-19 Public Inquiry

Module 4 - vaccines and therapeutics

Covid-19 vaccines: risks, benefits and how to prepare for the next pandemic

Lead Author:

Professor Daniel Prieto-Alhambra

Additional Authors (in alphabetical order): Dr Annika Jödicke, Dr Edward Burn, Dr Junqing Xie, Dr Xintong Li

Authors' statement

We confirm that this is our own work and that the facts stated in the report are within our knowledge. We understand our duty to provide independent evidence and have complied with that duty.

The opinions we have expressed represent our true professional opinions on the matters to which they refer. These opinions are based on relevant scientific evidence referenced in this report, but we have not pursued a full systematic review of the literature. The studies and reports quoted in this report are therefore a selection of the most important published literature, but not a full and complete search of the thousands of case reports and manuscripts available on this topic. It is therefore possible that other literature not mentioned in this report can provide different findings on some of the issues discussed. However, we are presenting here the most relevant literature that led to what we think is our best current knowledge at the time we wrote this report.

In addition to all the cited literature, I as Lead Author received and read with interest all the relevant material made available to the Covid-19 Inquiry, including MHRA and CHM statements and accompanying documents, and the experiences of those who suffered injuries and bereavement following vaccination. I was sorry to read about those who suffered serious disease or even death after receiving a vaccine, and was profoundly touched reading about these experiences. I am not an expert in law, litigation, or compensation rules related to vaccine/s injury, and these matters are therefore not discussed in my report.

Prof Daniel Prieto-Alhambra and co-authors

Oxford, September 2024

Contents

1.	PREAMBLE	5
	Qualifications and experience	5
	Additional background information	6
	Additional co-authors	6
	Consulted literature and materials	6
2.	BACKGROUND	8
	Report structure	8
	How we assessed the quality of evidence for this report	8
	Introduction to Covid-19 vaccines	9
3.	VACCINE SAFETY REGULATION AND MONITORING	11
	The UK regulatory system and the international context	11
	Authorisation of Covid-19 vaccines in the UK	12
	Post-marketing surveillance of Covid-19 vaccines in the UK	12
	The risk-benefit balance	13
	Overall assessment of the UK's regulatory system	14
4.	INTENDED EFFECTS OF VACCINES	16
	Initial estimates of the effectiveness of Covid-19 vaccines	16
	Analyses of vaccine effectiveness in specific population subgroups of interest	17
	Diversity in clinical trials	19
	Changes in vaccine effectiveness with the appearance of new variants, and waning immunity over time	e .20
	Estimates of vaccine effectiveness against Long Covid	22
	Estimates of the overall population-level impact of vaccines on Covid-19 deaths	23
	Vaccine dosage intervals and their potential impact on vaccine effectiveness	24
	The effect of Covid-19 vaccines in limiting transmission of the virus in the UK	26
	Summary of known estimates of vaccine effectiveness for vaccines not approved in the UK during 2020/2021	29
5.	VACCINE SIDE EFFECTS	31
	Introduction	31
	Serious adverse events	32
	Myocarditis/pericarditis	32
	Blood clots with or without low platelet levels	36
	Guillain-Barré Syndrome	41
	Bell's palsy	44
	Transverse myelitis	45
	Immune thrombocytopaenia	48
	Capillary leak syndrome	50

Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis (ADEM)	51
Anaphylaxis	53
Adverse events raised by the Inquiry's Material Providers who have particular concerns about vaccine safety, including vaccine injured and bereaved groups	55
Introduction	56
Methods for our rapid literature review	56
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)	57
Varicella-zoster-virus (VZV) reactivation / Shingles	58
Seizures	59
Shoulder Injury Related to Vaccine Administration (SIRVA)	59
Tinnitus	60
Autoimmune connective tissue disease and alopecia	60
Rheumatoid arthritis (RA)	60
Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)	61
Fibromyalgia	61
Graves' disease	62
Depression	62
Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome (POTS)	62
Optic Neuritis	62
Heart Failure	63
Menstrual disorders	63
Mild adverse reactions	65
Prominent publicly reported side effects which were not confirmed upon investigation	66
Adverse pregnancy outcomes	66
Fertility problems	67
Excess deaths	68
6. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR A FUTURE PANDEMIC	70
7. REFERENCES	73

1.Preamble

Qualifications and experience

Professor Daniel Prieto-Alhambra, MD MSc (Oxon) PhD

- 1.1. As lead author for this report (DPA), I have a long track record of experience in the discovery, curation, analysis and interpretation of routinely collected healthcare data (sometimes known as real world data) for pharmacoepidemiology. Pharmacoepidemiology is a discipline that mixes knowledge of clinical sciences, pharmacology and epidemiology to generate insights into the use, safety and benefits of medicines and vaccines in large populations and beyond well-controlled research settings. A subset of my research focuses specifically on vaccines and I have led or participated in national and multinational analyses of methods research (Catala et al., 2024a, Li et al., 2021a), on the use and distribution of Covid-19 vaccines (Roel et al., 2022), and on their benefits (Cabezas et al., 2021a, Catala et al., 2024b, Hermosilla et al., 2022, Trinh et al., 2024, Xie et al., 2022a) and risks in the UK and internationally (Burn et al., 2022a, Burn et al., 2022b, Li et al., 2022a, Li et al., 2021b, Li et al., 2022b, Xie et al., 2022c). I also have some experience with the mathematical modelling of vaccine distribution at the population level (Catala et al., 2021) and some knowledge and understanding of how national and international regulators evaluate and mitigate risks in the context of post-marketing surveillance.
- 1.2. I trained and have practised for many years as a medical doctor, trained in general practice and having completed a Masters (MSc Oxford) in Musculoskeletal Sciences and practised in Rheumatology in the NHS in England. Therefore, I have knowledge and experience of the clinical diagnosis and management of some conditions that are known to be associated with vaccination.
- 1.3. I have no knowledge or expertise on the mechanisms (desired or available) for the purchasing or manufacturing of vaccines, or on the logistics related to their distribution in the population, nationally or internationally. I also have no knowledge or experience with any legal aspects related to the compensation of potential harm caused by vaccines or medicines, including the *UK Vaccine Damage Payment Scheme*.
- 1.4. As an epidemiologist familiar with analysing large population-level datasets to assess causality rather than detailed laboratory or autopsy studies of pathology, I have limited specialist knowledge of the basic/immunological mechanisms underpinning vaccine safety events. However, I provide an overview of published literature describing pathological mechanisms where relevant. This is by no means a complete and exhaustive review of literature, but an attempt to summarise the existing knowledge on the biology and mechanisms underpinning some of the reported potential vaccine adverse events.
- 1.5. A number of potential conflicts of interest were raised with the Covid-19 Inquiry's legal team and I set these out for completeness:
 - My current collaboration with the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) as a Honorary Consultant and supervisor for a PhD student in my group who also works

at UKHSA. This collaboration and studentship started more than a year after the relevant study period for this report and the Covid-19 Inquiry.

- Research funding from the European Medicines Agency in the form of competitive tenders for the investigation of Covid-19 vaccine safety and on other unrelated research questions.
- Consultancy work contracted through and paid to the University of Oxford (with no personal payments) to provide expert advice to AstraZeneca from March to September 2021. This work involved providing AstraZeneca with general advice on how to design observational studies for the monitoring of vaccine safety. I did not conduct any studies for, or funded by, AstraZeneca, nor was I given access to any data from AstraZeneca. Coagulation disorders were among the list of events monitored for all Covid-19 vaccines, as they usually are for any new vaccine; however, I was not aware of an association between coagulation disorders and adenovirus vectors before vaccine-induced thrombocytopenia and thrombosis (VITT) became apparent. I did not have any involvement in AstraZeneca's pharmacovigilance systems or reports, including its adverse event logging or analysis systems.
- On 1 March 2024 I was awarded a small grant (£50,000) to create a proposal for a national network to generate real world evidence to be used by the MHRA, under a competitive process funded by Innovate UK: UK Regulatory Science and Innovation Networks – Discovery phase (UKRI, 2023).
- 1.6. I do not consider that any of the above matters has affected my ability to prepare an objective and impartial report. The majority of my research to date has been funded by public or charitable sources, which include the NIHR, European Union and Arthritis Research UK (now known as Versus Arthritis).

Additional background information

Additional co-authors

1.7. The co-authors mentioned of this report set out above (Dr Annika Jödicke, Dr Edward Burn, Dr Junqing Xie and Dr Xintong Li) are experts in pharmacoepidemiology and drug and vaccine safety that work within my team at the Pharmacoepidemiology Research group at NDORMS, University of Oxford. They have all participated in or led analyses of Covid-19 vaccine safety or effectiveness and have contributed to the drafting of this report in line with my instructions and directions.

Consulted literature and materials

1.8. During the writing of this report, we consulted hundreds of manuscripts published and available in one of the most widely known repositories (PubMed) as well as documents, reports and any other useful documentation published by the key national stakeholders involved in the approval and post-marketing monitoring of vaccines in the UK: the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA), the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI), and the UKHSA. We have considered published scientific papers from many countries around the world, including some data from the devolved nations of the UK. However, specific organisational responsibilities in Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland were not within the scope of this report. We focussed most of our efforts on the review of literature published during the 'relevant period' as set in the

Letter of Instruction provided to us as expert witnesses: between 30 January 2020 and 28 June 2022. However, we did use later evidence or publications where necessary or relevant, particularly for the study of adverse events raised by the Inquiry's Material Providers.

- 1.9. I (Prof DPA) also received and read all the materials shared by the Covid-19 Inquiry staff, including witness statements and accompanying documents from the MHRA and CHM, and witness statements and accompanying documents provided by UK Covid Vaccine Adverse Reaction and Bereaved Groups (comprising the Scottish Vaccine Injury Group, the UK CV Family and the Vaccine Injured and Bereaved (VIBUK)). I have also read the evidence provided by Covid-19 Bereaved Families For Justice, Northern Ireland Covid-19 Bereaved Families For Justice, Scottish Covid Bereaved, Covid-19 Bereaved Families for Justice Cymru, Migrant Primary Care Access Group, Federation of Ethnic Minority Healthcare Organisations, Clinically Vulnerable Families, Traveller Movement and Disabled Peoples' Organisations.
- 1.10. This information was used to inform additional detail in some of the sections of this report.
- 1.11. We did not search government meeting minutes, or those of any other of their advisory committees, e.g. Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies (SAGE) or the New and Emerging Respiratory Virus Threats Advisory Group (NERVTAG).

2. Background

Report structure

The report is structured as follows:

- 1. First, we provide a brief introduction to the types of Covid-19 vaccine available in the UK, with a particular focus on the initial stage of the vaccine rollout in 2021, when most of the population were vaccinated for the first time.
- 2. Second, we explain how vaccine safety was regulated and monitored during that same period.
- 3. Third, we summarise the intended effects of Covid-19 vaccines, including the prevention of infection and related complications in the short and long term. As part of this section, we address the potential and observable effects of Covid-19 vaccines to prevent community transmission of the (SARS-CoV-2) virus.
- 4. Fourth, we provide information on unwanted effects of the Covid-19 vaccines, including common and mild, and more rare and severe ones.
- 5. Fifth, we set out some concluding thoughts and make 10 recommendations to improve the UK's readiness for the safe deployment of vaccines in the scenario of a future pandemic

How we assessed the quality of evidence for this report

2.1. In some sections of this report, we were asked to assess the quality of evidence to the effect that the Covid-19 vaccines caused specific effects, including benefits as well as adverse drug reactions. As mentioned above, we did not conduct systematic reviews of the literature. Therefore, we cannot use standard definitions for the quality of evidence. Additionally, none of the most important and severe drug reactions would have been detectable with sufficient certainty in randomised controlled trials - these studies are the type of evidence on vaccines and therapeutics accepted as gold-standard in the scientific community. This is because the important and severe side effects turned out to be rare or very rare, and were hence unlikely to be picked up in a trial of a few thousands or tens of thousands of participants.

Quality of evidence	Studies identified	Interpretation / intended meaning
Very low	Case reports and anecdotal evidence	It is impossible to know if an association exists based on the available data
Low	Spontaneous report disproportionality analyses, cross-sectional studies, case- control or cohort studies without adequate confounding control	The true effect might be markedly different from the estimated effect

2.2. The following was therefore used to assess the quality of evidence available:

Moderate	At least one cohort or self- controlled study with adequate confounding control	We believe that the true effect is possibly close to the estimated effect
Moderate-high	Numerous cohort studies or self-controlled case series with adequate confounding control, or systematic reviews of observational data	We have some confidence that the true effect is likely close to the estimated effect
High	Randomised controlled trial evidence	We have a lot of confidence that the true effect is similar to the estimated effect

Introduction to Covid-19 vaccines

- 2.3. Numerous vaccines have been approved for the prevention of Covid-19 at the time of writing this report. The most important ones, covered in subsequent chapters, are classified in three main groups depending on their mechanism and structure:
 - Messenger RNA (mRNA) vaccines: these instruct human cells to make units of the S protein typically found on the surface of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Once vaccinated with an mRNA vaccine, human cells make copies of the S protein. This triggers your immune system to create antibodies and defensive white blood cells against this S protein, which will help you fight the virus once you are infected. Once the S protein copies have been made, your cells then destroy and eliminate the mRNA (European Medicines Agency: Amsterdam, 2021b, European Medicines Agency: Amsterdam, 2021a). The mRNA in the vaccine does not enter the nucleus of human cells, and it therefore does not mix with our DNA. The Pfizer-BioNTech ("BNT162b2", referred to hereafter as "the Pfizer vaccine") and the Moderna ("mRNA-1273", referred to hereafter as "the Moderna vaccine") vaccines are monovalent mRNA-based Covid-19 vaccines, "monovalent" being a vaccine designed to target a particular strain, generally the original "wildtype" variant. Bivalent mRNA vaccines, covering two strains the "wildtype" variant and the Omicron variant were introduced in summer 2022 after the end of this Inquiry's relevant period. They are therefore not a focus of this report.
 - Adenovirus vector vaccines: these vaccines use a modified adenovirus to induce an immune response. Adenovirus are a family of viruses, some of them commonly infecting humans and causing cold or respiratory symptoms. This adenovirus, also known as a 'viral vector', is modified in two ways before inoculation: 1) it is made unable to reproduce/replicate; and 2) it is modified to include instructions on how to express one or more parts of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, specifically the spike protein (also known as the S protein). Once vaccinated with these viral vectors, human cells learn to make copies of the SARS-CoV-2 S protein, which triggers the creation of antibodies and defensive white blood cells. Similar to mRNA vaccines, these newly generated antibodies then protect against Covid-19 when the vaccinated person is exposed to SARS-CoV-2. Both ChAdOx1 (referred to hereafter as "the AstraZeneca vaccine") and Ad26.COV2.S ("the Janssen vaccine") are adenovirus vaccines.

- Protein subunit / glycoprotein vaccines: these vaccines contain S protein copies surrounded/wrapped by proteins to avoid their immediate destruction. As soon as the human immune system encounters these S proteins, it creates antibodies and defensive cells. These then protect the vaccinated person when they encounter an actual SARS-CoV-2 exposure. Nuvaxovid ("the Novavax vaccine") is a protein subunit vaccine.
- 2.4. There is a fourth type of commonly used vaccine: the inactivated viral vaccine. This uses inactivated (dead) viruses combined with an adjuvant and has a long history of being used for protection against many diseases, including polio and influenza. The only inactivated viral vaccine approved for use in respect of Covid-19 during the relevant period was the Valneva vaccine; however, this was never deployed in the UK. At least two inactivated vaccines were used in other parts of the world to protect against Covid-19: the Sinovac-Coronavac vaccine and the Sputnik V vaccine. These are not covered in detail in this report as they were never approved for use in the UK, but they are mentioned where relevant.

3. Vaccine safety regulation and monitoring

The UK regulatory system and the international context

- 3.1. The UK's regulator of medicines, including vaccines, is the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA). The MHRA is an executive agency of the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) and is responsible for ensuring the safety, quality and effectiveness of medicines, medical devices and blood components for transfusion.
- 3.2. In making its decisions, the MHRA receives advice from a number of independent advisory bodies, including the Commission on Human Medicines (CHM). The CHM is an advisory non-departmental public body, sponsored by the DHSC, and is the Government's independent expert scientific advisory body on medicines. During the pandemic, the CHM formed a number of Expert Working Groups (EWGs), including the Covid-19 Vaccine Benefit-Risk EWG (VBREWG).
- 3.3. Many western nations have vaccine (and medicines) evaluation processes similar to those in the UK. EU member states each have regulatory agencies like the MHRA and with similar functions, e.g. the Spanish Agencia Española de Medicamentos y Productos Sanitarios, the Dutch Medicines Evaluation Board (CBG for its initialism in the Dutch language) or the Danish Medicines Agency (Laegemiddelstyrelsen).
- 3.4. A key difference between these and the MHRA is that, since 2021, the former remain members of the collaboration of EU national agencies through the European Medicines Agency (EMA). This collaboration allows for both central (through the EMA) and national (through national agencies) approval and monitoring of medicines. The MHRA was part of the EMA and the EU framework during the first year of the pandemic (2020), but left it, with effect from 1 January 2021.
- 3.5. Other relevant national regulatory agencies of international reputation are the US Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) and Health Canada, among others. All these national agencies (including the MHRA) share similar functions, responsibilities and remits, including the monitoring of vaccine safety after approval through spontaneous reports and post-authorisation safety studies (PASS).
- 3.6. One apparent difference between the EMA, US FDA, and Health Canada on the one hand, and the MHRA on the other, is the availability of mechanisms for the commissioning of PASS. The EMA regularly opens competitive tenders for specific studies of regulatory interest, and some of these covered issues related to Covid-19 vaccine safety (e.g. EUPAS 39361, EUPAS 44469). More recently, the EMA funded the Data Analysis and Real-World Interrogation Network (DARWIN EU) to generate faster and better evidence, including on vaccine and medicine safety. The US FDA and Health Canada have similar platforms for the request and rapid execution of regulatory studies, namely the Sentinel and C-NODES initiatives respectively.

- 3.7. To the best of my knowledge, the MHRA does not have an equivalent mechanism for the commissioning of rapid analyses for timely evidence for regulatory purposes. While PASS studies can be commissioned by the MHRA (see below), it does not have the same rapid and stable mechanisms to commission them when compared to other regulators. However, the MHRA does have access to data from primary care and linked hospital records in the form of the Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD). These data are available to the MHRA for analysis, but have certain limitations including geographic coverage and lack of information on most hospital treatments.
- 3.8. Recently, Innovate UK opened a call for the setting up of UK Regulatory Science and Innovation Networks. This is a promising development which could be the seed or pilot for a national infrastructure for the generation of regulatory evidence similar to those available to the EU EMA's DARWIN EU, Canada's C-NODES and the US FDA's Sentinel systems.

Authorisation of Covid-19 vaccines in the UK

- 3.9. In response to the pandemic, the MHRA modified its procedures to expedite the review and authorisation of the Covid-19 vaccines. This included a 'rolling review' procedure, whereby the MHRA received and assessed clinical trial data from pharmaceutical companies on a rolling basis rather than requiring that all data be presented at the same time. Once the MHRA had formed a positive opinion in relation to the safety and efficacy of a candidate vaccine, it sought advice from the CHM. The CHM then advised the UK government on each vaccine's quality, safety and potential risk-benefit balance, with a final decision on authorisation taken by a Minister acting as the 'Licensing Authority'.
- 3.10. The first Covid-19 vaccines, including the Pfizer, AstraZeneca and Moderna vaccines, were initially authorised for supply in the UK on a temporary basis under Regulation 174 of the Human Medicines Regulations 2012. Regulation 174 operates to disapply, on a temporary basis, the standard authorisation procedures and regulations where that is in response to the suspected or confirmed spread of pathogenic agents, toxins, chemical agents or nuclear radiation, which may cause harm to human beings. The Covid-19 pandemic met this definition. Use of Regulation 174 also ensured that the vaccines could be supplied across the whole of the UK at the same time as, once the UK left the EU on 1 January 2021, Northern Ireland remained subject to the EU's medicines regulatory regime.

Post-marketing surveillance of Covid-19 vaccines in the UK

3.11. Once a Covid-19 vaccine had received approval for use, the MHRA was then responsible for the monitoring of post-marketing safety. Post-marketing safety data typically includes spontaneous reports made by affected people and healthcare professionals, and PASS. Spontaneous reports are often directly received and processed by the MHRA through the Yellow Card scheme. PASS are usually observational by nature. These studies use routinely collected health data from electronic medical records, registries or health claims, and utilise different study designs, including case-control, cohort and self-controlled methods (Lai et al., 2022). PASS are commonly conducted by various entities, including pharmaceutical companies (marketing authorisation holders), independent or academic

groups, national regulatory agencies (like the MHRA), or other national and international consortia, sometimes including contract research organisations (CROs).

- 3.12. Following advice from the CHM, the MHRA set up a four-strand approach to post-marketing surveillance of the Covid-19 vaccines:
 - 1. Enhanced Yellow Card passive surveillance through an interface to the Yellow Card scheme specifically for the Covid-19 vaccines.
 - 2. Rapid cycle analysis (proactive as opposed to passive analysis of pre-defined events) and ecological analysis (proactive analysis of trends within particular populations).
 - 3. Targeted active monitoring through the Yellow Card Vaccine Monitor (invitations of a random selection of vaccinees to register on the Monitor, and then pro-active follow up to ascertain whether any suspected adverse reactions had occurred).
 - 4. Formal epidemiological studies to confirm and quantify a suspected side effect.
- 3.13. In addition to the MHRA and CHM, other important stakeholders played a role so as to maximise the transparency and completeness of information on Covid-19 vaccines, both in terms of risks and benefits. Important relevant bodies included the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) and public health agencies like the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA, formerly Public Health England) and equivalent bodies in Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. The JCVI focused on recommendations on the best strategies for prioritising vulnerable populations and for determining dosing regimens, while the UKHSA took responsibility for the monitoring of vaccine uptake and of vaccine effectiveness over time, particularly in the context of emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants. More detail on their respective roles and recommendations are covered in subsequent sections of this report.

The risk-benefit balance

- 3.14. Vaccines are not medicines used to treat existing conditions, but are used to prevent possible future outcomes. Safety is therefore particularly relevant in their evaluation and monitoring, and the risk-benefit balance is required to be very favourable to justify rollout to large numbers of people not currently suffering from the infection. To our knowledge, there are no pre-specified or universally accepted risk-benefit thresholds. Instead, vaccines are proposed for use when their potential risks are much rarer and/or less severe than the consequences of the infection they prevent or mitigate. In the case of Covid-19, and as detailed in subsequent sections, the vaccines prevented hundreds of thousands or millions of deaths worldwide, therefore proving to be extremely beneficial against a virus that was killing large numbers of people globally. As we will also describe in subsequent sections, the risks of serious adverse events associated with the UK-approved Covid-19 vaccines were very rare overall. However, some of them were more common in specific population subgroups, leading to changes in the use of the vaccines for the groups affected.
- 3.15. That said, the risk-benefit balance was also affected by the high incidence of Covid-19 during the pandemic and the high likelihood of almost everyone eventually becoming infected based on models that were later proved to be correct (Office for National Statistics, 2023). To keep the risk-benefit balance updated and accurate, all available and upcoming

data on overall effectiveness over time, impact on specific subpopulations and emerging risks of side effects had to be considered together.

Overall assessment of the UK's regulatory system

- 3.16. Based on the author's research and experience, it is my view that the modifications made to the UK's safety regulatory system in response to the pandemic and detailed in the following paragraphs of this section did not negatively affect the system's ability to effectively identify and respond to safety issues associated with the Covid-19 vaccines. The rolling review of clinical trial findings accelerated the process of systematic evaluation of vaccines' risk-benefit profiles at the time of approval. However, none of the potential serious adverse effects identified post-approval were known at that time, as they were too rare to be detected even in a very large clinical trial. Other regulators, like the EMA, followed similar processes with a similar result, as detailed in later sections of this report.
- 3.17. In terms of post-marketing surveillance, the continuous and enhanced review and analysis of spontaneous reports submitted using the bespoke Covid-19 vaccine Yellow Card scheme enabled very rapid identification of potential adverse effects. This was equivalent to the work done by other countries in Europe, such as Spain and its system for the notification of suspected adverse reactions. The Covid-19 vaccine Yellow Card scheme allowed the MHRA to identify safety issues in a timely manner, and to produce swift guidance and/or documentation to alert patients and clinicians and healthcare professionals. More details on the timings for each of these are provided in subsequent sections of this report.
- 3.18. The formation of VBREWG (the CHM Covid-19 Vaccines Benefit Risk Expert Working Group), and other advisory groups relating to emerging signals, was also fundamental to positively inform decision-making based on the potential impact of any changes in the vaccination campaign.
- 3.19. In relation to complementary and proactive monitoring using PASS studies: UK-based data sources including pseudonymised NHS records and linked data, for example from the National Immunisation Management System (NIMS) registry, allowed quality and timely research on the safety and effectiveness of vaccines nationally.
- 3.20. The establishment of NIMS and similar registries in the devolved nations (e.g. the Vaccination Management Tool (VMT) in Scotland) was a key development in the monitoring of vaccine safety. It allowed national stakeholders to monitor the rollout, coverage, effectiveness and safety of Covid-19 vaccines in England (Tessier et al., 2023). NIMS provided a unique data asset that, linked to other national data sources, allowed for the continuous study of vaccine safety and effectiveness. This enabled the UK to be at the forefront in tracking vaccine effectiveness over time and to evaluate the impact of emerging SARS-CoV-2 variants.
- 3.21. The access to a complete view on the exposure to Covid-19 vaccines in the UK thanks to NIMS made it possible for many groups across the country, including government actors but also independent and academic groups, to conduct PASS studies to monitor safety and effectiveness across multiple populations and over time. This is demonstrated by the large number of high impact manuscripts cited in this report, including in top international scientific journals like the New England Journal of Medicine, the Lancet and the BMJ.

- 3.22. This complex system allowed the generation of timely evidence that resulted not only in multiple public and scientific communications on the risks and benefits of the Covid-19 vaccines, but also in swift action by the MHRA when potentially serious adverse effects were identified. The time lag between the identification of new adverse effects and the corresponding actions (e.g. notifications, change in indication, etc.) was similar to some countries but longer than others. This led to relatively minor differences in the timing of actions based on safety signals across the western world, detailed in subsequent sections of this report.
- 3.23. In this context it is important to note that decisions about when to act upon a safety issue in the middle of a pandemic involve a difficult trade-off between restricting access to a beneficial vaccine and minimising any related risks. Importantly, the context of community transmission and alternative vaccine availability had to be considered when making these decisions. In the UK, as in many other countries, such decisions were made not only by the regulator (the MHRA) but also by committees like the JCVI.
- 3.24. Other relevant initiatives that contributed positively to the monitoring and evaluation of vaccine safety nationally included Public Health Scotland's EAVE II (Early Pandemic Evaluation and Enhanced Surveillance of Covid-19), the SARS-CoV-2 immunity and reinfection evaluation (SIREN) study and other National Core Studies funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). These programmes played significant roles in improving the understanding and evaluation of vaccine effectiveness.
- 3.25. In our opinion, despite the potential challenges and changes arising from the departure from the EU/EMA framework during the pandemic, the UK's investment in new or updated monitoring systems and research studies allowed the UK to monitor the risk-benefit of Covid-19 vaccines as quickly and effectively as many other similar countries. As I detail in subsequent sections, most relevant serious adverse events were noticed and acted upon by the MHRA within days or weeks before or after other international regulators from Europe or North America.

4. Intended effects of vaccines

4.1. In this section we briefly summarise most of the knowledge about the beneficial effects of Covid-19 vaccines available in the UK based on studies published in peer-reviewed journals before 28 June 2022. More recent studies are included for the section on beneficial effects of vaccines against Long Covid.

Initial estimates of the effectiveness of Covid-19 vaccines

- We had high quality evidence from phase 3 trials suggesting that the Covid-19 vaccines prevented symptomatic Covid-19 at the time when they were approved.
- Some of these trials demonstrated an effect against asymptomatic infection, and some against severe Covid-19 (e.g. hospitalisation).
- 4.2. Initial estimates on how well vaccines protect against severe Covid-19 came from large, randomised clinical trials (also known as Phase III trials) including tens of thousands of people without previous SARS-CoV-2 infection, conducted mostly in 2020. The numbers of participants in these Phase III trials were comparable with those used for other recent vaccines, like those conducted for the study of vaccines against respiratory syncytial virus (Walsh et al., 2023, Wilson et al., 2023).
- 4.3. These first studies reported on the AstraZeneca (Voysey et al., 2021), Pfizer (Polack et al., 2020) and Moderna (Baden et al., 2021) vaccines in December 2020 and the Janssen vaccine (Sadoff et al., 2021) in April 2021. Despite differences in study populations, the geographical location from which participants were recruited and choice of comparator (placebo in most trials, non-Covid active vaccines in others), they all showed high protection against symptomatic Covid-19.
- 4.4. All four vaccines were subsequently approved and recommended for use in the UK and in the European Union based on these data. In February 2022, the Novavax vaccine became the fifth Covid-19 vaccine authorised for use in the UK (MHRA, 2022).
- 4.5. The efficacy of 2 doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine against symptomatic Covid-19 (positive test and at least one symptom) was reported to be 70.4% [95% Confidence intervals 54.8 to 80.6] at >14 days after the second dose in an interim analysis (Voysey et al., 2021). Interestingly, efficacy was higher (around 90%) in a subgroup of people who received a lower vaccine dose as their first dose, followed by a normal dose for the second.
- 4.6. It is worth mentioning that the timing between people receiving their first and second vaccine dose in this trial varied. While most UK participants received their booster dose ≥12 weeks after the first dose, those recruited in Brazil received their second dose within 6 weeks of the first. Exploratory analyses of these data suggested that efficacy for this vaccine was similar, if not better, with a longer time lapse between doses (<6 weeks vs ≥6 weeks), which is important when considering the subsequent UK-wide decision to prolong dosing intervals (see paragraphs 4.40 to 4.46).</p>

- 4.7. Notably, this trial used regular PCR testing in a subset of participants, therefore providing evidence for a protective effect against asymptomatic as well as symptomatic Covid-19. Vaccine efficacy against asymptomatic infection in this study was estimated based on small numbers of participants and found to be around 50% in those receiving low dose/standard dose vaccination.
- 4.8. The first interim results from a large clinical trial on the efficacy of the Pfizer vaccine showed an efficacy of 95.0% [90.3 to 97.6] to prevent laboratory-confirmed Covid-19 ≥7 days after the second dose when administered 21 days after the first (Polack et al., 2020).
- 4.9. Similarly, high vaccine efficacy was shown for the Moderna vaccine, with 94.1% [89.3 to 96.8%] protection against symptomatic Covid-19 at least 14 days after the second dose when given 28 days after the first (Baden et al., 2021).
- 4.10. The Janssen vaccine was the only one-dose vaccine approved by the MHRA. At ≥14 days after a first dose, efficacy was 66.9% [59.0 to 73.4] against moderate-severe Covid-19, and 76.7% [54.6 to 89.1] against severe–critical Covid-19 (Sadoff et al., 2021).
- 4.11. Finally, 2 large clinical trials in the US/Mexico and the UK showed effectiveness of 90.4% [82.9% to 94.6] and 89.7% [80.2 to 94.6] at ≥7 days after 2 doses of the Novavax vaccine against Covid-19 (Dunkle et al., 2022, Heath et al., 2021).

Analyses of vaccine effectiveness in specific population subgroups of interest

- We have moderate to moderate-high quality evidence suggesting that the initially approved Covid-19 vaccines prevented infection (at the time of analysis) and Covid-19 hospitalisations for specific subgroups of interest, including immune-suppressed patients, nursing home residents, and pregnant women.
- Additionally, we have high quality evidence that the approved mRNA vaccines were highly effective to prevent Covid-19 in children aged 5 to 15 at the time of approval for paediatric use.
- 4.12. With the roll-out of the vaccination campaign and increasing numbers of people vaccinated, the effectiveness of the vaccines "under real-world conditions" was monitored by multiple academic groups and by national agencies like the UKHSA (then known as Public Health England), Public Health Scotland, Public Health Wales and the Public Health Agency in Belfast, Northern Ireland. This included studies to establish the effectiveness of the approved Covid-19 vaccines in the general population and in subgroups of people not included or under-represented in the initial phase III trials.
- 4.13. Due to the observational nature of these data, it is difficult to establish comparisons between vaccinated and unvaccinated subjects. This is because vaccination was not randomly allocated (like in phase III trials) but instead offered based on important risk factors for infection (e.g. healthcare workers) or for severe disease (e.g. old age or clinical vulnerability). Multiple different methods were used to minimise the impact of this, and

some of these methods and analytical strategies have been further validated and shown to provide valid estimates of effectiveness, similar to those seen in phase III trials (Catala et al., 2024).

- 4.14. Among 383,812 people tested for SARS-CoV-2 as part of the Office for National Statistics' Covid-19 Infection Survey between 1 December 2020 and 8 May 2021, 12,826 people tested positive. This was one of the largest of such infection surveys conducted internationally at the time. Vaccine effectiveness in this population for the AstraZeneca and Pfizer vaccines at ≥21 days after the first dose was measured as 61% [54 to 68] and 66% [60 to 71] respectively. Higher effectiveness was reported after a second dose: 79% ([65 to 88] and 80% [73 to 85] respectively. While estimates for vaccine effectiveness varied between studies, they consistently showed that both vaccines were effective to substantially reduce the risk of symptomatic and severe Covid-19 when used under "real-world" conditions (Pritchard et al., 2021). All ethnic groups benefited from vaccination according to similar analyses (Glampson et al., 2021, Whitaker et al., 2022).
- 4.15. In addition, several studies were conducted among populations previously underrepresented in trials, including individuals with clinical conditions that place them at high risk for severe Covid-19 (so called "clinical risk groups"). Whitaker et al. reported no overall reduction in vaccine effectiveness for at-risk clinical risk groups compared to the general population. However, substantially reduced vaccine effectiveness against infection was seen in the immunosuppressed group, with only 22-24% effectiveness of a first dose of the AstraZeneca or Pfizer vaccines, and 60% effectiveness for a second dose (Whitaker et al., 2022). Vaccine effectiveness against Covid-19 related hospitalisation after 2 doses was somewhat reduced in these people; fortunately, however, it remained substantial: 77% [74 to 80] (Embi et al., 2021).
- 4.16. Studies among residents of long-term care facilities in England showed vaccine effectiveness (against SARS-CoV-2 infection) of around 50% 4 weeks after a first vaccine dose and 60% in the month after a second dose (Paranthaman et al., 2022, Shrotri et al., 2021). A complementary study from Catalonia (Spain) focussing on severe outcomes reported effectiveness of 2 Pfizer vaccine doses against Covid-19 related hospitalisation or death in nursing home residents to be very high, with 95% [93 to 96] and 97% [96 to 98] protection respectively (Cabezas et al., 2021b).
- 4.17. Vaccination in pregnancy was a specific concern in the early days of the vaccination campaign, probably due to the exclusion of pregnant women from Covid-19 vaccine trials internationally. This exclusion led to uncertainty around the safety and efficacy of the approved vaccines in pregnant women, resulting in uncertainty for healthcare professionals giving individual advice about risks and benefits, and probably contributing to a low uptake during the beginning of the vaccine rollout. mRNA-based vaccines were later shown to be similarly safe and beneficial in pregnant women as in the general population, with 97% and 89% effectiveness against symptomatic Covid-19 and Covid-related hospitalisation after 2 doses of the Pfizer vaccine (Dagan et al., 2021). Later studies have provided additional reassurance on the effectiveness of these vaccines against Covid-19 complications and severe disease in pregnant women (Mercade-Besora et al., 2024). This information on risks and benefits was particularly relevant given the high rates of severe Covid-19 outcomes observed among pregnant women.

4.18. Following the vaccination of adults, the MHRA extended the approval of the Pfizer vaccine to allow its use in 12- to 15-year-old children (MHRA, 2021b), with vaccination of younger age groups advised later by the JCVI (JCVI, 2022). A phase III randomised clinical trial reported the vaccine to be highly effective against Covid-19 in children aged 12 to 15, and to produce an even greater immune response than in young adults (Frenck et al., 2021). Similarly, high vaccine effectiveness in younger children aged 5 to 11 was reported (90.7% [67.7 to 98.3]) with only 1/3 of the dose for adults being used in that age group (Walter et al., 2022).

Diversity in clinical trials

- The initial AstraZeneca trials included a lower than desirable number of elderly people, particularly given the emphasis on protection of severe Covid-19, more common in older people. This led to some criticism about the potential efficacy of this vaccine in older populations, and likely encouraged some decision-makers in Europe to prioritise its use for middle-aged people.
- Sex representation was approximately balanced, but the exclusion per protocol of pregnant women from all phase III vaccine trials likely contributed to a slow uptake of the Covid-19 vaccines in pregnant women. This was unfortunate given pregnant women had poor outcomes when they had Covid-19.
- Most ethnic groups were included in the Phase III trials for all three vaccines, albeit in lower proportions than their representation in the overall population. Given the rarity of the later identified serious adverse events, it is unlikely that including a higher proportion of people from specific ethnicities would have affected our ability to identify specific safety issues.
- It remains important that efforts are made in the future to improve the diversity of phase III trials before products and vaccines are approved during a future pandemic. This would probably improve our understanding of the risk-benefit for specific subgroups and reduce vaccine hesitancy among the under-represented groups.
- 4.19. Regulators including the MHRA typically request that clinical trials include participant populations including those who are likely to receive the vaccine/medicine under study. This is based on European guidelines ICH E8 (r1) (EMA, 2022), which state: "*The population to be studied should be chosen to support the study objectives and is defined through the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the study.* The degree to which a study succeeds in enrolling the desired population will impact the ability of the study to meet its objectives."
- 4.20. However, safety considerations for trial participants are also important when clinical trials are designed, and the same ICH E8 (r1) guidelines state: "The study population may be narrowly defined to reduce the risk to study participants or to maximise the sensitivity of the study for detecting a certain effect. Conversely, it may be broadly defined to more closely represent the diverse populations for which the drug is intended. In general, studies conducted early in a development programme, when little is known about the safety of the drug, are more homogeneous in study population definitions. Studies conducted in the later phases of drug development or post-approval are often more heterogeneous in study

population definitions. Such studies should involve participants who are representative of the diverse populations which will receive the intervention in clinical practice. Available knowledge about participant characteristics that may predict disease outcomes or effects of the intervention can be used to further define the study population."

- 4.21. Therefore, decisions on eligibility criteria for participants when designing a trial are typically based on a trade-off between including populations representative of those to be treated/vaccinated and excluding those at high risk of serious adverse effects. As far as I know, it is the responsibility of the trial sponsor to decide on these criteria.
- 4.22. Finally, an important factor contributing to the composition of a trial population is the willingness and/or ability of potential participants to enrol, and the ability of the investigators to attract diverse population groups to participate in the trials. Even if eligibility criteria are broad and inclusive, it is often the case that not all population subgroups are able or interested to participate in trials in sufficient numbers.
- 4.23. Regarding age, the AstraZeneca vaccine trials included low numbers of elderly people, with between 84% and 100% of participants aged 55 years or younger and only 0% to 10% aged 70 or older in the 4 pooled phase III trials (Voysey et al., 2021). Median (range) age in the Pfizer vaccine trial was 52 (16-91), and in the Moderna trial 51 (18-95) years old.
- 4.24. Sex representation was not remarkable in any of the phase III trials, with female participants 41% to 61% in the AstraZeneca trials, 49% in the Pfizer trial, and 47.3% in the Moderna trial.
- 4.25. Regarding ethnicity, over 90% of the participants in the UK-based AstraZeneca vaccine trials were white, but the smaller trial for this same vaccine conducted in South Africa included about 65% black participants, and the one conducted in Brazil included 10% black and over 20% mixed ethnicity participants. As for the Pfizer vaccine phase III trial (Polack et al., 2020), almost 83% of participants were white, about 9% black, 4% Asian and 2% multiracial. In the Moderna phase III trial (Baden et al., 2021), almost 80% were white, 10% black or African American, almost 5% Asian and about 2% multiracial.
- 4.26. All four AstraZeneca vaccine trials excluded pregnant and breastfeeding women (Voysey et al., 2021), and both the Pfizer and Moderna phase III vaccine trials excluded pregnant people (Polack et al., 2020, Baden et al., 2021).

Changes in vaccine effectiveness with the appearance of new variants, and waning immunity over time

- Waning immunity is a known issue for many other vaccines, particularly for respiratory virus vaccines.
- Waning immunity for Covid-19 vaccines was monitored, and increased with the appearance of new variants, especially Omicron in late 2021. Waning immunity affected the vaccines effect against infection, but the vaccines remained (and remain) protective against hospitalisation and severe health outcomes despite waning

immunity.

- The UKHSA was world-leading in the monitoring of vaccine effectiveness over time, and action was taken to organise booster vaccination to confer additional protection to the population when Omicron appeared.
- 4.27. Multiple studies have assessed the effectiveness of vaccines against new variants and the waning of vaccines over time. For this summary, I predominantly refer to estimates provided by the UKHSA and Public Health Scotland based on data from the UK, sometimes working alongside public health colleagues from Wales and Northern Ireland. They continuously monitored the effectiveness of the Pfizer, AstraZeneca and Moderna vaccines. This monitoring covered periods when different variants were predominant, and later booster doses as well as the original two-dose schedules. In summary, their analyses showed that the protection vaccines offered against (symptomatic) SARS-CoV-2 infection was higher for the alpha variant compared to delta, and much higher for delta compared to omicron. This reduction in vaccine effectiveness could be the result of vaccine-induced immunity waning, adaptation of the virus, or a combination of both.
- 4.28. The effectiveness of Pfizer or AstraZeneca vaccines was lower against the delta variant compared to the alpha variant, with 30.7% [25.2 to 35.7] vs. 48.7% [45.5 to 51.7] effectiveness for both vaccines after one dose, with less noticeable differences after 2 doses: 88.0% vs. 93.7% for the Pfizer vaccine, and 67.0% vs. 74.5% for AstraZeneca respectively (Lopez Bernal et al., 2021). Fortunately, both the Pfizer and AstraZeneca vaccines preserved high levels of effectiveness in protecting against Covid-19 hospitalisation and death in relation to the delta variant, with limited waning over the follow-up available at the time (Andrews et al., 2022b, Sheikh et al., 2021).
- 4.29. Similar findings were reported from the US for 2 doses of the Moderna vaccine, with vaccine effectiveness against SARS-CoV-2 infection of 86.7% [84.3 to 88.7] against delta compared to 98.4% [96.9 to 99.1] against alpha (Bruxvoort et al., 2021).
- 4.30. After two doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine, effectiveness against Delta started at 82.8% [74.5 to 88.4] after 2 to 4 weeks but waned to 43.5% [42.4 to 44.5] after 25 or more weeks. Effectiveness of 2 doses of mRNA vaccines remained high in all periods, but there was also evidence of waning (Andrews et al., 2022a). This is in line with a meta-analysis estimating that during delta-dominant times, the protection against symptomatic Covid-19 decreased from 1 month to 6 months after full vaccination by 24.9% [13.4 to 41.6] in people of all ages. Fortunately, protection against severe Covid-19 decreased in a lesser fashion, only by 10% (Feikin et al., 2022).
- 4.31. Finally, substantial waning of AstraZeneca effectiveness was described by UKHSA after Omicron became the dominant variant nationally in late 2021, from around 50% at 2-4 weeks after the second dose to almost no protective effect from 20 weeks. Similarly, vaccine effectiveness for the Pfizer vaccine dropped from 65.5% [63.9 to 67.0] at 2 to 4 weeks after the second dose to 15.4% [14.2 to 16.6] after 15 to 19 weeks and 8.8% [7.0 to 10.5] after 25 weeks or more. The effectiveness of the 2-dose Moderna vaccine declined similarly over time, from 75.1% [70.8 to 78.7] to 14.9% [3.9 to 24.7] (Andrews et al., 2022a). No reductions in vaccine effectiveness against symptomatic disease were reported with Omicron sub-lineages BA.2 compared to BA.1. Booster doses with either mRNA vaccine

after a 2-dose primary course vaccination with the AstraZeneca or Pfizer vaccines substantially increased protection (Andrews et al., 2022a).

4.32. Importantly, while effectiveness of the booster dose also showed waning over time, mRNA booster vaccination was shown to remain highly protective against severe outcomes including hospitalisation and death due to Omicron (Nyberg et al., 2022, Stowe et al., 2022).

Estimates of vaccine effectiveness against Long Covid

- Although Long Covid was not studied as a health outcome during the initial trials, we have moderate-high quality evidence to suggest that the existing Covid-19 vaccines are protective against the development of Long Covid.
- Overall, most good quality studies available to date continue to suggest that Covid-19 vaccines are either neutral or protective against the development of Long Covid.
- The effect of Covid-19 vaccines in people with pre-existing Long Covid remains unclear.
- 4.33. In February 2022, the UKHSA published a rapid review summarising the available evidence on the effectiveness of vaccines to prevent Long Covid (UKHSA, 2022c). All studies were observational, and hence provide weaker evidence than a properly conducted randomised controlled trial because the studies could not completely rule out factors other than vaccination. Most studies that assessed the association of pre-infection vaccination and long-term complications at that time showed a reduction in risk for Long Covid associated with vaccination. Eight of the studies reviewed assessed the effectiveness of vaccination before SARS-CoV-2 infection. Six of these studies showed that vaccinated people were less likely to develop symptoms of Long Covid after infection. However, all these studies were restricted to participants who suffered Covid-19, therefore neglecting the well-known effectiveness of the Covid-19 vaccines to reduce infection in the first place. Overall, this review and our knowledge suggests no association between vaccination itself and persistent symptoms of Long Covid. Although phase 3 trials showed that all approved Covid vaccines increased a risk of fatigue, this was self-limited and brief in duration. Two relevant studies were conducted using data from the US based on the Veteran Affairs national healthcare database and from a newly developed multicentre cohort called N3C, respectively. Both showed a reduced risk for post-acute Covid-19 complications in people with Covid-19 who had been previously vaccinated, compared to unvaccinated subjects (Al-Aly et al., 2022). Similarly, a UK-based study using digital self-reported data collected using the ZOE app reported lower odds (OR 0.51 [0.32 to 0.82]) of persistent symptoms (≥28 days) following full two-dose vaccination (Antonelli et al., 2022).
- 4.34. Systematic reviews conducted later in 2022 and 2023 showed effect estimates to greatly vary between studies, largely depending on the Long Covid definition used, study population included and healthcare setting (Byambasuren et al., 2023, Notarte et al., 2022, Watanabe et al., 2023a). However, most of these studies published by Summer 2022 only included people with Covid-19, and the impact of vaccines to prevent Covid-19 in the first place was therefore not accounted for in any of these studies. More recently, analyses of

UK primary care data replicated in Estonia and Spain were published in 2023 and showed an overall effectiveness of a first vaccine dose to protect against development of Long Covid symptoms following SARS-CoV-2 infection to be around 50% in all adults (Catala et al., 2024b). These analyses were further replicated using nationwide Norwegian data with similar findings (Trinh et al., 2024).

4.35. The UKHSA Review mentioned above also looked at whether vaccination in people who were already suffering from Long Covid before being vaccinated had any effect on the symptoms of Long Covid. Four studies included in the review compared the reporting of Long Covid symptoms in the same person before and after vaccination, and three of these studies found that the majority of (but not all) participants had an improvement after vaccination. The review included three studies of people with Long Covid who were unvaccinated at the time of infection, to then compare those who subsequently were vaccinated to a separate group of Long Covid symptoms in the former vs the latter. In 3 of 5 studies reviewed looking at symptom changes following vaccination in people with Long Covid, there was a majority of people (close to 70%) who had no change in symptoms after vaccination (UKHSA, 2022c). A more recent systematic review (2023) highlights this inconsistency between studies, with some reporting improvement of Long Covid symptoms in 20.3% of people who had Covid-19 before vaccination, but 20.5% showing symptomatic worsening, and 54.4% with no change/s in symptoms (Watanabe et al., 2023a).

Estimates of the overall population-level impact of vaccines on Covid-19 deaths

- The best quality evidence available to date suggests that the Covid-19 vaccines saved millions of lives globally.
- 4.36. As detailed below, numerous studies have been conducted to understand the impact of Covid-19 vaccination on Covid-related and all-cause mortality. Overall, these suggest that Covid-19 vaccination had a substantial impact on the course of the pandemic, saving millions of lives globally. Directly measuring the impact of Covid-19 vaccination on Covid-19 related and excess mortality is difficult, as the counterfactual scenario without vaccination was not observed in most countries, and strong non-pharmacological (public health) restrictions would have likely been maintained to suppress transmission in the absence of vaccines. However, mathematical models have been published that estimate the number of deaths avoided by the vaccination program shortly after its roll-out.
- 4.37. Estimates published by Public Health England and Cambridge University's MRC Biostatistics Unit suggest that 127,500 deaths had been prevented in England as a result of the Covid-19 vaccination programme up to 24 September 2021 (UKHSA, 2021a). Meslé and colleagues estimated that between December 2020 and November 2021 the number of Covid-19 deaths directly averted in people 60 years and older as a result of Covid-19 vaccination in the WHO European region was 469,186 (sensitivity range 129,851–733,744). For England and Scotland, the estimates were 157,604 and 27,656 deaths averted by

vaccination respectively (Mesle et al., 2021). This study also suggests that the largest number of deaths across all countries were averted after vaccination of older people. The authors concluded that the largest reduction in expected deaths was seen in countries with "high early vaccine uptake" including England and Scotland. Overall, England and Scotland ranked among the top 10 countries (8th and 2nd respectively) in terms of deaths averted thanks to Covid-19 vaccination.

- 4.38. A more recent analysis (Mesle et al., 2024) estimated a total of 449,241 and 25,386 lives saved in England and Scotland respectively until March 2023. In this study, the UK was therefore estimated to be the country with the highest number of deaths averted due to Covid-19 vaccines in the WHO-Europe region, followed by Italy (203,026) and Germany (182,988). These estimates are based on mathematical models, and therefore limited by the underlying assumptions of the models used. For example, based on varying assumptions ("sensitivity analyses") about prior infection, vaccine efficacy, lag time until vaccines take effect, and waning immunity, the estimate provided for lives saved in England varied from 301,497 to 502,487 lives saved (reported in the paper's supplementary appendix pp.74-75). Unfortunately, the studies cited at paragraphs 4.37 and 4.38 did not include data from Wales and Northern Ireland.
- 4.39. Globally, the impact of the first year of Covid-19 vaccination programmes was estimated to have avoided 14.4 million [13.7 to 15.9] deaths from Covid-19 in 185 countries and territories, with an estimated 19.8 million [19.1 to 20.4) deaths from Covid-19 averted when excess deaths were included (Watson et al., 2022). However, the study also suggests that even more lives could have been saved globally if a more fair and equitable distribution of vaccines had been achieved.

Vaccine dosage intervals and their potential impact on vaccine effectiveness

- Informed mostly by JCVI modelling, the UK extended the administration of seconddose vaccines to 12 weeks, instead of 3, as done in most of the randomised controlled trials.
- Data available later in the pandemic suggests that this strategy was highly beneficial, as it allowed the administration of at least one dose to more people, faster.
- Additionally, an analysis of phase 3 trials for the AstraZeneca vaccine suggest that a longer separation between doses provided higher protection against symptomatic infection.
- 4.40. At the start of the vaccination roll-out, both supply and deployment capacity were limited compared to the global demand for Covid-19 vaccines. In order to optimise the Covid-19 vaccination programme for maximum short-term impact, the JCVI issued a short statement on 31 December 2020 advising that the maximum intervals between a first and second vaccine dose should be extended from 3 to 12 weeks (JCVI, 2021b).
- 4.41. At that time, information on vaccine efficacy from the first dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech was available, suggesting a short-term vaccine effectiveness of around 90%. For the first dose

of the AstraZeneca vaccine, short-term efficacy was estimated to be around 70%. In its statement, the JVCI stated that *"given the high level of protection afforded by the first dose, models suggest that initially vaccinating a greater number of people with a single dose will prevent more deaths and hospitalisations than vaccinating a smaller number of people with two doses*".

- 4.42. Upon request, and in the preparation of this report, the JCVI confirmed that the output of those models is publicly available in document DHSC 00048398 (JCVI, 2021b), and was published in a research article in September 2021. Briefly, the JCVI models were based on data from the second wave in the UK (from 1 September 2020 until 21 December 2020) and focussed on the vaccination of the oldest age groups. While over 80-year olds only comprised 5% of the population, 60% of deaths due to Covid-19 occurred in this age group. The theoretical models first examined whether, given a limited supply of vaccine, it would be better to give as many people as possible one dose and provide them with partial protection, or to give two doses (and thus a higher level of protection) to a smaller number of people, focussing on those at highest risk for Covid-19 related mortality. The models showed that when supplies are limited, a greater number of deaths could be averted by covering more people with a single dose. However, models also showed that there is a point at which it is better to switch to giving two doses to people at highest risk. That point depended on both the vaccine uptake and the relative efficacy from one dose compared to two doses. Additional models were then developed to predict the optimal allocation of vaccine doses between first and second doses, by maximising the relative number of deaths averted when both first and second doses are used to vaccinate the oldest agegroups first. Recommendations for the application in the UK based on these models were therefore "that for relatively high protection from the first dose (compared to the efficacy derived from two doses) a substantial number of first doses should be administered before attention switches to giving second doses", and that the time of switching to prioritising second doses would depend on the relative vaccine efficacy and the speed with which the vaccination campaign could be rolled out.
- 4.43. Published efficacy of the first dose of the Pfizer vaccine against symptomatic Covid-19 14 days after vaccination was 89% [52 to 97]. In the Phase III randomised controlled trial, the 2nd dose was administered 21 days after the first dose. No intervals longer than 21-28 days were tested, and therefore no efficacy estimates were directly available. For the AstraZeneca vaccine, efficacy from 22 days after a first dose was 73% [48.79 to 85.76]. Subgroup analyses among people who received their vaccines <6 weeks or ≥6 weeks' apart from each other showed comparable vaccine efficacy if the interval was extended (53.4% [-2.5 to 78.8] vs. 65.4% [41.1 to 79.6]) (Voysey et al., 2021). The JCVI statement reported an exploratory analysis of vaccine efficacy of 73% [48.8 to 85.8] among people with a first AstraZeneca dose between 22 days after first dose until either second dose or 12 weeks. Despite this uncertainty, independent mathematical models led by international researchers backed up this decision, suggesting that if efficacy persisted for up to 12 weeks, the decision to separate vaccine doses would result in better effects on health and fewer public health (non-pharmacological) restrictions (Catala et al., 2021).</p>
- 4.44. The decision to extend the interval between vaccine doses was met with controversy. Concerns were raised over the lack of evidence for the interval (predominantly for the Pfizer vaccine) and the potential for vaccine resistant variants to develop (Berkane et al., 2021, Mahase, 2021). On 8 January 2021, the WHO published interim guidance for the use of the

Pfizer vaccine, recommending that the interval between doses may be extended up to 42 days (6 weeks) based on available clinical trial data (WHO, 2021a).

- 4.45. The roll-out of the first vaccine doses was accompanied by UK-based studies to monitor the clinical effectiveness of first-dose vaccination against Covid-19 and severe Covid-19 early on, with data from Scotland indicating a substantial reduction in risk of hospital admission due to Covid-19 (Vasileiou et al., 2021). This study also did not report on data from Wales or Northern Ireland.
- 4.46. In retrospect, increasing the interval between first and second doses from 3 to 12 weeks (and later 8 weeks) was found "highly beneficial" to prevent Covid-19 related hospitalisation and deaths. Based on mathematical models published in 2023, an estimated 32,000 to 72,000 hospital admissions and 4,000 to 10,100 deaths had been averted by the policy during the first 10 months following the start of the vaccination campaign in England (Imai et al., 2023, Keeling et al., 2023).

The effect of Covid-19 vaccines in limiting transmission of the virus in the UK

- The effect of the approved Covid-19 vaccines to reduce transmission could not be studied in the vaccine trials. Therefore, the data available are at best of moderate-high quality.
- Most or all of the studies available on this topic demonstrated that the Covid-19 vaccines would reduce transmission.
- However, the observed decline in vaccine effectiveness against infection with the emergence of new variants likely resulted in a reduced effect against transmission.
- 4.47. The concept of vaccine effectiveness to minimise transmission (VET) is distinct from the general term of vaccine effectiveness, which typically refers to preventing, at the person level, infection, symptomatic illness and severe disease, including hospitalisation and death. Instead, VET focuses on the role of vaccines in reducing the contagion from person to person (here related to the SARS-CoV-2 virus), a crucial aspect in controlling community transmission and spread across the population.
- 4.48. Measuring transmission is challenging, particularly in the context of randomised controlled trials, as it requires tracking both symptomatic and asymptomatic infections among participants and their close contacts. To overcome these challenges, a combination of study designs has been used to date, each with inherent limitations and strengths. Observational studies provide evidence that may be most directly applicable to real-world settings but could contain biases. Viral load studies offer insights into infectiousness but require careful interpretation of their implications in wider populations and more realistic scenarios. Modelling studies provide a broader view, but often rely on assumptions that are not verifiable.
- 4.49. The process by which vaccination can prevent SARS-CoV-2 virus transmission can be broadly divided into two independent steps: first, by reducing the likelihood of infection among the vaccinated; and second, by reducing the likelihood of transmitting the virus to others for individuals who experience a breakthrough infection after vaccination

(infectiousness given infection). This dual mechanism highlights the complexity of evaluating VET.

- 4.50. Despite these difficulties, a number of studies have been conducted on this topic. Most available evidence consistently shows that the Covid-19 vaccines used in the UK are and remain highly effective in reducing severe disease and mortality (see paragraphs 4.16 to 4.17). Early results also showed effectiveness in reducing infection and symptomatic disease, which indirectly contributes to VET, as uninfected individuals cannot transmit the virus. This argument, advocated by reports from the UKHSA [A rapid review (UKHSA, 2022b); A rapid evidence briefing update 1 (UKHSA, 2022a)], supports the indirect beneficial effect of vaccines on transmission dynamics. It is, however, unclear whether these vaccines are similarly effective in reducing asymptomatic infection, particularly after the emergence of Omicron.
- 4.51. Understanding the infectiousness or ability to pass on the infection in breakthrough Covid-19, among the vaccinated, is much more complex. Early UK-based studies consistently showed that Covid-19 vaccines reduced the risk of transmission by nearly 50% among household members from index cases when the Alpha variant was dominant (Harris et al., 2021, Shah et al., 2021). These findings were later corroborated by other studies with different designs, and in diverse settings and populations (de Gier et al., 2021, Prunas et al., 2022, Salo et al., 2022).
- 4.52. However, clear variability in VET was later observed when different SARS-CoV-2 variants became dominant. In the context of the Delta variant, vaccines remained effective against transmission, but showed a lower effectiveness compared to earlier strains. A contact tracing study gathering data from September 2020 to September 2021 and published in October 2021 of 602 community contacts of 471 UK Covid-19 index cases found that the secondary attack rate (SAR) in household contacts exposed to the delta variant was 25% for fully vaccinated individuals versus 38% for unvaccinated individuals (Singanayagam et al., 2022). In another study of 146,243 tested contacts of 108,498 index patients, vaccination with the Pfizer vaccine significantly reduced PCR positivity in contacts, particularly for the Alpha variant (SAR ratio 0.32) and less for the Delta variant (SAR ratio 0.50). This pattern was also observed for the patients receiving AstraZeneca vaccinations (Eyre et al., 2022). Of importance, a rapid decline was observed in VET over time after vaccination, particularly for the new variants researched in these studies.
- 4.53. Data from viral load studies present a mixed picture regarding the infectiousness of vaccinated individuals with Delta SARS-CoV-2 viral infection. Although many suggested no significant differences in viral clearance time between vaccinated and unvaccinated cases (Hagan et al., 2021, Pouwels et al., 2021, Salvatore et al., 2023), some studies found that full vaccination can reduce infectious viral load for Delta breakthrough cases compared to unvaccinated infected individuals (Bak et al., 2021). It is crucial to note that measuring viral RNA in swabs is only a proxy for transmission potential, and these results should therefore be interpreted with caution.
- 4.54. The emergence of the Omicron variant introduced further complexity. While vaccines are less effective in preventing Omicron infections, their impact on transmission is not straightforward and remains less well understood. A large study showed only marginal increases in transmission among unvaccinated individuals infected with Omicron compared

to Delta, but a more significant increase for vaccinated and booster-vaccinated contacts, suggesting a reduction in VET for Omicron-infected subjects (Lyngse et al., 2022).

- 4.55. During the circulation of Omicron variants, the role of booster doses and hybrid immunity became a focal point. Data was available to support the contention that booster-vaccinated individuals are less infectious than those fully/primarily vaccinated, but it remains unclear if this enhanced protection (infectiousness given infection) offsets the reduced effectiveness of vaccines against Omicron (infection probability). A study in prisons in California supports the idea that a combination of previous infection and vaccination provides the most robust defence against transmission, compared to either previous infection or vaccination alone (Tan et al., 2023). How generalisable these findings are to the broader population remains an open question, as most post-marketing evidence on VET has been derived in somewhat closed research settings. The least indirect evidence from many modelling studies supports the effectiveness of vaccines in limiting transmission, yet these are based on assumptions that may not always reflect practical conditions.
- 4.56. In conclusion, while vaccines continue to play a crucial role in preventing serious illness, their effectiveness in preventing transmission appears to be more subtle, dynamic and intricate. Most evidence suggests that the effect of vaccines to reduce overall transmission (likelihood of infection + infectiousness given infection) increased with booster doses but declined over time since the last dose had been given and with the emergence of the Omicron variants. However, these studies are unlikely to reflect the complex dynamics of transmission in the community, and many other non-pharmaceutical factors and interventions play a role in community transmission, making it difficult to research VET in realistic settings.
- 4.57. Preliminary data indicated that Covid-19 vaccines reduced transmission by lowering the likelihood of infection among trial participants. While the evidence suggested a possible reduction in virus spread due to the vaccines' impact on asymptomatic infections, this inference was made with lower confidence (August 2020).
- 4.58. At the time of vaccine approval, there was no consensus in the scientific community about the vaccines' effectiveness in reducing transmission in real-world settings, as this was not directly assessed in the clinical trials (December 2020). Data was subsequently collected and analysed in subsequent months, and is summarised in the following sections.

Figure 1: Chronology - when the effect of the UK Covid-19 vaccines on transmission became known



4.59. As detailed above, all best evidence consistently showed the vaccines' effectiveness in preventing transmission, based on data emerging within a year of their approval and distribution across the UK (January 2022). There was a decline in vaccine effectiveness for preventing infection after the emergence of the Delta variant and other novel variants, suggesting VET may be less efficient in limiting these new variants compared to the wild type or pre-Delta variants (June 2022).

Summary of known estimates of vaccine effectiveness for vaccines not approved in the UK during 2020/2021

- 4.60. At the start of the roll-out of the vaccination campaign in the UK in December 2020, evidence about the effectiveness of other vaccines was still scarce.
- 4.61. The Sputnik V vaccine received emergency authorisation on 11 August 2020 in Russia, where it was developed.(SputnikV, 2022). However, results from phase 1-2 clinical trials were only published a month after vaccine approval, and concerns were raised by scientists about potential inconsistencies in the published data, as a result they requested that the raw data be shared with researchers (Bucci, 2020). Results from a large phase III trial, which was still ongoing at the time Sputnik was rolled-out in Russia, were published in early February 2021 (Logunov et al., 2021). The study reports 91.6% efficacy against Covid-19 and that the vaccine was well tolerated in the study population. However, concerns were again raised about the study, with scientists pointing out "numerical inconsistencies in the

statistics and results", as well as insufficient access to the original study data and full study protocol (Bucci et al., 2021). While the EMA started a rolling review of the Sputnik V in March 2021 (EMA, 2021e), the vaccine had not yet been authorised in the European Union as of November 2024 (EMA, 2024a).

- 4.62. Separately, in May 2021, the WHO recommended the inactivated Covid-19 vaccines BIBP (developed by China National Biotec Group (CNBG), Sinopharm) and CoronaVac (developed by Sinovac) for use as part of their "emergency use listing" (WHO, 2021b). However, at that time the vaccination campaign in the UK had already progressed efficiently using other previously approved vaccines. Results from Phase 1-2 trials for BIBP were published in August 2020 (Xia et al., 2020) and January 2021 (Xia et al., 2021). In May 2021, a large multinational phase III trial with 2 doses given 21 days apart from each other showed 79% efficacy [66 to 87] against symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection (AI Kaabi et al., 2021). The phase III trial was conducted in Brazil, with 2 doses of Sinovac-CoronaVac given 14 days after each other. This showed an efficacy of 51% [36 to 62] against symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection and 100% [17 to 100] against severe Covid-19. Results from Indonesia (65.3% [20.0 to 85.1]) and Turkey (83.5% [65.4 to 92.1]) against symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection showed comparable findings (WHO, 2021c). Again, these results were only available when the UK vaccination campaign had already progressed using previously approved vaccines, rendering these additional vaccines unnecessary at the time.
- 4.63. Finally, some reassuring data is available on the efficacy of some of these vaccines mixed with those available in the UK. This could be important for people who migrated or travelled to or from the UK and therefore received different vaccines over time. Data from Brazil published in early 2022 demonstrated good clinical effectiveness against infection and severe Covid-19 when one dose of CoronaVac was followed by one of the Pfizer vaccine (Cerqueira-Silva et al., 2022).

5. Vaccine side effects

Introduction

- 5.1. Side effects are also known as Adverse Drug Reactions (ADRs). The EMA defines an ADR as "A noxious and unintended response to a medicine." A serious ADR is defined by the EMA as "An adverse reaction that results in death, is life-threatening, requires hospitalisation or prolongation of existing hospitalisation, results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity, or is a birth defect." (EMA, 2024b)
- 5.2. The large randomised trials conducted to test the vaccines before authorisation would have identified all common side effects (defined by the MHRA (MHRA, 2023c) as those affecting 1 in 10 to 1 in 100 of those who take the medicine or vaccine) and uncommon side effects (1 in 100 to 1 in 1,000), but not necessarily those that are rare (1 in 1,000 to 1 in 10,000). They were unlikely to detect very rare side effects (fewer than 1 in 10,000). Further detail on this issue can be found in Prof. Stephen Evans' expert report INQ000474707 paragraph 6.1.2
- 5.3. This report addresses the following categories of ADR:
 - Those serious ADRs which were observed and recognised during the initial stage of the vaccine rollout in 2021, and which therefore had, or could have had, a significant effect on the UK's vaccination campaign. This focus reflects the report's key objective of making recommendations which will enable the UK to safely and effectively deliver a major vaccination campaign in the event of a future pandemic.
 - ADRs of the Covid-19 vaccines raised by the Inquiry's Material Providers who have particular concerns about vaccine safety, including vaccine injured and bereaved groups.
 - Menstrual disorders.
 - Mild adverse reactions to the Covid-19 vaccines. For the purposes of this report, a mild reaction is defined as one which typically disappears within hours or a few days, leaves no sequelae, does not require hospitalisation, and does not result in death.
 - What we consider are the most prominent publicly reported ADRs which, upon investigation, were not confirmed, namely adverse pregnancy outcomes and fertility problems.
- 5.4. In addressing ADRs, we have had reference to the 'known risks' of the Covid-19 vaccines identified by the MHRA in its ADR chronologies. 'Known risks' are defined by the MHRA as adverse reactions where the evidence has shown a plausible causal association with a vaccine and as a result the MHRA has updated the product information for healthcare professionals, the Summary of Product characteristics (or SmPC) and the Patient Information Leaflet (or PIL). The scope of the report has not been limited to an examination of these 'known risks'.
- 5.5. Finally, it is worth noting that in some parts of this section, and particularly in the 'serious adverse events' section, we refer to data on the existing association/s between Covid-19 itself and the ADR. This is to refer to scenarios where the ADR under discussion could be caused by Covid-19 itself as well as by the vaccine that could prevent or mitigate it. Such

situations are challenging for regulators when making risk/benefit assessments. Abnormal blood clotting is an important example: a specific type of clot was a side effect of the AstraZeneca vaccine, but was also a consequence of the infection itself (see paragraph 5.47).

5.6. Fortunately, multiple studies have examined not only the association between Covid-19 vaccines and ADRs but also between Covid-19 and the ADR of interest. See for example Li et al, Patone et al, Hippisley-Cox et al and Burn et al for relevant studies including UK data (Hippisley-Cox et al., 2021, Patone et al., 2021, Patone et al., 2022, Li et al., 2022b, Burn et al., 2022)).

Serious adverse events

Myocarditis/pericarditis

- Myocarditis and pericarditis are inflammatory disorders affecting the heart.
- They have been reported as rare adverse events after the Pfizer and Moderna vaccines. Estimates of frequency vary across studies, typically between 1 in 100,000 and 1.5 in 10,000, and seem higher in younger men after the second dose.
- The quality of the evidence known to us now which suggests an association between the use of Pfizer or Moderna vaccines and the risk of myocarditis is moderate-high.
- Although some cases of post-vaccine myocarditis needed hospital admission, large studies have found very low or no associated fatalities.
- Myocarditis also occurs due to Covid-19 itself. Some epidemiological studies suggest a stronger association between Covid-19 and myocarditis than between Covid-19 mRNA vaccines and myocarditis.
- In my opinion, and based on the evidence summarised below, the UK regulatory response was appropriate in relation to safety signals concerning myocarditis/pericarditis. A key reason for this is that most studies suggested that Covid-19 itself could cause as much if not more myocarditis/pericarditis than the vaccines. Therefore, a risk/benefit assessment had to be made, taking into account that vaccination had other benefits, like the reduction in Covid-19 infections and severity.
- 5.7. Myocarditis is an inflammation of the heart muscle, while pericarditis is the inflammation of the outer heart lining. Most cases of myocarditis and pericarditis are caused by viral infections. Myo- and pericarditis had also been described in association with previous (non-Covid) vaccines, and therefore they were considered adverse events of special interest, and monitored from the beginning of the vaccination rollout. Both myocarditis and pericarditis are often mild, and symptoms usually resolve after a short time with standard treatment and rest. Some cases require intensive care support and fatal cases have been reported.
- 5.8. On 4 February 2021, the MHRA discussed with VBREWG for the first time a potential association between the Pfizer vaccine and the risk of myo/pericarditis in people aged <50

years old, based on Yellow Card reports and observed-vs-expected analyses. The number of cases at that time was small, and the evidence considered inconclusive. Further monitoring was advised.

- 5.9. In early June 2021, MHRA consulted VBREWG again on the risk of myo/pericarditis associated with the Pfizer and Moderna Covid-19 vaccines. Data for discussion included suspected cases reported through the Yellow Card system, an analysis by UKHSA of 'Secondary User Service' (SUS) data, international data (from US and Israel), and data provided by the manufacturers. At that time, the Yellow Card scheme had received 34 reports of suspected myocarditis and 26 of suspected pericarditis following almost 15 million first doses and almost 11 million second doses of the Pfizer vaccine; 31 reports of suspected myocarditis and 55 of suspected pericarditis after almost 25 million first doses and almost 16 million second doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine; and two reports of suspected myocarditis (0 pericarditis) following approximately 0.5 million first doses of the Moderna vaccine.
- 5.10. In late June 2021, and after a review of all data available, the VBREWG suggested that the product information for the Pfizer and Moderna vaccines should include a warning of potential risks of myocarditis and pericarditis, particularly for young males and following the second dose of the vaccine.
- 5.11. Myocarditis and pericarditis have been listed since then in the product information leaflets for both mRNA vaccines as "very rare" side effects, indicating that they may affect up to 1 in 10,000 people (MHRA, 2023e). Cases of myocarditis and pericarditis have been reported following mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in published post-authorisation safety surveillance since mid-2021, with reports predominantly within 14 days after the second dose of mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccines (Abu Mouch et al., 2021, Diaz et al., 2021a, Kim et al., 2021, Rosner et al., 2021).
- 5.12. Many research studies have been conducted to estimate the incidence of myocarditis, as well as their association with Covid-19 vaccines. A study using US safety surveillance data reported 10.1 extra cases per million doses in the 1- to 21-day period following the second dose of mRNA vaccines in those aged 12-39 (Klein et al., 2021). A large study in Israel found an incidence of 2.13 cases per 100,000 persons with at least one dose of the Pfizer vaccine, with the highest risk seen among males aged 16-29 (Witberg et al., 2021). Another study reported that among over 5 million Israeli residents who received two doses of the Pfizer vaccine, the highest risk was observed among 16-19 year old males, with 15.07 cases per 100,000 persons within 21 days after the second dose (Mevorach et al., 2021).
- 5.13. Many studies reported a higher risk of myocarditis among recipients of the Moderna vaccine compared with the Pfizer vaccine, and among young men. Husby and colleagues reviewed data from four million residents of Denmark age 12 and older who received one of the mRNA vaccines from October 2020 to October 2021, and reported an incidence of 1.4 per 100,000 Pfizer vaccinated individuals within 28 days, and incidence of 4.2 per 100,000 Moderna vaccinated individuals. In their post hoc analysis of male participants aged 12-39 years vaccinated after a second dose of the Pfizer vaccine, there was no significant increase in rates of myocarditis, and the absolute rate was 1.8 per 100,000 vaccinated individuals within 28 days of vaccination (Husby et al., 2021).
- 5.14. A meta-analysis of four cohort studies including a total of 23 million people showed excess events of 5.55 events per 100,000 vaccinees after the second dose of the Pfizer vaccine

and 18.39 events per 100,000 vaccinees after the second dose of the Moderna vaccine in 16-24 year old males during the 28 days after vaccination compared to the unexposed (Karlstad et al., 2022). A study from Canada found higher rates of myocarditis or pericarditis associated with receipt of the Moderna vaccine compared with the Pfizer vaccine as a second dose, particularly among younger males (Buchan et al., 2022).

- 5.15. The rates and excess risk reported in those studies varied depending on the data source (passive versus active surveillance), geographical region, time windows of risk assessed, outcome definition and ascertainment, and vaccination schedule between first and second doses (Gellad, 2021). In a systematic review of 46 studies, the authors concluded that the incidence of myocarditis is probably highest in males aged 12-29 years and more likely with Moderna than with the Pfizer vaccine. Yet the certainty about evidence using GRADE (Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation) ranged from "very low" to "moderate" (Pillay et al., 2022).
- 5.16. It is important to understand that myocarditis can also occur after SARS-CoV-2 infection. A large UK-based study among over 42 million vaccinated individuals, led by Patone et al, found that the risk of myocarditis was overall higher after SARS-CoV-2 infection than after Covid-19 vaccination. This study also found that while a risk of myocarditis after vaccination exists, this risk was much lower compared to that seen following Covid-19 infection in the unvaccinated. The authors stated that this suggests vaccination provides some protection from the cardiovascular consequences of SARS-CoV-2. However, in the specific subgroup of males younger than 40 years old, this study found that the risk of myocarditis was higher after a second dose of the Moderna vaccine than after a positive SARS-CoV-2 test (Patone et al., 2022a). In another study by the same research team, increased risks of myocarditis after vaccination, and after a SARS-CoV-2 positive test, were reported. Among people aged under 40 years, the excess cases of myocarditis were 15 per 1 million people receiving a second dose of Pfizer or Moderna vaccines, compared to 10 following a SARS-CoV-2 positive test (Patone et al., 2022b).
- 5.17. The severity of myocarditis after vaccination has been reported in multiple international studies. A large study from Israel including over 2 million people vaccinated with the Pfizer vaccine observed 54 cases of myocarditis within 42 days of vaccination, among which 76% of cases were mild, 22% intermediate severity, and only 2% severe (Witberg et al., 2021). Using data from 26 paediatric medical centres across the United States and Canada, researchers reported that among 139 adolescents and young adults seen in these specialised centres with suspected myocarditis after mRNA vaccines, most were admitted for two or three days, about one in five (18.7%) in intensive care, and none died (Truong et al., 2022). Data from the US Vaccine Safety Datalink showed that 55%, 86% and 77% of reported myocarditis cases after mRNA vaccines were hospitalised among those aged 12-17 years, 18-29 years, and 30-39 years old respectively (Klein, 2021).
- 5.18. Based on UK data, Patone et al reported that among 140 patients who were admitted to hospital for myocarditis in the 1 to 28 days after a first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine, 28.6% died within 28 days of hospital admission with myocarditis with a mean age of 62 years old, with an equivalent figure after a first dose of the Pfizer vaccine of 17.7% (Patone et al., 2022a).
- 5.19. Obviously, because myocarditis can be caused by some vaccines, but also by the infection that such vaccines prevent or mitigate, there needs to be a risk/benefit analysis. In this

analysis, the risk of myocarditis must be weighed against the overall benefits of vaccination. Bozkurt et al. summarised the benefit-risk assessment conducted by the US CDC (figure 2) and showed a positive risk-benefit balance for all age and sex groups (Bozkurt et al., 2021).



Figure 2 Predicted benefits of reduction in Covid-19–related hospitalizations and death and risks of myocarditis after second dose of mRNA Covid-19 vaccination by age group (Bozkurt et al 2021).

- 5.20. In the UK, an additional study quantified the risk-benefit of two doses of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination among adolescents in England (Gurdasani et al., 2021). Assuming an infection rate of 1,000 per 100,000 per week among 12–17 year olds as in late July 2021, vaccination could avert 287 Covid-19 hospitalisations, 19 Intensive Care Unit admissions, and 2 deaths per week, with an estimated disbenefit of 10 cases of vaccine-associated myocarditis/pericarditis.
- 5.21. Current evidence also suggests that vaccination may provide longer-term benefits by preventing infection-associated myocarditis in addition to the prevention of other post-acute Covid-19 complications, including respiratory disease and thromboembolic events (Al-Aly et al., 2022, Trinh et al., 2024, Xie et al., 2022b). However, many studies have limited follow-up, and the long-term consequences of vaccine- or Covid-19 associated myocarditis remain unclear (Pillay et al., 2022).
- 5.22. A systematic review and meta-analysis has synthesised both randomised clinical trials and observational studies, and myocarditis risk was estimated to be 1.8 per million (95% CI, 0.000%-0.001%) following the second injection of mRNA vaccines (Watanabe et al., 2023b). However, most of the included studies were of relatively small sample size. Another review study concluded that for girls and boys aged 5-11 years, incidence of myocarditis after vaccination with the Pfizer vaccine could be fewer than 20 cases per million, with low certainty (Pillay et al., 2022).
- 5.23. Following further studies of safety and efficacy in children, on 4 June 2021, the UK approval of the Pfizer vaccine was extended to 12- to 15-year-olds (MHRA, 2021b). On 25 June

2021, the MHRA added a warning to the product information for both monovalent mRNA Covid-19 vaccines (Pfizer and Moderna) to inform healthcare professionals and patients of these reports and provide advice and awareness of symptoms for myocarditis and pericarditis. In July 2021, the JCVI advised that vulnerable children aged 12 and over should be offered the Pfizer vaccine (JCVI, 2021d).

- 5.24. In November 2021, the UKHSA published guidance on myocarditis and pericarditis post-Covid-19 vaccination, as well as a clinical management guidance for healthcare professionals, updated in January 2023 (UKHSA, 2023). This guidance summarised the updated information on myocarditis and pericarditis following vaccination, and suggested that individuals who develop myocarditis or pericarditis following Covid-19 vaccination should be assessed by an appropriate clinician to determine whether it is likely to be vaccine related. If further doses were due, the Pfizer vaccine could be offered from 12 weeks after recovery from myocarditis or pericarditis following a Covid-19 vaccination. Updated guidance makes further recommendations to consider the context at the time of vaccination.
- 5.25. In terms of later national regulatory action, the MHRA updated information on Myo/pericarditis in March 2022, changing from a potential side effect of unknown frequency to "very rare" (MHRA, 2022b). The approval for use of the Pfizer vaccine was extended to 5 to 11 year olds in December 2021, and a half dose (50 micrograms) of the Moderna Covid-19 vaccine was approved for use in 6 to 11-year old children in April 2022.

Conclusion

- 5.26. We have moderate-high quality evidence to suggest an association between vaccination with Pfizer or Moderna Covid-19 vaccines and an increased risk of myocarditis. Similar quality of evidence exists to suggest an association between Covid-19 and an increased risk of myocarditis.
- 5.27. Overall, and based on the available evidence, the UK regulatory action taken in relation to myocarditis/pericarditis was in my opinion appropriate. As detailed, myocarditis occurred also after Covid-19 in the unvaccinated population and a risk/benefit balance had to be considered when taking action in the context of the pandemic. Given the additional benefits of vaccination, including the prevention of (SARS-CoV-2) infection and the mitigation of Covid-19 severity, the benefits of vaccination with mRNA vaccines during the period of interest outweighed the risks related to a potential excess risk of myocarditis after vaccination.

Blood clots with or without low platelet levels

- Unusual combinations of blood clots and low platelet levels (thrombosis with thrombocytopaenia syndrome, or TTS) were reported as rare side effects from the AstraZeneca vaccine.
- Additionally, unusual blood clots in the brain called cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) were also reported after the AstraZeneca vaccine, sometimes associated with low platelet levels.
- The evidence for an association between the AstraZeneca vaccine on rare blood clots
(CVST) and blood clots with low platelets (TTS) is of moderate-high quality. Estimates of frequency vary widely, but seem higher in women aged 40 years or younger.

- According to the last published 'Summary of Yellow Card reports' the estimated rate of TTS is 21.8 per million doses in people under 50 and 11.3 per million in those aged 50 or older after the AstraZeneca vaccine.
- TTS is a serious, rapidly developing, and sometimes fatal condition. The case fatality rate was overall, according to MHRA estimates, about 1 in 4 cases. This proportion was even higher early on in the rollout when the condition was first recognised.
- Blood clots, including those with low platelets and CVST, are even more commonly associated with Covid-19 itself in the unvaccinated population, calling for continued risk-benefit analyses.
- Due to this side effect, the JCVI advised on 7 April 2021 that young people under 30 years old should be offered an alternative to the AstraZeneca vaccine, as based on the available evidence, the risks were deemed to outweigh the benefits for that age group. This recommendation was extended to those aged 30 to 39 years old on 7 May 2021.
- In my opinion, and based on the evidence available to date, the UK regulatory response was appropriate. A potential reason for some differences in recommendations internationally was the recommended use of the AstraZeneca vaccine in Europe, where it was prioritised for younger populations, likely at higher risk of CVST and TTS. This contributed to an earlier detection of this ADR in countries like Denmark or Germany.
- As recommended later in this report, a better and/or more formal collaboration with international regulators and the existence of faster mechanisms for the commissioning of epidemiological studies would have allowed the MHRA and JCVI to have more and better information to act upon earlier.
- 5.28. It was known from early on in the pandemic that Covid-19 tended to cause blood clots in infected people (Thomas et al., 2020). However, although blood clots were monitored as potential adverse events of interest, it was not expected that there might be a risk of vaccines causing rare brain blood clots (CVST) or TTS. Additionally, no evidence of a risk of blood clots was found in the large randomised trials before authorisation.
- 5.29. In early 2021, following the introduction and rollout of millions of doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine, cases of cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST), which are rare blood clots in the brain, were reported in Norway, Germany, and Austria, often accompanied by thrombocytopenia (low platelet levels) (Greinacher et al., 2021, Schultz et al., 2021). The term Thrombosis with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome (TTS) was coined to describe a new and very rare event potentially linked to adenovirus vector-based vaccines including AstraZeneca and Janssen (WHO, 2021d). The most common initial symptom reported among TTS cases was headache.
- 5.30. Post-vaccination thrombosis and/or TTS led to hospital admission in most cases, with some reports of cases leading to sequelae or life-threatening complications, and some resulting in death. According to the summary of Yellow Card reporting, up to 23 November 2022 there

were 445 cases of TTS reported following the AstraZeneca vaccine, with an overall case fatality rate of 18% (MHRA, 2023a).

- 5.31. A previous UK-based multicentre cohort study included 70 people with cerebral venous thrombosis with thrombocytopenia after vaccination, 47% of whom died or were dependent on others for personal care at the end of hospital admission (Perry et al., 2021). A study pooling results from various case series and case reports of 64 TTS cases after the AstraZeneca vaccine concluded that the overall mortality of the condition was 35.9% (Hwang et al., 2021).
- 5.32. During February 2021, a total of 3 cases of TTS were reported to the MHRA among over 8 million people vaccinated with the AstraZeneca vaccine. These were discussed at a VBREWG meeting on 25 February 2021 and close monitoring of this issue was agreed, without further regulatory action. In March 2021, a number of European countries reported similar events, and some of them (e.g. Denmark) stopped using the AstraZeneca vaccine altogether. To our knowledge, this decision was taken by their health authorities (e.g. the Danish Health Authority), and not by national regulators or the EMA.
- 5.33. On 18 March 2021, after a review of further cases of TTS and CVST from national and international patients with VBREWG, the MHRA provided an update to the Licensing Minister and to JCVI. The latter decided that vaccination with the AstraZeneca vaccine should continue based on benefit-risk analyses. By this point, the MHRA had received 5 reports of TTS, 2 of them with a fatal outcome. Although causality could not be proven, the MHRA suggested it could also not be ruled out, and needed rapid investigation.
- 5.34. At a meeting on 27 March 2021, the CHM discussed potential mechanisms underlying the occurrence of TTS. Although they concluded that causality cannot be established, they advised that further research was needed, including on the background rates of TTS. At this time, the EMA had recently commissioned and funded an international study on this topic with the objective of estimating background (historical), post-Covid and post-vaccine rates of TTS (EMA, 2021a). This study reported an excess risk of CVST and thrombocytopenia following administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, but also a much higher excess risk of blood clots and CVST following Covid-19 infection in the unvaccinated (Burn et al., 2022). This had been previously shown in other UK-based studies, including a large self-controlled analysis by Hippisley-Cox et al (Hippisley-Cox et al., 2021), which found a 5-fold increased risk of thrombocytopaenia and a 13-fold increased risk of venous thrombosis, and also increased risks of CVST and ischaemic stroke after Covid-19.
- 5.35. On 1 April 2021, the MHRA informed the CHM of an increasing number of (retrospectively reported) cases of CVST with thrombocytopenia, totalling 62 confirmed, probable, or possible cases, 19 of them with a fatal outcome. Three days later, the MHRA updated CHM with an overall and age-stratified analysis of risk-benefit for the AstraZeneca vaccine. At this time, the CHM considered that the risk-benefit of this vaccine was less favourable in people younger than 40 years old (with exceptions), and recommended that this should be reflected in this vaccine's authorisation documentation.
- 5.36. On 6 April 2021, AstraZeneca provided VBREWG with an analysis of global cases. AstraZeneca concluded that there was no clear age cut-off for TTS but CVST-TTS was seen more frequently in younger people.

- 5.37. On the same day, in light of the analysis provided by AstraZeneca, the CHM reconsidered its conclusion that the regulation 174 authorisation should be amended, advising instead that the product and patient information should be updated in relation to TTS but without giving a specific age cut off.
- 5.38. After a review of cases from spontaneous reporting systems of Europe and the UK on 7 April 2021, the EMA's Pharmacovigilance Risk eAssessment Committee (PRAC) reported a possible link between the AstraZeneca vaccine and the occurrence of unusual blood clots with low blood platelets, also known as TTS (EMA, 2021g).
- 5.39. On the same day, the MHRA reported this same potential link, with an estimated overall risk of about 4 cases per million doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine (MHRA, 2021a). This was based on an analysis with an expert panel including haematologists and the adjudication of 79 case reports, classified as 9 confirmed, 14 probable and 56 possible cases. Nineteen of these had a fatal outcome. The MHRA then updated the information for healthcare professionals and the UK recipients about extremely rare blood clots. MHRA suggested that anyone who experienced cerebral or other major blood clots occurring with low levels of platelets after their first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine should not have their second dose. At that same time, the JCVI advised that alternative vaccines should be offered to individuals aged <30 years old without underlying health conditions (JCVI, 2021e). Later (on 7 May 2021 see below), this advice was extended to those aged 30–39 years without clinical vulnerability at higher risk of severe Covid-19 disease, in line with recommendations issued by many other European countries (JCVI, 2021c).</p>
- 5.40. On 15 April 2021, the MHRA took further regulatory action and added TTS to the AstraZeneca vaccine list of special warnings and precautions for use through regulation 174 and relevant information on related symptoms was added to the product information for vaccine recipients. The EMA took similar action at the EU level on that same date.
- 5.41. On 7 May 2021, the MHRA published an updated statement reporting on a total of 262 cases of suspected TTS following the AstraZeneca vaccine. The MHRA continued to monitor cases from then and into 2022, and convened an expert group to coordinate further research. Also on this date, the JCVI updated their guidance and recommended that an alternative vaccine be offered to those aged 30 to 39 years old.
- 5.42. In early May 2021, the EMA commissioned and funded international studies specifically to investigate the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of TTS (EMA, 2021a).
- 5.43. In January 2022, the MHRA updated the information for healthcare professionals and vaccine recipients to include a warning about CVST without thrombocytopenia. The last published 'Summary of Yellow Card reports' from November 2022 provides an estimate of incidence rate of 21.8 per million doses in people under 50 and 11.3 per million in those aged 50 or older.
- 5.44. Since Autumn 2021, the JCVI has not recommended the use of the AstraZeneca vaccine for booster vaccination. In May 2024 AstraZeneca withdrew the product from the UK and EU markets.
- 5.45. While some risk-benefit analyses were conducted, risk-benefit analysis of vaccination has been very challenging due to the rapidly evolving data, changing levels of SARS-CoV-2 transmission and severity, and variations in rates and complications of TTS and Covid-19

among different groups (Lau et al., 2021). For example, a risk-benefit analysis among people aged 18-59 years in Australia showed that the potential risks of TTS after the AstraZeneca vaccine may outweigh the benefits in younger adults, as they were at low risk of dying from Covid-19 (MacIntyre et al., 2021). Another study targeting people under 60 in Italy concluded that among subjects aged 20–29 years the benefit-risk ratio was not clearly favourable, while the benefits of vaccination (with AstraZeneca) largely exceeded the risks in older age groups (Palladino et al., 2021).

- 5.46. While the reported incidence rates vary greatly by vaccine type, age, sex, geographical distribution, and case definition, it has been shown that the incidence of TTS is higher after the first dose of certain Covid-19 vaccines than following subsequent doses, and the younger age groups are more often affected (Kerr et al., 2022).
- 5.47. However, the extent to which that risk increased for the AstraZeneca vaccine varies across different studies:
 - In one of the first large published studies, Pottegård et al (Pottegård et al., 2021) found increased rates of venous thromboembolic events (1.1 excess events per million vaccinations) among recipients of the AstraZeneca vaccine in Denmark and Norway, including cerebral venous thrombosis (0.25 excess events per million vaccinations).
 - Soon after, an analysis of health records including over 29 million people in England by Hippisley-Cox et al reported an increased risk of thrombosis and thrombocytopenia after AstraZeneca vaccination as well as after SARS-CoV-2 infection (Hippisley-Cox et al., 2021). They reported elevated risks of thrombocytopenia both after the AstraZeneca vaccine and more after SARS-CoV-2 infection. Additionally, they found 7 and 20 CVST cases per 10 million individuals after the AstraZeneca vaccine and SARS-CoV-2 infection, respectively. The study highlighted that the risks of these events were notably higher and more prolonged after SARS-CoV-2 infection compared to vaccination in the same population.
 - Similarly, Burn et al. conducted an analysis of UK primary care records, and found an excess risk of CVST equivalent to 3 cases per million people receiving the AstraZeneca vaccine (Burn et al., 2022a). However, this study also found a clear and stronger association with SARS-CoV-2 infection, with 9 excess cases of CVST expected per million Covid-19 cases.
 - More recently, Kerr et al. found an additional 0.25 CVST events per million people given the AstraZeneca vaccine (Kerr et al., 2022).
 - In a population-based cohort study of 46 million adults in England by Whiteley et al., compared with unvaccinated people, the excess risk of intracranial venous thrombosis (ICVT) was 0.9 to 3 per million AstraZeneca recipients, varying by age and sex (Whiteley et al., 2022).
 - Finally, a matched cohort study using databases from multiple European countries showed a 30% increased risk of thrombocytopenia after a first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine compared to a first dose of the Pfizer vaccine during the first 28 days after vaccination (Li et al., 2022b). In addition, when comparing the Janssen vaccine to the Pfizer vaccine, this study reported wide confidence intervals and a borderline (not

significant) increased risk of venous thromboembolism with thrombocytopenia, with an incidence rate ratio of 2.26 (95% confidence interval 0.93 to 5.52).

• To date and to my knowledge, we do not have clear evidence of differential TTS risk after adenovirus vector vaccines among pregnant women (Pischel et al., 2022).

Conclusion

- 5.48. Based on the evidence listed above, we have moderate-high quality evidence to suggest an association between vaccination with the AstraZeneca Covid-19 vaccine and an increased risk of CVST and TTS. Similar quality of evidence suggests an association between Covid-19 and an increased risk of CVST.
- 5.49. In summary, my opinion is that MHRA and other national bodies like JCVI took appropriate action related to the finding of an increased risk of thrombosis, CVST, and TTS after the AstraZeneca vaccine. Although this action was taken later than in other European countries, this could be due to differences in the use of the AstraZeneca vaccine in continental Europe, where it was initially recommended for younger people (age <40), who later were found to be at higher risk of these ADRs. More formal collaborations with European authorities could have enabled a closer interaction, leading to an earlier detection of these very rare ADRs. It is however also important to notice that very large UK-based studies reported during the period of interest found that Covid-19 itself could cause thrombosis, thrombocytopaenia and CVST, probably more than the AstraZeneca vaccine did. Therefore, there was a clear need for a fine benefit-risk balance in the decision making at a time when SARS-CoV-2 was circulating very rapidly in the UK.

Guillain-Barré Syndrome

- Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS) is a rare neurological condition leading to sensory loss or abnormality and muscle weakness, sometimes leading to life-threatening disease.
- GBS had been previously associated with (non-Covid) vaccines, and was identified as a potential adverse event of special interest to be monitored during the vaccination campaign.
- Multiple analyses and epidemiological studies have suggested an association between AstraZeneca and Janssen vaccines and the risk of GBS.
- The quality of the evidence known to us suggesting an association between the AstraZeneca vaccine and the risk of GBS is moderate-high.
- GBS can also be caused by Covid-19, presenting a challenge for benefit-risk assessments.
- In summary, it is my opinion that the UK regulatory action taken in relation to postvaccination GBS was appropriate, taking into account the risk-benefit balance of the available vaccines at the time.

- 5.50. Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS) is a rare condition where the immune system damages nerve cells, and typically presents with sensory abnormalities, muscle weakness and autonomic dysfunction (UKHSA, 2021b). The severity of GBS can range from mild transient weakness to complete and life-threatening paralysis that needs intensive care treatment and respiratory support.
- 5.51. Associations with other (non-Covid) vaccines and GBS have been inconsistently noted, including the shingles and seasonal influenza vaccinations. Additionally, one case of GBS was seen in the intervention arm of one of the AstraZeneca trials. All this led to the active monitoring of GBS as a potential side effect of Covid-19 vaccines as an 'adverse event of special interest'.
- 5.52. In early March 2021, MHRA consulted the VBREWG to discuss the data available from Yellow Card reports, where 24 cases of suspected GBS (1 fatal) had been observed following administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, and 8 (2 fatal) after administration of the Pfizer vaccine. This was in the context of almost 12 and 11 million doses of each vaccine respectively having been administered in the UK by that date. The VBREWG advised there was a potential safety signal for GBS particularly after AstraZeneca vaccine administration, and advised close monitoring of case reports.
- 5.53. As reported cases continued to increase, the MHRA sought advice from the VBREWG again in April and May 2021. According to the MHRA, up until 29 April 2021, there had been 194 reports of suspected GBS (6 fatal) observed in almost 24 million people vaccinated with AstraZeneca, although 5 of these cases did not meet the diagnostic criteria for GBS. A further 29 reports (3 fatal) had been reported following the administration of almost 12 million first doses of the Pfizer vaccine. According to the MHRA, 85% of the reviewed suspected cases did not meet the diagnostic criteria for GBS. Based on this, the VBREWG advised that a formal epidemiology study should be conducted to characterise a potential association between the AstraZeneca vaccine and the risk of GBS.
- 5.54. In late July 2021, the MHRA consulted the VBREWG again, as the number of spontaneous reports of GBS after Covid-19 vaccines had continued to increase. Until then, 391 reports (5 fatal) of suspected GBS had been recorded after administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, 40 (2 fatal) after the Pfizer vaccine, and 2 (none fatal) after the Moderna vaccine. At that time, almost 25 million, 20 million and 1.5 million first doses of each vaccine had been administered in the UK respectively. The VBREWG recommended updating the AstraZeneca vaccine product information to include GBS as an adverse reaction. The EMA's safety committee, PRAC, had taken similar action earlier that same month.
- 5.55. Further analyses and epidemiological studies performed by the MHRA, by AstraZeneca and by national and international researchers in the following weeks and months led to similar conclusions regarding an association between the AstraZeneca vaccine and the risk of GBS.
- 5.56. On 26 July 2021, the WHO Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety (GACVS) subcommittee recommended that the potential benefits of both the Janssen and AstraZeneca Covid-19 vaccines continued to outweigh any potential risk of GBS, particularly given the increase in the more transmissible Delta (B.1.617.2) variant (WHO, 2021d). On 20 August 2021, the MHRA updated the Product Information Leaflets and

Summary of Product Characteristics to include new warnings on Guillain-Barre Syndrome, which was later characterised as a "very rare" side effect (MHRA, 2023f).

- 5.57. Epidemiological studies have shown small absolute excess risks of GBS after the AstraZeneca and Janssen vaccines:
 - In an England-based study using data from over 32 million patients, an estimated 3.8 excess cases of Guillain–Barré syndrome per million people receiving the AstraZeneca vaccine were seen, compared to 14.5 excess cases per million people after a positive SARS-CoV-2 test (Patone et al., 2021).
 - In a UK-wide study with similar study design, researchers found a small increased risk of GBS after a first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine but not after the second dose, or after mRNA vaccines. This equated to 11 additional cases of GBS per million vaccinees (Walker et al., 2022).
 - In a third smaller study using data from the UK and Catalonia (Li et al., 2022a), no consistent association with vaccination was found, but a very clear increase in risk of GBS was seen after Covid-19 infection.
- 5.58. Post-vaccination GBS led to hospital admission in over 90% of the reported cases (Abara et al., 2023, Tamborska et al., 2022), intensive care was needed among about 10% of cases with some reports of cases leading to sequelae or life-threatening complications (Hanson et al., 2022).
- 5.59. Since GBS was very rare after vaccination, studies among specific demographic groups, including pregnant women and children, and on risk factors of developing GBS after vaccines, remain limited.
- 5.60. Risk-benefit analyses of developing GBS after vaccination in terms of averted hospitalisation and death are limited. However, multiple studies showed that rates of GBS were much higher after Covid-19 infection compared with the risk following vaccination (Li et al., 2022a, Patone et al., 2021):
 - In a binational study using data from the UK and Spain conducted by Li et al, the risk of GBS was more than three times higher than expected after Covid-19.
 - In a larger study using UK data, Patone et al found a much higher risk of GBS after Covid-19 than after vaccination with the AstraZeneca vaccine: they estimated almost 15 excess cases of GBS per million people with Covid-19, compared to just below 4 per million people receiving the AstraZeneca vaccine.

Conclusion

- 5.61. We have moderate-high quality evidence suggesting an association between vaccination with AstraZeneca vaccine and an increased risk of GBS. Similar quality evidence suggests an even stronger association between Covid-19 and an increased risk of GBS.
- 5.62. In summary, and based on the available evidence, it is my opinion that the UK regulatory action related to post-vaccination GBS was appropriate. This is due to the repeated observation in independent studies of post-Covid GBS, meaning that slowing or stopping vaccination could have led to a higher number of people with Covid-19 and hence a likely increased risk of those people developing post-Covid GBS.

- Bell's palsy is a rare weakness or lack of movement of one side of the face caused by a paralysis of the facial nerve.
- Although rarely serious or fatal, Bell's palsy may not always resolve completely.
- Bell's palsy was identified as a potential adverse drug reaction during clinical trials for the Covid-19 vaccines, and is a recognised rare side effect of the AstraZeneca, Janssen, Moderna and Pfizer vaccines.
- The quality of the evidence known to us suggesting an association between the use of AstraZeneca vaccine and the risk of Bell's palsy is moderate-high. To our knowledge, the evidence of an association with the other Covid-19 vaccines is of lower quality.
- Epidemiological studies are not conclusive on a causal association or on potential higher risk groups, but have shown an increased risk of Bell's palsy after Covid-19 infection.
- In summary, in my opinion the UK regulatory action was appropriate, given the rarity and relatively low-moderate severity of Bell's palsy, and the observation that it could also be caused by Covid-19 itself.
- 5.63. Bell's palsy is characterised by a weakness or lack of movement that usually affects one side of the face, related to a facial nerve paralysis.
- 5.64. A small imbalance in the number of cases of Bell's palsy was observed between vaccinated and control groups in trials for the Pfizer and Moderna vaccines (Polack et al. 2020; Baden et al. 2021). Similarly, clinical trials of the AstraZeneca vaccine conducted in the United States, Peru and Chile reported facial paralysis (or palsy) in five participants in the vaccine group, all events reported as non-serious. No cases of facial paralysis were reported in the placebo group.
- 5.65. Currently, "temporary one sided facial drooping" is listed as a rare side effect (may affect up to 1 in 1,000 people) for the Pfizer (MHRA, 2024) and Moderna vaccines (MHRA, 2023, b). Similarly, 'facial paralysis' is listed as a rare adverse drug reaction in the Summary of Product Characteristics (MHRA, 2023g) for the AstraZeneca and Janssen vaccines (MHRA, 2023f).
- 5.66. Evidence on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and Bell's palsy in real-world data and epidemiological analyses remains inconsistent. For example:
 - Patone et al found an increased risk of hospital admissions with Bell's palsy during the 15– 21 days following a first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine (Patone et al. 2021).
 - Walkers et al. found 17.9 cases of Bell's palsy per million vaccinees after the first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine using data from England, and no association with the Pfizer vaccine (Walker et al. 2022).

- In a smaller study using UK primary care records and Spanish linked data, Li et al found no association between mRNA or adenovirus-based Covid-19 vaccines and Bell's palsy (Li, Raventós, et al. 2022).
- An observed-to-expected analysis of data from Israel reported that compared to historical unvaccinated populations, a higher standardised incidence ratio was reported after the first dose of the Pfizer vaccine, with a 30-day risk of 6.24 cases per 100,000 people given a first dose (Shibli et al., 2021).
- A comprehensive systematic review synthesised the data from multiple observational studies, and found that incidence of Bell's palsy after one of the mRNA vaccines did not significantly differ from those who did not receive any vaccine (odds ratio of 0.70; 95% CI, 0.42-1.16), and no significant difference among first-dose recipients of the Pfizer vaccine compared with the AstraZeneca vaccine. However, the between-study heterogeneity was high in the first analysis and the results need to be interpreted with caution (Rafati et al., 2023) in other words, the studies were conflicting and further research could change the overall conclusion.
- 5.67. Similar to other serious adverse effects, various studies have shown that the risk of Bell's palsy is notably higher after having a SARS-CoV-2 infection, providing useful context on the risk-benefit of vaccination (Li et al., 2022a, Patone et al., 2021, Rafati et al., 2023).
- 5.68. Post-vaccination Bell's palsy rarely led to hospital admission, with very rare reports of cases leading to sequelae or life-threatening complications. According to an NHS publication of advice to patients with the condition (NHS, 2023), most people with Bell's palsy get better within 6 months. A review showed 69.2% of Bell's palsy cases after vaccination recovered by the end of follow-up, yet the follow-up time varies greatly across studies (Albakri et al., 2023).
- 5.69. The prognosis of Covid-19 vaccine related Bell's palsy remains unclear. The authors are unaware of any good quality longitudinal studies measuring how long it lasts, so this needs continued monitoring. Bell's palsy is very unlikely to be a fatal event.
- 5.70. Currently, there is insufficient information on whether Bell's palsy post vaccination is more common among particular demographic groups such as pregnant women. No published study focusing on risk-benefit analysis of Bell's palsy was found by the time of writing this report.

Conclusion

- 5.71. We have moderate-high quality evidence suggesting an association between vaccination with AstraZeneca vaccine and an increased risk of Bell's palsy. Similar quality of evidence suggests an association between Covid-19 and an increased risk of Bell's palsy.
- 5.72. In my opinion, the UK regulatory action related to Bell's palsy was appropriate, given the low frequency and low-moderate severity of this ADR compared to the benefits of the vaccine, including the reduction of severe Covid-19 outcomes.

Transverse myelitis

- Transverse myelitis (TM) is a serious, very rare disease caused by inflammation of specific parts of the spinal cord.
- TM had been associated with previous viral infections and vaccines, and was monitored as an adverse event of special interest during the roll out of the Covid-19 vaccines.
- TM has been recognised as an extremely rare event following the AstraZeneca and Janssen vaccines, with less than 1 event reported per each 100,000 doses administered. The quality of the evidence suggesting this association is low.
- Good quality epidemiological studies are scarce and causality difficult to interpret due to the rarity of this event.
- In summary, in my opinion the UK regulatory action was appropriate given the extreme rarity of this event, and the potential that Covid-19 itself might cause this condition.
- 5.73. Transverse myelitis (TM) is a rare acute neurological disorder where parts of the spinal cord are dysfunctional due to inflammation. The long-term effects of TM vary among people: about one third of people with TM have a full or near-full recovery; one-third have fair recovery with some retaining their symptoms; and the last third recover poorly and have significant physical disabilities (Johns Hopkins Medicine, n.d.). TM is known to be associated with several viruses, such as the herpes and influenza virus (MHRA, 2023a)
- 5.74. In the UK-based phase I trial of the AstraZeneca vaccine, 1 case of TM was reported, which led to a temporary halt in the study recruitment until further analyses were completed and the trial continued in September 2020 (Voysey et al. 2021). Given previous knowledge and these trial findings, TM was identified as an adverse event of special interest and monitored since the start of the vaccination programme.
- 5.75. In late February 2021, the MHRA consulted the VBREWG based on a total of 6 Yellow Card reports of suspected TM in association with the AstraZeneca vaccine. At that time, observed vs expected and rapid cycle analyses did not suggest a safety signal, and the VBREWG advised a review of reports but no further regulatory action. In mid May 2021, the VBREWG was consulted again, as 57 Yellow Card reports of suspected TM had been received following over 30 million doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine; and 18 reports following 20 million doses of the Pfizer vaccine (none with a fatal outcome). Observed vs expected analyses conducted by the MHRA showed a potential increased risk following the AstraZeneca vaccine, and for some age groups following the Pfizer vaccine, but rapid cycle analyses did not confirm this signal. The VBREWG concluded that monitoring was needed, but did not recommend regulatory action at the time.
- 5.76. On 29 October 2021, MHRA presented the latest data available to the VBREWG, including reports from clinical trials, published studies and Yellow Card report analyses. As of 12 October 2021, the MHRA had received 111 Yellow card reports of suspected TM following the administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, 27 after administration of the Pfizer vaccine, and one after administration of the Moderna vaccine, none with fatal outcome. A signal was noted also from observed-vs-expected analyses. The VBREWG advised the addition of TM

to the AstraZeneca vaccine product information, and that a second dose of this vaccine should not be offered to people who had TM after the first dose.

- 5.77. On 14 January 2022, EMA's safety committee PRAC concluded that a causal relationship between the AstraZeneca and Janssen vaccines and TM is at least a reasonable possibility, and recommended a change to the product information for these two vaccines to include a warning to raise awareness among healthcare professionals and people receiving the vaccines of very rare cases of TM following vaccination (EMA 2022).
- 5.78. In the 8 March 2023 release of the "Coronavirus vaccine summary of Yellow Card reporting", the MHRA suggested that an association between TM and the AstraZeneca vaccine is possible, whilst the risk of this adverse event with any of the Covid-19 vaccines used in the UK remained extremely rare (less than 1 report per 100,000 doses of each vaccine). It also reiterated that a further dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine should not be given to those who experienced symptoms of TM after a previous dose of this vaccine (MHRA. 2023i.
- 5.79. Evidence from epidemiological studies suggested that the incidence of TM after any Covid-19 vaccine is rare and an association remains unclear:
 - Using data from >17 million patients in England, Walkers et al stated that there was no clear evidence of an increased incidence of transverse myelitis following the first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine in the primary analysis. However, some sensitivity analyses suggested borderline significant evidence of increased risk within 28 days after vaccination (Walker et al. 2022).
 - In another study with data from the UK and Spain, Li et al. identified <5 events of TM in all vaccinated cohorts, and risk analyses could not be completed due to the small number of cases.
- 5.80. In a summary of case reports from the literature, 42% of 24 included TM cases achieved complete recovery, and one died of poor general condition at the age of 85 (Rinaldi et al., 2022). According to the UK Yellow Card report, as of 26 October 2022, there were no reports with fatal outcome following suspected transverse myelitis (MHRA, 2023a).

Conclusion

- 5.81. We have low quality evidence suggesting an association between vaccination with the AstraZeneca vaccine and an increased risk of TM.
- 5.82. Due to the rarity of transverse myelitis following vaccination, observational data on the incidence, association, risk factors and specific demographic groups remain very limited.
- 5.83. In summary, in my opinion the UK regulatory action was appropriate given the extreme rarity of this event, which prevented the generation of good quality evidence on causality. Additionally, it is likely that Covid-19 itself might also cause TM, making decision-making even more challenging.

Summary:

- Immune thrombocytopaenia (ITP) is a condition known to be associated with previous vaccines, including MMR, hepatitis and many others.
- The MHRA considered ITP an Adverse Event of Special Interest, and monitored its occurrence from very early on during the Covid-19 vaccination campaign.
- Although signals suggesting a risk of ITP emerged in April 2021, the difficulty of diagnosing ITP led to challenges in the classification of Yellow Card reports.
- In October 2021, the MHRA took regulatory action and added ITP to the product information of the AstraZeneca vaccine.
- Studies funded by international regulators (the EMA) have suggested a standardised incidence rate of about 14 events of ITP per 100,000 people per year following the first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine, and a similar rate after Covid-19. This compared to a rate of 8/100,000 in the general population in 2019.
- There is low-moderate quality evidence suggesting an association between the AstraZeneca vaccine and the risk of ITP.
- In summary, the UK regulatory action was appropriate and in line with that of other international regulators. However, decisions were made approximately one month later than, for example, the EMA.
- 5.84. Immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) is an autoimmune disease characterised by isolated thrombocytopenia. It is diagnosed in patients with a platelet count below 100,000 per cubic millimetre in whom other causes of thrombocytopenia have been ruled out. Cases of ITP have been reported following several other vaccines, including MMR, Haemophilus influenza, hepatitis B virus, human papillomavirus, diphtheria-tetanus-acellular pertussis, varicella-zoster, pneumococcus and polio (David and Shoenfeld, 2020). Therefore, ITP was identified as an Adverse Event of Special Interest, and the MHRA monitored it from the beginning of the vaccination campaign. Based on international large data, the annual incidence of ITP in the general population ranges from 2 to 56 cases per 100,000 people per year (Cooper and Ghanima, 2019, Lambert and Gernsheimer, 2017, Li et al., 2021c).
- 5.85. The MHRA discussed Yellow Card cases of suspected ITP with the VBREWG on 25 February 2021. At that time, the MHRA had received 5 reports of suspected ITP following administration of the Pfizer vaccine, none fatal; and 17 following administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, including one fatality among an estimated 8.4 million people vaccinated with this vaccine as of 21 February 2021. The VBREWG advised that judgments on causality could not be made and more data was deemed necessary.
- 5.86. Later, on 23 April 2021, further advice was provided by the VBREWG on ITP. Data up to 20 April 2021 contained 36 Yellow Card reports of suspected ITP (none fatal, 13 hospitalised) following administration of the Pfizer vaccine, and 121 of suspected ITP following administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, 8 with fatal outcomes. Epidemiological analyses of observed vs expected rates performed by MHRA at the time showed no signal for the Pfizer vaccine, but a signal for potential excess risk of ITP after the AstraZeneca vaccine

48

was noted. On 6 and 7 May 2021, the MHRA consulted the CHM on the risk of ITP associated with the administration of Covid-19 vaccines. The VBREWG and CHM recommended consultation with consultant haematologists to develop case definition criteria for ITP reports and for case adjudication.

- 5.87. On 29 October 2021, the MHRA sought advice from the VBREWG on an analysis of confirmed ITP reports. At the time, there were 76 confirmed Yellow Card reports of ITP following administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, including 2 fatalities; 40 following administration of the Pfizer vaccine; 2 following administration of the Moderna vaccine; and 12 following administration of the Janssen vaccine. Additional epidemiological analyses including survey data and published literature led to the conclusion that the available evidence warranted the addition of ITP to the product information of the AstraZeneca vaccine on 29 October 2021. The EMA PRAC Committee had reached a similar conclusion and imposed similar actions almost a month earlier, on 30 September 2021.
- 5.88. There is some published literature on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and ITP. Due to the rarity of ITP and the complexity of its diagnosis, there is a scarcity of epidemiological studies estimating the risk or relative risk of ITP. A Scottish case-control study of 2.53 million people receiving a first dose Covid-19 vaccination found a small increased risk of ITP with an estimated excess risk of 1.13 additional cases per 100,000 first doses of the AstraZeneca vaccine. The authors did not observe an increase in risk of ITP after the Pfizer vaccine (Simpson et al., 2021). A case-series study using the US Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS) reported the rate of thrombocytopenia was 0.80 per million doses for both mRNA vaccines. Although not able to separate ITP from all thrombocytopenia cases, the authors concluded that the number of post-vaccination ITP cases did not suggest a safety concern attributable to the mRNA vaccines at the time of analysis (4 February 2021) (Welsh et al., 2021).
- 5.89. A study funded by the EMA analysed UK primary care data and reported a standardised incidence rate of ITP of 7.9/100,000 person-years in historical general population data, compared to 14.1/100,000 person-years following vaccination with a first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine, and 13.4/100,000 person-years following Covid-19. This study performed an analysis of observed vs expected rates, and found a potential excess risk of ITP following the AstraZeneca vaccine (Burn et al., 2022).

Conclusion

- 5.90. We have low to moderate quality evidence suggesting an association between vaccination with the AstraZeneca vaccine and an increased risk of ITP.
- 5.91. In my opinion, based on the best evidence available, the UK regulatory action related to ITP was appropriate and similar to other countries, albeit somewhat slower than that taken by the EMA. This is an example where a formal collaboration with EMA and/or the ability to commission rapid epidemiological studies could have led to earlier and better data and action.

Summary:

- Capillary leak syndrome (CLS) is a very rare and potentially fatal condition where fluid leaks from small blood vessels, likely due to inflammatory reactions.
- Very low numbers of CLS cases have been reported following vaccination with the AstraZeneca vaccine: 5 suspected cases after over 40 million doses administered in the UK.
- A possible association with CLS flares has also been recognised following administration of the Moderna vaccine.
- To our knowledge, the quality of the evidence suggesting an association between the Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of CLS is low.
- It is likely that the association between Covid-19 vaccines AstraZeneca and Moderna and the risk of CLS is higher in people with previous CLS.
- Good quality studies are needed to further our understanding of the potential causality and mechanisms involved in this potential association.
- In summary, the UK regulatory action related to CLS was appropriate and similar to that proposed by other countries and regulators including the EMA.
- 5.92. Capillary leak syndrome (CLS) is a very rare and serious condition that causes fluid leakage from small blood vessels (capillaries), resulting in swelling mainly in the arms and legs, low blood pressure, thickening of the blood and low blood levels of albumin (an important blood protein). Very rare cases of CLS have been reported in the first few days after administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine. Some of the cases had a history of CLS, and fatal outcomes have been reported.
- 5.93. In April 2021, the MHRA discussed with the VBREWG that the EMA's PRAC committee was reviewing a possible association between the AstraZeneca vaccine and a potential risk of CLS. At that time, the MHRA had received 3 reports of possible CLS among more than 20 million people vaccinated with the AstraZeneca vaccine. As of 7 May 2021, the MHRA had received seven reports of suspected CLS (no fatality), all following administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, and none following administration of the Pfizer or Moderna vaccines. Two of the seven cases had a history of CLS prior to vaccination, making causality assessments difficult. A week later, the MHRA consulted the VBREWG with information from Yellow Card reports and from international studies. No causality could be established, and no action was taken at that time.
- 5.94. Less than a month later (in early June 2021), the issue was discussed again with the VBREWG, as the EMA's PRAC had made a recommendation to include warnings in the product information for AstraZeneca regarding recurrent CLS as a risk associated with the vaccine in people with a previous history of the condition. At this time, the MHRA had received 3 further reports of suspected CLS after administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine. An adjudication of cases concluded that 5 (out of 10) of the cases could be classified as suspected CLS, of which 2 had a prior history of CLS. None of these had a fatal outcome. This was in a context where more than 40 million doses of the AstraZeneca

50

vaccine had been administered. However, the VBREWG advised the addition of a precautionary statement in the product information for this vaccine.

- 5.95. On 11 June 2021, the EMA's safety committee recommended that the product information for the AstraZeneca vaccine should be updated in respect of CLS (EMA, 2021h). Three days later (on 14 June 2021), the MHRA discussed this recommendation with the VBREWG, who advised that similar updates should be made to the UK AstraZeneca product information, including a contraindication in people with a history of CLS. On 16 June 2021, the MHRA submitted this advice to the Licensing Minister, who accepted the addition of this contraindication. Subsequently, the EMA also advised that people with a history of CLS should not receive the other adenovirus-based Covid-19 vaccine produced by Janssen (EMA, 2021d). Similarly, a contraindication for people with previous CLS was included in the UK equivalent (SmPC) for the Janssen vaccine (MHRA, 2023f).
- 5.96. Case reports of CLS after mRNA vaccines have also been reported (Inoue et al., 2022). According to the MHRA, 3 reports of 'probable' CLS had been recorded in the UK following vaccination with the Moderna vaccine by March 2022, and none after the Pfizer vaccine. The EMA's PRAC had recently concluded that a warning regarding recurrence of CLS should be added to the Moderna vaccine product information. The VBREWG advised similarly for the UK vaccine product information, which was updated on 15 June 2022.
- 5.97. To our knowledge, epidemiological studies on the incidence and/or risk of CLS after Covid-19 vaccination are very scarce and of limited quality. We identified one cross-sectional study that examined the individual case safety reports in the pharmacovigilance database EudraVigilance. The authors found a lower CLS reporting probability after vaccination with mRNA vaccines compared to viral vector-based ones (Ruggiero et al., 2022).

Conclusion

- 5.98. We have low quality evidence suggesting an association between vaccination with the AstraZeneca vaccine and an increased risk of CLS.
- 5.99. In summary, in my opinion the UK regulatory action related to CLS was appropriate and similar to that proposed by other countries and regulators including the EMA. In this case, action was taken within days of a similar decision made by the EMA to impose a contraindication of the AstraZeneca vaccine for people with a previous history of CLS.

Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis (ADEM)

- Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis (ADEM) is an extremely rare but serious inflammation of specific parts of the central nervous system.
- ADEM has been previously associated with viral infections including Covid-19, and was monitored closely as an adverse event of special interest for the Covid-19 vaccines.
- Most international regulators did not take action regarding ADEM during the roll out of the Covid-19 vaccines. The MHRA added ADEM as an extremely rare event associated with the AstraZeneca vaccine in 2023.

- Epidemiological studies remain inconclusive in terms of causation. The quality of the evidence suggesting an association between the AstraZeneca vaccine and ADEM is low-moderate.
- In summary, the UK regulatory action related to the potential risk of ADEM was appropriate and more proactive than that taken by other international regulators.
- 5.100. Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis (ADEM) is a very rare but serious inflammatory demyelinating disorder of the central nervous system (Pohl et al., 2016). It predominantly affects children and young adults, and typically presents with an acute onset after a bacterial or viral infection, including SARS-CoV-2. Several studies, systematically compiled by Yumin Wang et al, have previously reported an increased incidence of ADEM after SARS-CoV-2 infection (Wang et al., 2021).
- 5.101. ADEM was identified as an adverse event of special interest and was monitored closely from the beginning of the Covid-19 vaccination campaign. AstraZeneca submitted monthly reports to the MHRA and other regulators for review. By the end of June 2021, the company had received 26 reports of ADEM following administration of the AstraZeneca vaccine, 9 of them from the UK. Observed-vs-expected analyses did not confirm a signal by that time and no regulatory action was taken.
- 5.102. In February 2022, the MHRA reviewed a new safety report submitted by the company, which contained updated analysis on reports of suspected ADEM which had been requested by the EMA. No regulatory action was taken (by the MHRA or the EMA) at the time, but close monitoring continued. The MHRA collaborated with UKHSA to conduct a self-controlled case series to investigate this further (see below).
- 5.103. In June 2022, the MHRA was informed that the Australian regulator was considering the addition of ADEM as an adverse drug reaction in relation with the AstraZeneca vaccine. In December 2022, the MHRA consulted international regulators in writing. According to the MHRA, six agencies responded (Australia, Canada, New Zealand, Singapore, Switzerland and the USA), and only Australia had taken action to list ADEM in the product information for the AstraZeneca vaccine.
- 5.104. Although epidemiological analyses continued to be inconclusive, MHRA and VBREWG took a precautionary approach and added ADEM as an extremely rare event in the 'Special warnings and precautions for use' of the AstraZeneca product information in November 2023.
- 5.105. Extremely rare cases of ADEM have been reported following both the AstraZeneca and Pfizer vaccines. However, a causal relationship has not been established in systematic reviews of the literature (Nabizadeh et al., 2023). For example, Li et.al compared the observed and expected incidence rates of immune mediated neurological events including encephalomyelitis using electronic health records data from the UK and Spain, and observed no safety signal between Covid-19 vaccines encephalomyelitis after first dose of the AstraZeneca or Pfizer vaccines (Li et al., 2022a). However, this study did not separate ADEM from overall encephalomyelitis. Conversely, a more recent large self-controlled analysis of data from the National Immunisation Management System (NIMS) and hospital discharge data from England did find an association when estimating the risk of ADEM 0 to

52

42 days after Covid-19 vaccination (Stowe et al., 2024). Stowe et al observed an increased risk of ADEM following the first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine was observed (relative incidence (RI) = 3.13, 95% Confidence Interval (CI) [1.56–6.25]) with a vaccine attributable risk of 0.39 per million doses. No association was found with any of the other vaccines used in the UK.

Conclusion

- 5.106. We have low-moderate quality evidence suggesting an association between vaccination with the AstraZeneca vaccine and an increased risk of ADEM.
- 5.107. In summary, it is my opinion that the UK regulatory action relating to ADEM risk was appropriate. In this particular case, the MHRA took more precautionary action than other (international) regulators.

Anaphylaxis

- Anaphylaxis is a rare and potentially fatal severe allergic reaction, typically observed within minutes of exposure to a specific food or medicine.
- Anaphylaxis cases were observed on the first day of Covid-19 vaccination following administration of the Pfizer vaccine.
- The evidence of an association between mRNA Covid-19 vaccines and a risk of anaphylaxis is, to our knowledge, of low quality.
- A number of changes were made to the vaccine information and vaccination campaign, including initial contraindications for those with previous allergies and the need to wait 15 minutes after the administration of the first dose for everyone receiving the Pfizer or Moderna vaccines.
- Most of these contraindications and warnings were removed in late 2021 during the Covid-19 vaccine booster campaign.
- In summary, the UK regulatory action related to post-vaccine anaphylaxis was appropriate, and changed over time as evidence emerged.
- 5.108. Anaphylaxis is a rare, severe, life-threatening allergic reaction with a rapid onset that involves multiple organ systems and can progress rapidly. Anaphylaxis can occur after vaccination, with onset typically within minutes to hours (McNeil and DeStefano, 2018). Therefore, it was pre-specified as an adverse event of special interest by many regulators and monitored from the beginning of the vaccination campaign.
- 5.109. Reports of anaphylaxis after the first dose of the Pfizer vaccine emerged on the first day of the vaccination campaign in the UK (8 December 2020). The next day (9th December 2020), a meeting of the VBREWG was held which was attended by experts in allergy and immunology. The VBREWG concluded that a causal association was likely. As a result, a warning was sent to the NHS and a press release issued by the MHRA to advise that vaccine recipients should be monitored for 15 minutes after vaccination. Additionally, VBREWG suggested that the Pfizer vaccine should be contraindicated for people with a

known allergy to polyethylene glycol (PEG), and that PEG content was made clearer in the Pfizer vaccine product information. Further, a contraindication should be considered for those with a previous food or vaccine allergy. These changes were implemented in the Pfizer vaccine product information promptly on 10 December 2020.

- 5.110. On 22 December 2020, the MHRA consulted the VBREWG and concluded that the contraindication for those with food allergies should be reconsidered so as to avoid their exclusion from vaccination. On 31 December 2020, the MHRA updated the information for the Pfizer vaccine, with the reference to previous allergies moving to the 'Warnings and precautions' section and being reworded as follows: 'Talk to your doctor, pharmacist or nurse before you are given the vaccine if you have: ever had a severe allergic reaction or breathing problems after any other vaccine injection or after you were given Covid-19 mRNA Vaccine BNT162b2 in the past". This was further reworded in January 2021 as follows:
 - "Do not have the vaccine: If you have ever had a severe allergic reaction to any of the active substances or any of the other ingredients listed in section 6."
 - "Tell your doctor, pharmacist or nurse before vaccination: if you have ever had a severe allergic reaction (anaphylaxis) after any other vaccine injection".
- 5.111. Despite a lack of a similar experience with the Moderna vaccine in the UK, in January 2021, the MHRA took the precaution of adding a similar warning to the product information for this vaccine as well. Later that month, on 29 January 2021, the MHRA sought the VBREWG's advice concerning a total of 14 reports of suspected anaphylaxis following the AstraZeneca vaccine (after 3 million doses had been administered). These were less severe than those seen with the Pfizer vaccine. On 23 February 2021, the information for the AstraZeneca vaccine was updated to add anaphylaxis as an ADR with frequency as yet unknown.
- 5.112. In late September 2021, and following the collection of data and discussions with NHS England on the impact on vaccination speed and consultation with the VBREWG, it was decided that the requirement for a 15-minute observation period could be removed for those receiving a second (or further) dose of an mRNA vaccine they had previously received. On 14 December 2021, motivated by the need to roll out booster vaccinations as the Omicron variant spread rapidly, the MHRA removed the 15-minute observation period for the Pfizer and Moderna vaccines for most people (except for those with a history of allergies to these vaccines) (see MHRA statement INQ000474337).
- 5.113. Analysis using spontaneous report system EudraVigilance for the European Economic Area (EEA) and from the VAERS for the US reported incidence of anaphylactic reaction was 8.96 (95% CI 8.80–9.11) per million doses, and 1.46 (95% CI 1.39–1.52) per million doses for anaphylactic shock (Boufidou et al., 2023). A prospective cohort study from the US showed that during the 3 days following the administration of an mRNA vaccine, 0.025% [95% CI, 0.014%-0.040%] out of over 50,000 adult participants developed anaphylaxis (Blumenthal et al., 2021).
- 5.114. Later analysis, focused on children and adolescents, reported that the overall mean anaphylaxis rate was 12.81 [95% confidence interval (CI): 11.49–14.12] per million mRNA vaccine doses among children below 18 years old using EudraVigilance data (Maltezou et al., 2023). Covid-19 vaccines are within the range of anaphylaxis rates reported across several common vaccines in these two passive reporting systems (Maltezou et al., 2022).

Conclusion

- 5.115. We have low-moderate quality evidence suggesting an association between vaccination with mRNA vaccines and an increased risk of anaphylaxis.
- 5.116. In summary, it is my opinion that, based on the existing evidence, the UK regulatory action related to post-vaccine anaphylaxis was appropriate, fast and more aggressive than that taken by other countries. The initial precautionary advice was modified as reassuring evidence emerged which enabled a faster rollout of vaccines during the emergence of the Omicron variant.

Adverse events raised by the Inquiry's Material Providers who have particular concerns about vaccine safety, including vaccine injured and bereaved groups

- Multiple case reports and patient/carer experiences describe possible adverse effects. Most of these are complex and rare, precluding or limiting our ability to establish any possible causal associations.
- We conducted a rapid review of the literature, and identified low-moderate quality studies on the following 14 conditions: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), Varicella-zoster-virus (VZV) reactivation / Shingles, Seizures, Shoulder Injury Related to Vaccine Administration (SIRVA), Tinnitus, Autoimmune connective tissue disease and alopecia, Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA), Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Fibromyalgia, Graves' disease, Depression, Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome (POTS), Optic Neuritis, and heart failure.
- The current evidence suggests that there is no association between Covid-19 vaccination and an increased risk of developing COPD.
- There is low-moderate quality and inconsistent data on an association between Covid-19 vaccines and VZV reactivation/shingles. Additionally, we found moderatehigh quality and more consistent evidence of a small increase of herpes zoster infection after vaccination with the Pfizer or Moderna vaccines. Further research would be needed to elucidate this potential association.
- There is moderate-quality and inconsistent evidence studying the association between Covid-19 vaccines and seizures.
- No quality evidence exists on the potential association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of Shoulder Injury Related to Vaccine Administration (SIRVA).
- There is moderate-high quality but inconsistent evidence studying the association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of tinnitus.
- We found a single study of moderate quality studying the association between Covid-19 vaccines and autoimmune connective tissue disease and alopecia. The study findings were inconsistent and therefore inconclusive.
- The identified studies on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the development of RA or RA flares is scarce, of moderate quality, and inconsistent.
- We found moderate quality but inconsistent evidence on the association between

Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of developing SLE. Additionally, we identified moderate quality and consistent evidence to suggest no association with SLE flares.

- We found only one study, of moderate quality, suggesting an association between vaccination with the Pfizer Covid-19 vaccine and the risk of fibromyalgia in elderly people. More research is needed to elucidate this potential association.
- We identified moderate-high quality evidence, suggesting that there is no association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of Graves' disease.
- We only found poor quality studies on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of depression. Good quality studies should be conducted to understand this.
- We found evidence of a possible association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of POTS. However, the overall risk is low, and much lower than that seen following Covid-19 infection in unvaccinated people.
- We identified moderate quality data and inconsistent studies on a potential association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of optic neuritis.
- The data identified on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and heart failure suggested a reduced risk among vaccinated compared to unvaccinated individuals.

Introduction

- 5.117. I, as lead author, have received and read the evidence submitted to the Inquiry by vaccine injured and bereaved groups. This includes multiple case reports and patient and carer experiences from people who suffered other suspected adverse effects of vaccination.
- 5.118. Many of these conditions are rare or have multiple contributing causes, which makes it challenging to investigate them and establish the requisite degree of causation so as to permit the conclusion they are directly related to the Covid-19 vaccines. A systematic literature review on their association with the Covid-19 vaccines or the conducting of epidemiological studies would be resource-intensive and is beyond the scope of this report. However, the co-authors and I have conducted a high-level literature review in order to identify those potential ADRs where there is some evidence to suggest the need for further research in the form of a formal systematic review of the literature and/or bespoke good quality epidemiological studies. In the following subsections, we summarise the methods used for our literature review, and then compile the knowledge we extracted from the published studies deemed of sufficient quality at the time of writing this report (November 2024). I make a recommendation at the end of this report to the effect that the MHRA should consider whether any of the ADRs raised by Material Providers warrant further examination by way of systematic reviews and/or epidemiological studies.

Methods for our rapid literature review

5.119. We started our literature review with a long list of conditions and health outcomes distilled from relevant witness statements. These were: Acquired Amegakaryocytic Thrombocytopenia, Acute kidney Injury, Acute onset Reactive Arthritis, Acute onset Autoimmune Hepatitis, Acute Necrotising Pancreatitis, Alopecia, Atrial fibrillation, Autonomic Nervous System Dysfunction, Brain haemorrhage, Bullous Pemphigoid, Cancer, Chronic Inflammatory Demyelinating Polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP), Chronic Mononeuritis Multiplex, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, Chronic Pain Syndrome, Connective Tissue Disorders, Depression, Dorsal Root Ganglionopathy, Dysautonomia, Dystonia, Erythromelalgia, Exacerbation of Hemicrania Continua, Essential tremor, Fibromyalgia, Gastroparesis, Giant Cell Arteritis, Graves Disease, Heart Failure, Hemiplegic Migraine, Hyperacusis, Hypothyroidism Myxedema, Hyper immune response to Covid 19 vaccination, Hypoaldosteronism, Hyperprolactinaemia, Inappropriate Sinus Tachycardia, Intercranial Hypertension, Lupus, Mast Cell Activation Syndrome (MCAS), Medical Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, Mastocytosis, Motor Neurone Disease, Migraines with Aura, Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome, Neurogenic Bladder, Nodular Paniculitis, Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma, Nystagmus, Optic Neuritis, Pericardial Effusion, Peripheral Neuropathy, Pernicious Anaemia, Polymyositis, Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome (POTS), Post Traumatic Stress, Post-Vaccination Syndrome, Pneumonitis, Progressive Bulbar Palsy, Psychosis, Pulmonary Sarcoidosis, Pudendal Neuralgia, Rapid Onset Glioblastoma, Reactivated Epstein Barr Virus, Reactivated Lyme Disease, Reactivated Shingles, Rheumatoid Arthritis, Secondary Hypogonadism, Scleroderma, Seizures, Sjogren's Syndrome, Shoulder Injury Related to Vaccine Administration (SIRVA), Small Fibre Neuropathy, Stevens-Johnson Syndrome, T-Cell Lymphoma, Thyrotoxicosis, Tinnitus, Trigeminal Neuralgia, Uveitis, Vaccine-induced Raynaud's Syndrome, Ventricular Tachycardia, Vasculitis, and Vestibulopathy.

- 5.120. For each of these, we conducted a query in the largest repository of medical research, the PubMed library. The literature search focussed on at least moderate quality studies on the association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of developing each of the events listed above. We restricted the search to large spontaneous report database analyses (e.g. US VAERS), case-control, self-controlled-case series and cohort studies, considered in this report as at least moderate quality evidence on vaccine safety. We also limited our search to studies mentioning each of the potential ADRs in the study title or abstract. We did not limit our search by language or date of publication. With all this in mind, the five co-authors of this report worked using a consistent and reproducible search query and a structured form for the extraction of findings. These, together with the list of identified manuscripts, are available as an Appendix (INQ000474569) alongside this report.
- 5.121. The following subsections summarise the findings obtained for the potential ADRs where we found at least moderate quality studies on the association with Covid-19 vaccines, regardless of their results. The potential ADRs to which this applied were the following 14: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD), Varicella-zoster-virus (VZV) reactivation / Shingles, Seizures, Shoulder Injury Related to Vaccine Administration (SIRVA), Tinnitus, Autoimmune connective tissue disease and alopecia, Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA), Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, Fibromyalgia, Graves' disease, Depression, Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome (POTS), Optic Neuritis, and heart failure. For all other events listed above, we did not find any moderate or high-quality evidence in the literature search we conducted. This does not mean that there is no association, it just means that we did not find published studies demonstrating such a link.

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)

5.122. We only found one study that would pass our inclusion criteria on the association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of developing COPD (Huh et al., 2024). This retrospective cohort study utilised a combined database of nationwide healthcare claims data, Covid-19 patient registry and vaccination records from South Korea. Individuals diagnosed with Covid-19 in the Omicron variant-dominant period of January-March 2022 were tracked for 30-120 days post-infection. The exposure of interest was the receipt of primary and third doses of a SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. Compared with unvaccinated individuals, vaccination with at least two doses was associated with a 25% reduced risk of COPD.

5.123. Although the evidence is limited and only of moderate quality, the current evidence suggests that there is no association between Covid-19 vaccination and an increased risk of developing COPD.

Varicella-zoster-virus (VZV) reactivation / Shingles

- 5.124. Varicella-zoster virus is the virus that causes chickenpox. If it reactivates later on in life, it causes shingles, a painful blistering rash. Anecdotal cases of shingles after Covid-19 vaccination have been reported worldwide in case reports and case series analyses. Shafiee et al. conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis focusing on reactivation of human herpesviruses following administration of Covid-19 vaccines (Shafiee et al., 2023). Nine observational studies on shingles were compiled, showing that the rate of varicella-zoster virus (VZV) reactivation among those who received Covid-19 vaccine was 14 persons per 1,000 vaccinations (95% CI 2.97–32.80).
- 5.125. In terms of associations or causality, Birabaharan et al. analysed data from large health records databases and reported no difference in VZV reactivation during the 28 days after vaccination with mRNA vaccine compared to a propensity score matched contemporary control cohort (Birabaharan et al., 2021). Conversely, a similar study using similar data led by Hertel et al. analysed individuals given mRNA or adenovirus vector-based Covid-19 vaccines compared to unvaccinated people, and found an 80% excess risk of shingles/VZV reactivation during the 60-day period after vaccination (Hertel et al., 2022).
- 5.126. Increased risks of herpes zoster have also been reported in other observational studies. Barda et al. analysed observational data from Clalit Health Services from Israel with a target trial emulation design. The study found a 40% elevated risk of herpes zoster infection during the first 42 days after administration of the Pfizer vaccine compared with unvaccinated people, equivalent to an absolute increased risk of 16 events per 100,000 persons (Barda et al., 2021). A cohort study using electronic health records from the US including over 3 million people estimated the risk of herpes zoster within 90 days after receiving the second dose of mRNA vaccine/s. They found that compared to unvaccinated people, those vaccinated with the Moderna vaccine had a small (15%) excess risk of herpes zoster infection, and those vaccinated with the Pfizer vaccine had a 12% increased risk (Florea et al., 2023). Finally, Wan et al conducted a self-controlled case series analysis using data from Hong Kong, and identified an excess risk of approximately 7 cases of herpes zoster-related hospitalisations after every 1,000,000 doses of the Pfizer vaccine (Wan et al., 2022).
- 5.127. In summary, there is low-moderate quality and inconsistent data on an association between Covid-19 vaccines and VZV reactivation/shingles. We also found moderate-high quality and more consistent evidence of a small increase of herpes zoster infection after vaccination with the Pfizer or Moderna vaccines. Further research would be needed to elucidate this potential association.

Seizures

- 5.128. In a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials reporting seizure incidence with Covid-19 vaccines, Rafati et al. pooled six RCTs and found no statistically significant difference in the incidence of new-onset seizure between Covid-19 recipients and placebo group (odds ratio 2.70; 95% CI, 0.76-9.57) (Rafati et al., 2024.
- 5.129. Evidence from observational studies has been inconsistent. Frontera et al. analysed data from the US Vaccine Adverse Events Reporting System (VAERS), and compared the rates of post-vaccination neurological events, including seizures, to age-matched baseline incidence rates in the US and rates of neurological events following Covid-19 infection. This study reported an increased observed-to-expected ratio of seizures following the Janssen vaccine but not other vaccines. However, the rate of seizure after acute Covid-19 infection was much higher than after Covid-19 vaccination (Frontera et al., 2022). Another study using the VAERS data showed that incidence rates of seizures were 35-fold higher after Covid-19 vaccine compared to influenza vaccines. However, these two studies were limited by the nature of spontaneous report data, and could be biased due to the differential nature of Covid-19 and influenza vaccines (Avasarala, 2022). A Malaysia-based self-controlled case-series study reported a small increased risk of seizure-related hospitalisation during the 21 days after either dose of the Pfizer vaccine, with an incidence rate ratio of 1.26 (95% CI 1.07-1.48) (Ab Rahman et al., 2022). Conversely, another self-controlled case-series analysis using electronic health records data from Hong Kong has reported no increased risk of seizures in the first 28 days after the Pfizer vaccine (Wan et al., 2022).
- 5.130. Seizures after Covid-19 vaccination have been studied in specific populations. Using healthcare data from 3 commercial claims databases in the US, sequential testing methods were applied to detect safety signals after Covid-19 vaccination among US children aged 6 months to 17 years. The study found that seizure met the statistical threshold for a signal in respect of Pfizer (for ages 2-4 years) and Moderna (for ages 2-5 years) vaccinations. However, these results should be interpreted cautiously because the methods only screened for potential statistical signals, requiring further investigation in a robust epidemiologic study with confounding adjustment (Hu et al., 2024).
- 5.131. In summary, there is moderate-quality and inconsistent evidence studying the association between Covid-19 vaccines and seizures. More and better-quality research is needed if this potential association is to be studied.

Shoulder Injury Related to Vaccine Administration (SIRVA)

- 5.132. Maliwankul et al. reported a series of seven SIRVA cases following a Covid-19 vaccination in Thailand, and suggested that all the SIRVAs were from an incorrect injection technique and not actually the vaccination (Maliwankul et al., 2022). A prospective study in Turkey included 65 patients who were diagnosed with unilateral shoulder impingement and/or bursitis, and concluded that exacerbation of symptoms may occur if symptomatic shoulders are vaccinated (İğrek et al., 2023).
- 5.133. No quality evidence exists on the potential association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of SIRVA.

Tinnitus

- 5.134. Observational studies on the association between tinnitus and Covid-19 vaccines have been inconsistent. Using electronic health records data on >2.5 million people who received mRNA Covid-19 vaccine in the US, Dorney et al reported a lower risk of tinnitus after mRNA Covid-19 vaccine dose 1 than after influenza, Tdap (tetanus, diphtheria and pertussis) or pneumococcal vaccination (Dorney et al., 2023).
- 5.135. With general practice data from Australia, Shetty et al. conducted a self-controlled case series analysis to assess the relative incidence of audio-vestibular conditions after Covid-19 vaccination. They found an increased risk of tinnitus in the 42 days following the AstraZeneca (relative incidence: 2.25, 95 %CI 1.45, 3.50) and mRNA vaccines (relative incidence: 1.53, 95 %CI 1.25, 1.87) compared to baseline periods (Shetty et al, 2024). However, this study was limited by not being able to capture Covid-19 infection in the database.
- 5.136. A US-based study analysed data from both the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System and Vaccine Safety Datalink, and concluded that there was no evidence to support an increased risk of tinnitus following Covid-19 vaccination but cannot definitively exclude the possibility (Yih et al., 2024).
- 5.137. Tinnitus has also been documented in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2. A retrospective study included 272 children aged 5–11 years from Italy, and found that compared to children who received two doses of the Pfizer vaccine, those infected with SARS-CoV-2 had a higher frequency of tinnitus (Aldè et al., 2022).
- 5.138. In summary, there is moderate-high quality but inconsistent evidence studying the association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of tinnitus. Therefore, further studies would be needed to assess the absolute and relative risk of tinnitus following Covid-19 vaccination and the association with Covid-19 infection are needed.

Autoimmune connective tissue disease and alopecia

- 5.139. Jung and colleagues (Jung et al. 2024) conducted a population-based cohort study involving 9 million individuals from Korea to evaluate the association between mRNA vaccination and the risk of autoimmune connective tissue diseases. They reported no increased risk of alopecia or most autoimmune connective tissue diseases following mRNA vaccination, except for systemic lupus erythematosus where they observed a 16% increased risk. However, a booster vaccination was associated with a 12% increased risk of alopecia areata, 16% increased risk of psoriasis and a 14% increased risk of rheumatoid arthritis.
- 5.140. Overall, we found only one single study of moderate quality on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and autoimmune connective tissue disease and alopecia. The study findings were inconsistent, and further research would be needed in order to assess the potential association with autoimmune connective tissue diseases and alopecia.

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA)

5.141. The largest cohort study on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of developing RA is the Korean analysis of 9 million participants mentioned above (Jung et al., 2024). This analysis found no association with primo-vaccination, but a small (14%)

60

increased risk of RA after booster vaccination. Conversely, a large good quality cohort study (Peng et al., 2023) showed inconsistent results, with a 30% increased risk of RA development after Covid-19 infection in unvaccinated people, but no increased risk of RA after vaccination.

- 5.142. Additionally, 4 different cohort studies have reported on the risk of flare/s after vaccination in people with pre-existing RA. Three of them found no association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of flares (Cruz et al., 2024; Jung et al, 2024; Li et al., 2022d)), whilst one reported a potential increased risk after the AstraZeneca vaccine compared to the Pfizer vaccine (Rider et al., 2022).
- 5.143. In summary, the data on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the development or flares of RA is scarce, of moderate quality, and inconsistent. Further research would be needed to elucidate this potential association.

Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE)

- 5.144. Two large population-based cohort studies examined the association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of developing SLE. Whilst one found a small increased risk after vaccination with mRNA vaccines (Jung et al., 2024), the other one found an association between Covid-19 infection and the risk of SLE and anti-phospholipid syndrome, but an attenuation in this association following vaccination (Peng et al., 2024).
- 5.145. An additional two studies were found on the potential association between Covid-19 vaccination and acute flares of SLE, both of them showing no association (Mok et al., 2022; Yoshida et al., 2022).
- 5.146. In summary, we found moderate quality but inconsistent evidence on the association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of developing SLE, and moderate but consistent evidence to suggest no association with SLE flares. More research would be needed to clarify the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of SLE.

Fibromyalgia

- 5.147. We identified only one relevant study on the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of Fibromyalgia (Shani et al., 2024). This observational retrospective cohort study was based on electronic medical records of Clalit Health Services (CHS) members, the largest healthcare organisation in Israel. Vaccinated (N = 2,455,207) and Unvaccinated (N = 594,879) subjects were compared, and multivariate models were used to account for differences between them in terms of age, sex, population sector, socioeconomic status, residency, obesity, smoking, history of immune-mediated disease, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, cancer, depression and anxiety. The analysis suggested an almost 50% increased risk of fibromyalgia associated with vaccination with the Pfizer Covid-19 vaccine in people aged 65 years or older, and no association in younger people.
- 5.148. There is only one study, of moderate quality, suggesting an association between vaccination with the Pfizer Covid-19 vaccine and the risk of fibromyalgia in elderly people. More research would be needed to understand the potential causality of this association.

Graves' disease

- 5.149. We identified five studies on the association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of Graves' disease. In a small Israeli case-control study including just over 2,000 participants, no association was found (Gorshtein et al., 2024). Two self-controlled case series analyses were included, a small one from a single centre and a large one including over 2 million potential participants from Hong Kong. While the former found an association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of thyroid eye disease (not specifically Graves') (Muller et al., 2024), the latter did not find evidence of an association between the Pfizer vaccine and the risk of developing Graves' disease (Wong et al., 2022a). Finally, two cohort studies were analysed, none of them finding an association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of Graves' disease (Censi et al., 2023; Peng et al., 2023).
- 5.150. Overall, we found moderate-high quality evidence suggesting no association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of Graves' disease.

Depression

- 5.151. A population-based cohort study (Kim et al., 2024) using the Korean National Health Insurance Service (KNHIS) claims database assessed the potential association of psychiatric adverse events following Covid-19 vaccination. The study compared vaccinated and unvaccinated people, and reported a 70% higher risk of depression at three months after vaccination compared to the unvaccinated people. However, baseline characteristics showed substantial differences between groups, with vaccinated people being older and with more comorbidities. Imbalances between groups can lead to relevant bias and confounding, and it is unclear if the study adequately accounted for differences in baseline characteristics.
- 5.152. Given the study limitations and the scarcity of data on this topic, the quality of the evidence is of low quality. Future well-conducted studies using state-of-the-art methods to adequately account for confounding would be needed to adequately assess the association between Covid-19 vaccines and the risk of depression.

Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome (POTS)

- 5.153. A large cohort study (284,592 individuals) found an increased risk of POTS within 90 days post-vaccination compared to pre-vaccination, but the risk was lower than that following SARS-CoV-2 infection (Kwan et al., 2022). Pooled incidence rates indicate 3.94 cases per 10,000 vaccinated individuals (95% CI: 0 to 16.39), compared to 107.75 cases per 10,000 post-infections (95% CI: 9.73 to 273.52) (Yong et al., 2023).
- 5.154. Despite the observed possible association, the overall risk is low, and much lower than that associated with Covid-19 infection, calling for a risk-benefit analysis. Further research would be needed (Rubin, 2023) to improve our understanding and to inform future vaccination campaigns.

Optic Neuritis

5.155. A total of 6 studies passed our inclusion criteria, including two self-controlled case series, an analysis of spontaneous reports and three cohort studies. The first self-controlled case series was a nation-wide analysis of Korean data which did not find an association between mRNA vaccines and the risk of optic neuritis (Hwang et al., 2024). The second was an analysis of England-based paediatric data (Copland et al, 2024), which found a small increased risk of demyelinating disease including optic neuritis in females following a second dose of the Pfizer vaccine. The risk was small, estimated at 4 cases per million people. This same study showed SARS-CoV-2 infection was associated with increased risks of hospitalisation from seven outcomes including multisystem inflammatory syndrome, with these risks largely absent in those vaccinated prior to infection, therefore calling for a risk-benefit balance.

- 5.156. Additionally, an analysis of US VAERS spontaneous reports data (Jaffry et al., 2023) found reporting rates within the incidence range of optic neuritis in the general population. Using a self-controlled analysis, the same data suggested an increased risk of optic neuritis after Covid-19 vaccination compared to the control/unexposed time period.
- 5.157. The remaining were three cohort studies. First, an analysis of US data found the risk of optic neuritis after mRNA Covid-19 vaccination was rare, lower than that seen after influenza vaccination and decreased compared with Covid-19 infection in unvaccinated people (Shukla et al., 2024). Second, a large cohort study of almost 8.5m patients found no association between Covid-19 vaccination and optic neuritis risk (Han et al., 2023). Finally, a Japanese matched cohort study of composite ocular adverse events found an increased risk for the composite outcome after the second dose, not specific for optic neuritis; however, a self-controlled case series analysis using the same data showed no increased risk (Hashimoto et al., 2023).
- 5.158. Overall, there is moderate quality data but inconsistent findings on a potential association between Covid-19 vaccination and the risk of optic neuritis. More research would be needed to further our understanding of this potential association.

Heart Failure

5.159. A recent nation-wide study (Xu et al., 2024) based on Swedish health registry data assessed post-vaccination risk of cardiovascular events, including heart failure. The study showed a significantly reduced risk of heart failure in the first 6 weeks after vaccination in people aged 41 years and older.

Menstrual disorders

- Temporary and minor changes to menstruation, in particular cycle length, were reported fairly commonly after Covid-19 vaccinations.
- Causality is not well established due to limitations in the available evidence, which we would classify as of moderate quality.
- Data on menstrual disorders is not typically well recorded in routine health records. To our knowledge, no good quality studies have found evidence of a long-term impact of Covid-19 vaccines on menstruation.
- International regulatory authorities including the MHRA did not restrict any vaccine due to this side effect, as based on the available evidence throughout the Inquiry's

relevant period, the risks were not deemed to outweigh the benefits.

- In summary, UK regulatory action was appropriate and similar to that taken by other international regulators.
- 5.160. Anecdotal reports of menstrual irregularities after receiving Covid-19 vaccines were received early on during the rollout of these vaccines. They took the form of spontaneous reports and were also often reported in social and traditional media following the launch of the Covid-19 vaccine programme (MHRA, 2023a).
- 5.161. Assessing the association between Covid-19 vaccines and menstrual disorders is particularly challenging because of difficulties in outcome ascertainment, with menstrual disorders not typically available or well recorded in routinely collected health data.
- 5.162. A number of observational studies have been conducted, and a systematic review of menstrual cycle changes after Covid-19 vaccinations included 14 studies with data from 78,138 vaccinated females. Of them, a striking 52% reported some form of a menstrual problem after vaccination (Nazir et al., 2022).
- 5.163. While most studies on Covid-19 vaccines and menstrual disorders were based on cross-sectional data, one cohort study used prospectively collected menstrual cycle data from a mobile phone application (Edelman et al., 2022). This study included 3,959 individuals from the United States and found vaccination to be associated with a small change in cycle length that was not considered to be clinically significant. In another prospective study, 79 individuals who had received a Covid-19 vaccine were seen to have a delay to the next period. However, this change was not sustained subsequently and causality was not well-established (Alvergne et al., 2022). At least one good quality study using population-based rich data from Norway supported the finding of an increased risk of menstrual disturbances after the first dose of the Pfizer vaccine (Caspersen et al., 2023). More recent studies have obtained contradictory conclusions (Blix et al., 2023).

Conclusion

- 5.164. The quality of the evidence suggesting an association between Covid-19 vaccines and (temporary) menstrual disorders is moderate.
- 5.165. During the Inquiry's relevant period, the MHRA kept the condition under review but took no regulatory action. This was a result of a lack of evidence of causality at this time; establishing causality was complicated by the fact that menstrual disorders can be caused by other factors such as stress and illness, and by the scarcity of relevant information for epidemiological research. In late 2022, the product information for the Pfizer and Moderna vaccines was updated to include heavy menstrual bleeding as an adverse effect.
- 5.166. In summary, and based on the available evidence, the UK regulatory action related to the association between Covid-19 vaccines and menstrual disorders was appropriate, and in line with that taken by international regulators. The temporary and self-limited nature of these ADRs meant they were unlikely to change the benefit/risk assessment of the vaccines during the deployment campaigns.

Mild adverse reactions

- Mild and temporary side effects were identified early on, during phase III trials for all approved Covid-19 vaccines. Therefore, the quality of the evidence on these mild adverse reactions is high.
- Causality for these is very well established as it is based on randomised controlled trial data and was later confirmed in multiple larger observational studies.
- Mild ADRs were common and similar for all relevant vaccines covered in this report, and included temporary injection-site reactions, fever, fatigue, and headache.
- 5.167. Mild side effects were identified before marketing authorisation and were observed in phase III trials. These included injection-site reactions, fever, fatigue and headache. All of these were further confirmed in much larger post-marketing studies, as outlined in this section.
- 5.168. According to a study where self-reported side effects were prospectively collected and self-reported by vaccinated subjects using a UK-based Covid-19 symptom study app, the most commonly reported systemic side-effects were fatigue (8.4% after the first-dose of the Pfizer vaccine and 21.1% after the first dose of the AstraZeneca vaccine) and headache (7.8% and 22.8% respectively). In the same study, the most frequently reported local effects were tenderness (57.2% after Pfizer first-dose; 49.3% after AstraZeneca first dose) and local pain (29.2%; 19.1% respectively) around the injection site. Menni et al also found that both systemic and local effects were more frequent among individuals with previous SARS-CoV-2 infection (Menni et al., 2022).
- 5.169. In a large study using data from US-based active surveillance through the smartphonebased system V-SAFE, the most common local effect was injection-site pain (66.2% of participants after the first dose, and 68.6% after dose two of either the Pfizer or Moderna vaccines). Fatigue was reported among 33.9% participants after dose one and 55.7% after dose two. A total of 27% of participants after dose one and 46.2% of participants after dose two reported headache. Rosenblum et al found these reactions were more frequently reported following the Moderna vaccine than following the Pfizer vaccine, and more frequently following dose two of either vaccine compared with dose one. Female participants and individuals younger than 65 years reported adverse events and reactions more frequently than male participants and those aged 65 years and older (Rosenblum et al., 2022).
- 5.170. Both studies (and many others) concluded that most of these common side effects were mild, appearing within 1–2 days following vaccination and resolving without treatment (or with symptomatic treatment) within a week. These studies were limited to self-reported data and may have selection bias, under-representing older and socioeconomically disadvantaged populations who may have less or worse access to electronic devices (Krantz and Phillips, 2022).
- 5.171. National data on spontaneous reports in the form of Yellow Card reports were recorded by the MHRA and shared in the public domain in the form of weekly updates. For all the original Covid-19 vaccines most reported side effects were injection-site reactions (sore

arm, for example) and generalised symptoms such as 'flu-like' illness, headache, chills, fatigue (tiredness), nausea (feeling sick), fever, dizziness, weakness, aching muscles, and rapid heartbeat. These data suggest the most common adverse reactions for all the Covid-19 vaccines were mild and self-limiting 'reactogenicity'-type events which happen shortly after vaccination and are not associated with more serious or lasting illness (MHRA, 2023a).

- 5.172. Similar information is available for less commonly used Covid-19 vaccines nationally during the relevant period. Based on the Summary of Product Characteristics, pooled analysis from clinical trials of the Janssen vaccine showed that the most common local adverse reaction reported was injection site pain (54.3%), and the most common systemic adverse reactions were fatigue (44.0%), and headache (43.0%) (MHRA, 2023f). According to the Summary of Product Characteristics for the Novavax vaccine, the pooled data from two phase III studies showed that the most frequent adverse reactions were injection site pain (62%), fatigue (53%), myalgia (51%) and headache (50%) (MHRA, 2023d).
- 5.173. There was no clear evidence of differences in these side effects among pregnant women compared to non-pregnant women (Sadarangani et al., 2022, Shimabukuro et al., 2021).

Prominent publicly reported side effects which were not confirmed upon investigation

5.174. The sources of information on suggested but unconfirmed side effects are multiple, from anecdotal cases documented in the form of spontaneous reports (e.g. Yellow Card submissions) to more complex and poorly documented sources, like social media, self-reported alleged reactions, etc. It is therefore impossible to produce an exhaustive list of suggested but unconfirmed side effects for this report. We have focussed on what, in our opinion, are the most widely reported and investigated suggested but unconfirmed reactions: excess deaths, adverse pregnancy outcomes, and fertility problems.

Adverse pregnancy outcomes

- Pregnant women were excluded from all the phase III Covid-19 vaccine trials. As a result, data on pregnancy outcomes was not available during the vaccine campaign.
- To our knowledge, more recent data has not shown an association between Covid-19 vaccines and adverse pregnancy outcomes.
- 5.175. Initial randomised controlled trials of Covid-19 vaccines excluded pregnant women and when the Covid-19 vaccine programme was launched in December 2020 pregnant women were advised by the JCVI not to have a vaccine until more information became available. Only in April 2021 did the JCVI announced that it would offer all pregnant women the Covid-19 vaccine in line with the vaccine rollout plan for the UK (Royal College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, no date). However, Covid-19 vaccine acceptance was particularly low among pregnant women, with safety concerns a commonly given reason for vaccine hesitancy (Golder et al., 2023, Skjefte et al., 2021).

- 5.176. Several studies have assessed the risk of adverse outcomes amongst pregnant women. One systematic review of studies assessing the safety of Covid-19 vaccines during pregnancy included 71 studies involving over 17 million pregnant women (Ciapponi et al., 2023). Meanwhile, another systematic review included 14 studies with over 350,000 pregnant women (Tormen et al., 2023). The studies identified were generally observational, and most women identified who had been vaccinated had received an mRNA vaccine. The studies that informed these systematic reviews were generally found (by the authors of the reviews) to have moderate or high risks of bias, particularly relating to confounding and selection of participants.
- 5.177. Studies have not found evidence of an increased risk of maternal complications following receipt of a Covid-19 vaccine. In a meta-analysis of eight observational studies that compared maternal complications during pregnancy in vaccinated versus unvaccinated women, there was no significant differences for composite pregnancy complications (Odds Ratio [OR] 0.99, 95% Confidence Interval [CI] 0.81 to 1.21), hypertensive disorders and pre-eclampsia (OR 1.11, 95% CI 0.86 to 1.42), placental abruption (OR 0.60, 95% CI 0.29 to 1.21), thromboembolism (OR 2.44, 95% CI 0.12 to 51.05), postpartum haemorrhage (OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.62 to 1.29), puerperal fever (OR 0.91, 95% CI 0.55 to 1.50) or maternal death (OR 2.19, 95% CI 0.09 to 53.82) (Tormen et al., 2023).
- 5.178. Similarly, studies have also not found evidence of an increased risk of foetal or neonatal complications. In a meta-analysis of nine observational studies that compared maternal complications during pregnancy in vaccinated versus unvaccinated women, there was no significant differences for pregnancy loss (OR 1.04, 95% CI 0.96 to 1.13), foetal abnormalities (OR 0.91, 95% CI 0.40 to 2.07), small for gestational age (OR 1.01, 95% CI 0.87 to 1.17), intrauterine growth restriction (OR 0.97, 95% CI 0.62 to 1.52), preterm birth (OR 0.82, 95% CI 0.64 to 1.06), stillbirth (OR 0.73, 95% CI 0.28 to 1.87), meconium-stained amniotic fluid (OR 0.78, 95% CI 0.58 to 1.05), neonatal ICU admission (OR 0.91, 95% CI 0.58 to 1.44) or hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy (OR 4.42, 95% CI 0.18–108.91).

Fertility problems

- Concerns over the possible impact of the Covid-19 vaccines on fertility arose early during the vaccination campaign, based on anecdotal experience and opinions.
- To our knowledge, no study to date has demonstrated an association between the Covid-19 vaccines and a risk of developing female or male fertility problems.
- 5.179. Concerns about the possible impact of Covid-19 vaccines on fertility arose during the initial vaccine rollout. These concerns were not driven by spontaneous reports, but appear to have been driven largely by anecdotal experience and opinions (Diaz et al., 2021b).
- 5.180. A systematic review of the impact of Covid-19 vaccines on the fertility of men and women of reproductive age included 29 studies (Zace et al., 2022). These studies were limited in terms of how representative their study populations were: over half the studies were of patients undergoing In Vitro Fertilization (IVF), and follow-up time ranged from a minimum of 7 days to a maximum of 9 months after vaccination.

5.181. In terms of female fertility, studies found no evidence of Covid-19 vaccines having a detrimental impact on trigger day estradiol and progesterone concentrations, serum and follicular fluid estradiol and progesterone, number of oocyte implantation rate, or pregnancy rate. Meanwhile in terms of male fertility, no evidence was found of Covid-19 vaccines having an adverse effect on sperm volume and concentration, motility or morphology. Overall, pregnancy rates did not differ among vaccinated and non-vaccinated groups (Zace et al., 2022).

Excess deaths

- Some reports have suggested that Covid-19 vaccines might have caused an excess in mortality after vaccine rollout started or after the pandemic.
- However, the best quality evidence available to us suggests that, in fact, the Covid-19 vaccines saved millions of lives that would have otherwise been lost due to Covid-19 and related complications.
- 5.182. Some reports have suggested that Covid-19 vaccines could have led to an excess in mortality after the rollout started or after the pandemic. One paper recently published in the BMJ Public Health (Mostert et al., 2024) was cited in some media outlets as suggesting that Covid-19 vaccines may have contributed to excess deaths, but it did not in fact analyse vaccination rates as a factor, and the BMJ Public Health issued an expression of concern about the article pending further investigation. The Expression of Concern (BMJ Public Health, 2024) stated:
- 5.183. "The integrity team and editors are investigating issues raised regarding the quality and messaging of this work. The Princess Máxima Centre, which is listed as the affiliation of three of the four authors, is also investigating the scientific quality of this study. The integrity team has contacted the institution regarding their investigation.
- 5.184. Readers should also be alerted to misreporting and misunderstanding of the work. It has been claimed that the work implies a direct causal link between Covid-19 vaccination and mortality. This study does not establish any such link. The researchers looked only at trends in excess mortality over time, not its causes. The research does not support the claim that vaccines are a major contributory factor to excess deaths since the start of the pandemic..."
- 5.185. While some of the serious ADRs reported above can lead to death, the Covid-19 vaccines also reduced Covid-19 and related severity and related health outcomes, as demonstrated by good quality data from clinical trials and large cohort studies outlined above. There is to our knowledge no good quality data suggesting that the Covid-19 vaccines have led to an increase in overall mortality at the population level. On the contrary, many good quality national and international studies have reported on a great number of lives saved by the Covid-vaccines: see estimates from academic research groups (Mesle et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2022). Updated estimates of the number of lives saved in the UK alone by the Covid-19 vaccines has been recently published, adding to hundreds of thousands of deaths

averted during the period up to March 2023 (Mesle et al., 2024) (see paragraphs 4.36 to 4.39).

5.186. In summary, the evidence supporting an association between the Covid-19 vaccines and an excess mortality at the population level is of low quality, and has been in many cases misinterpreted.

6. Conclusions and recommendations for a future pandemic

- 6.1. Due to the quality and quantity of data available, and to the longstanding experience of the MHRA and UKHSA, the UK had timely information on the risk-benefit balance of the Covid-19 vaccines. Compared to other countries, the ability of UK-based researchers and stakeholders to link vaccine records to patient records allowed for the study of changes in the use and effects of the approved vaccines over time and across population subgroups. Specifically, UK agencies reacted promptly to safety events, typically within days of other larger regulatory agencies such as the US FDA or the EU's EMA. This is detailed in previous sections of this report.
- 6.2. Regarding the monitoring of effectiveness, the MHRA and public health agencies like the UKHSA and Public Health Scotland generated very rapid data on the impact of Covid-19 variants on vaccine effectiveness, sometimes being the first in the world to generate such evidence. This was only possible due to the existence of world-leading virus genomic testing capacity linked to unique expertise and rich NHS data. These mechanisms should continue to exist, and national agencies should continue to be provided with the resources to obtain and deliver the necessary knowledge at speed and with enough quality.
- 6.3. Finally, the early vaccination rollout campaign resulted in hundreds of thousands of deaths being averted, making the UK the country with the highest number of lives saved during the pandemic due to Covid-19 vaccines in the whole WHO-Europe region. However, certain population groups had a lower uptake of vaccines, including groups at high risk of severe outcomes such as ethnic minority groups and pregnant women.
- 6.4. In summary, the UK national vaccine regulatory and public health systems reacted in a similar manner to those in other comparable nations when it came to the approval and post-marketing surveillance of vaccines. However, there are opportunities for improvement that should be established in preparation for the next pandemic.
- 6.5. Our key recommendations are:
- A. Ensure that regulatory rolling review is replicated in the face of a future pandemic. The MHRA should be resourced to conduct these, including staff as well as funding for education, training and knowledge sharing and acquisition.
- B. Create a system whereby regulators can access joined up, detailed and anonymised health records to track vaccine risks and benefits in real time during a pandemic. The resources required to achieve this include:
 - i. Staff with expertise in pharmacovigilance and in the analysis of spontaneous reports. The system should be flexible to recruit or increase the number of staff involved in this process in situations like a national vaccination campaign, when the number of spontaneous safety reports is expected to exceed usual business.
 - ii. Timely access to relevant data with information on complete vaccine exposure and linked patient records and outcomes. Multiple such data assets are available, but access to them is not homogeneous, with different data access or ethics committees involved, and different data formats. The MHRA should have access to a secure data

70

environment compliant with current regulations and recommendations holding as many relevant data assets as possible, harmonised to a common data standard and with linkage across databases where possible. This would be in line with recent recommendations in the Sudlow review 'Uniting the UK's Health Data: A Huge Opportunity for Society' (Sudlow, 2024). Given its regulatory role, the MHRA should have priority access to these data, and/or a rapid approval process.

- iii. An established and adequately funded system for the generation of regulatory evidence, similar to the US Sentinel or the EU DARWIN EU systems. Currently, and to the best of my knowledge, the MHRA lacks a national infrastructure ready and available to generate regulatory evidence in a timely fashion. Investment in such a system is necessary to speed and scale up the generation of knowledge on the use, safety and effectiveness of vaccines as well as other key medicines and potentially medical devices. Based on existing models in Europe, Asia, and North America, these systems can be successfully set up in collaboration with academic experts, and funded based on competitive calls/tenders open to national applicants.
- C. The MHRA should invest in and prioritise relationships and information sharing with other global regulators. Following the departure from the EU, furthering collaborations and partnerships with international regulators including the EMA, the US FDA and others would accelerate the MHRA's ability to identify very rare safety events that require very large numbers of data points.
- D. The MHRA should generate or have mechanisms to commission and fund specific studies needed to prepare the nation for the study of post-marketing vaccine safety. The list of necessary studies should be completed by experts in regulatory science, but would likely include analyses of background incidence rates of all potential adverse events of special interest related to a new vaccine before it is launched. Ideally, these should be conducted using linked primary care and hospital data, and stratified by relevant socio-demographics, including age, sex, ethnicity, region and subgroups of particular interest, like pregnant women and people with disabilities.
- E. The MHRA to consider whether any of the ADRs raised by Material Providers warrant further examination by way of systematic reviews and epidemiological studies. In particular, those potential ADRs in respect of which we identified that there was at least some evidence of a possible association, namely: VZV (infection and reactivation), seizures, tinnitus, autoimmune connective tissue disorders and alopecia, RA (development and flares), SLE, fibromyalgia, depression, POTS and optic neuritis.
- F. The MHRA should have timely access to all relevant data necessary to monitor vaccine effectiveness. This should include variant surveillance data, similar to that available to the UK's public health agencies during the pandemic. Ideally, this data should be available to the MHRA as part of the set-up described in 2b above. This is necessary for the continuous analysis of benefit/risk, and would facilitate analyses of specific regulatory interest, e.g. on subgroups affected by specific safety concerns that could affect the benefit/risk balance.
- G. An expert group with knowledge of clinical trials, real world evidence, spontaneous reports analysis/pharmacovigilance, and pharmacoepidemiology should be formed and active in preparation for future national vaccination campaigns. This group should interact with and coordinate all stakeholders involved in the monitoring of vaccine risk-benefits, including the MHRA, public health agencies across the four nations of the UK, the JCVI, NHS

71

and academic experts. While a number of such groups exist, and VBREWG took a similar role during the pandemic, a joint group including all these bodies and interests would catalyse the integration of timely evidence on vaccine risks and benefits at both the authorisation and post-authorisation stage.

- H. Greater requirement / drive to achieve diversity in vaccine clinical trials. Depending on epidemiology and severity data, those at highest risk of severe disease should be prioritised for pre-authorisation trials. Specific subgroups considered at high risk of severe disease like pregnant women should not be systematically excluded from phase III trials.
- I. Greater obligations on pharmaceutical companies to conduct early post-authorisation safety studies, with a particular focus on the risk-benefit of vaccines among groups under-represented in or excluded from phase III trials. This work should be done as early as possible after marketing approval. Ethnic minorities, elderly people with frailty or multiple comorbidities, pregnant women and people with disabilities should be among the groups prioritised in these studies.
- J. An expert communications team should be set up to inform the public on the existing mechanisms for the reporting of adverse reactions (i.e. Yellow Card) and to train and support healthcare professionals for the communication of vaccine risks in the context of vaccine benefits. This team should work closely and have access to the expert group described in Recommendation G, and make the best efforts to tailor messaging to successfully reach minority groups across the country.
- K. Additional efforts should be made to vaccinate subgroups at highest risk of severe outcomes. These efforts should be supported by bespoke evidence generation efforts (see recommendations H and I) and by dedicated communication campaigns, among other measures.
7. References

Ab Rahman, N. et al. (2022) 'Risk of serious adverse events after the BNT162b2, CoronaVac, and ChAdOx1 vaccines in Malaysia: A self-controlled case series study', Vaccine, 40(32), pp. 4394–4402. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.05.075.

Abara, W.E. et al. (2023) 'Reports of Guillain-Barre Syndrome After COVID-19 Vaccination in the United States', JAMA Netw Open, 6(2), p. e2253845. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.53845.

Abu Mouch, S. et al. (2021) 'Myocarditis following COVID-19 mRNA vaccination', Vaccine, 39(29), pp. 3790–3793. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.05.087.

Ahmad, H.R., Timmermans, V.M. and Dakakni, T. (2022) 'Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis After SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination', Am J Case Rep, 23, p. e936574. Available at: https://doi.org/10.12659/AJCR.936574.

Al Kaabi, N. et al. (2021) 'Effect of 2 Inactivated SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines on Symptomatic COVID-19 Infection in Adults: A Randomized Clinical Trial', JAMA, 326(1), pp. 35–45. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.8565.

Al-Aly, Z., Bowe, B. and Xie, Y. (2022) 'Long COVID after breakthrough SARS-CoV-2 infection', Nat Med, 28(7), pp. 1461–1467. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01840-0.

Albakri, K. et al. (2023) 'Bell's Palsy and COVID-19 Vaccines: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', Vaccines (Basel), 11(2). Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines11020236.

Alberti, P. et al. (2020) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome related to COVID-19 infection', Neurol. Neuroimmunol. Neuroinflamm., 7(4), p. e741. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI.00000000000741.

Aldè, M. et al. (2022) 'Audiological and vestibular symptoms following SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19 vaccination in children aged 5–11 years', American Journal of Otolaryngology, 44(1), p. 103669. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjoto.2022.103669.

Allen, C.M. et al. (2021) 'Guillain–Barré syndrome variant occurring after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination', Ann. Neurol. [Preprint], (ana.26144). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.26144.

Alomar, M. et al. (2020) 'Post marketing surveillance of suspected adverse drug reactions through spontaneous reporting: current status, challenges and the future', Ther. Adv. Drug Saf., 11, p. 2042098620938595. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/2042098620938595.

Alvergne, A., Woon, E.V. and Male, V. (2022) 'Effect of COVID-19 vaccination on the timing and flow of menstrual periods in two cohorts', Front Reprod Health, 4, p. 952976. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/frph.2022.952976.

Amit, S. et al. (2021) 'Early rate reductions of SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19 in BNT162b2 vaccine recipients', Lancet [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00448-7.

73

Andrews, Nick et al. (2022) 'Covid-19 vaccine effectiveness against the omicron (B.1.1.529) variant', N. Engl. J. Med., 386(16), pp. 1532–1546. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2119451.

Andrews, N. et al. (2022) 'Duration of Protection against Mild and Severe Disease by Covid-19 Vaccines', N Engl J Med, 386(4), pp. 340–350. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2115481.

Andrews, N.J. et al. (2022) 'Risk of venous thrombotic events and thrombocytopenia in sequential time periods after ChAdOx1 and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccines: A national cohort study in England', Lancet Reg Health Eur, 13(100260), p. 100260. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100260.

Antonelli, M. et al. (2022) 'Risk factors and disease profile of post-vaccination SARS-CoV-2 infection in UK users of the COVID Symptom Study app: a prospective, community-based, nested, case-control study', Lancet Infect Dis, 22(1), pp. 43–55. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00460-6.

Arya, D.P. et al. (2019) 'Surveillance for Guillain-Barré syndrome after 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 influenza vaccination of Medicare beneficiaries', Vaccine, 37(43), pp. 6543–6549. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.08.045.

Avasarala, J. et al. (2022) 'VAERS-reported new-onset seizures following use of COVID-19 vaccinations as compared to influenza vaccinations', British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 88(11), pp. 4784–4788. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.15415.

Azzolini, E. et al. (2022) 'Association between BNT162b2 vaccination and long COVID after infections not requiring hospitalization in health care workers', JAMA, 328(7), pp. 676–678. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.11691.

Baden, L.R. et al. (2021) 'Efficacy and Safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine', N Engl J Med, 384(5), pp. 403–416. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2035389.

Baena-Díez, J.M. et al. (2018) 'Association between chronic immune-mediated inflammatory diseases and cardiovascular risk', Heart, 104(2), pp. 119–126. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/heartjnl-2017-311279.

Bak, A. et al. (2021) 'SARS-CoV-2 routes of transmission and recommendations for preventing acquisition: joint British Infection Association (BIA), Healthcare Infection Society (HIS), Infection Prevention Society (IPS) and Royal College of Pathologists (RCPath) guidance', J Hosp Infect, 114, pp. 79–103. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2021.04.027.

Baker, M.A. et al. (2013) 'Post-licensure rapid immunization safety monitoring program (PRISM) data characterization', Vaccine, 31 Suppl 10, pp. K98-112. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.04.088.

Barda, N. et al. (2021) 'Safety of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine in a Nationwide Setting', The New England Journal of Medicine, p. NEJMoa2110475. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2110475.

Bardage, C. et al. (2011) 'Neurological and autoimmune disorders after vaccination against pandemic influenza A (H1N1) with a monovalent adjuvanted vaccine: population based cohort study in Stockholm, Sweden', BMJ, 343, p. d5956. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d5956.

Barnabas, R.V. and Wald, A. (2021) 'A public health COVID-19 vaccination strategy to maximize the health gains for every single vaccine dose', Ann. Intern. Med. [Preprint], (M20-8060). Available at: https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-8060.

Berkane, S. et al. (2021) 'Should We Delay the Second COVID-19 Vaccine Dose in Order to Optimize Rollout? A Mathematical Perspective', Int J Public Health, 66, p. 1604312. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/ijph.2021.1604312.

Bikdeli, B. et al. (2020) 'COVID-19 and thrombotic or thromboembolic disease: Implications for prevention, antithrombotic therapy, and follow-up: JACC state-of-the-art review', J. Am. Coll. Cardiol., 75(23), pp. 2950–2973. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2020.04.031.

Billah, M.A., Miah, M.M. and Khan, M.N. (2020) 'Reproductive number of coronavirus: A systematic review and meta-analysis based on global level evidence', PLoS One, 15(11), p. e0242128. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0242128.

Birabaharan, M., Kaelber, D.C. and Karris, M.Y. (2021) 'Risk of herpes zoster reactivation after messenger RNA COVID-19 vaccination: A cohort study', Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 87(3), p. 649. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2021.11.025.

Black, S. et al. (2009) 'Importance of background rates of disease in assessment of vaccine safety during mass immunisation with pandemic H1N1 influenza vaccines', Lancet, 374(9707), pp. 2115–2122. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(09)61877-8.

Black, S.B. et al. (2021) 'The critical role background rates of possible adverse events in the assessment of COVID-19 vaccine safety', Vaccine [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.03.016.

Blauenfeldt, R.A. et al. (2021) 'Thrombocytopenia with acute ischemic stroke and bleeding in a patient newly vaccinated with an adenoviral vector-based COVID-19 vaccine', J. Thromb. Haemost. [Preprint], (jth.15347). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.15347.

Blix, K. et al. (2023) 'Unexpected vaginal bleeding and COVID-19 vaccination in nonmenstruating women', Sci Adv, 9(38), p. eadg1391. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.adg1391.

Blumenthal, K.G. et al. (2021) 'Acute Allergic Reactions to mRNA COVID-19 Vaccines', JAMA, 325(15), pp. 1562–1565. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.3976.

BMJ Public Health (2024) Expression of concern: Excess mortality across countries in the western world since the COVID-19 pandemic: 'Our World in Data' estimates of January 2020 to December 2022, BMJ Public Health. Available at:

https://bmjpublichealth.bmj.com/content/2/1/e000282eoc (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

Bonifacio, G.B. et al. (2021) 'Bilateral facial weakness with paraesthesia variant of Guillain-Barré syndrome following Vaxzevria COVID-19 vaccine', J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry, p. jnnp-2021-327027. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2021-327027.

Botton, J. et al. (2022) 'Risk for myocardial infarction, stroke, and pulmonary embolism following COVID-19 vaccines in adults younger than 75 years in France', Ann. Intern. Med., 175(9), pp. 1250–1257. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7326/M22-0988.

Boufidou, F. et al. (2023) 'Anaphylactic Reactions to COVID-19 Vaccines: An Updated Assessment Based on Pharmacovigilance Data', Vaccines (Basel), 11(3). Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines11030613.

Bozkurt, B., Kamat, I. and Hotez, P.J. (2021) 'Myocarditis With COVID-19 mRNA Vaccines', Circulation, 144(6), pp. 471–484. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.121.056135.

Brannock, M.D. et al. (2023) 'Long COVID risk and pre-COVID vaccination in an EHR-based cohort study from the RECOVER program', Nat. Commun., 14(1), p. 2914. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-38388-7.

Bruxvoort, K.J. et al. (2021) 'Effectiveness of mRNA-1273 against delta, mu, and other emerging variants of SARS-CoV-2: test negative case-control study', BMJ, 375, p. e068848. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-068848.

Bryan, P. et al. (2018) 'Safety of multicomponent meningococcal group B vaccine (4CMenB) in routine infant immunisation in the UK: a prospective surveillance study', Lancet Child Adolesc. Health, 2(6), pp. 395–403. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30103-2.

Bucci, E. (2020) Note of concern - Open letter to DY Logunov et al, Cattivi Scienziati. Available at: https://cattiviscienziati.com/2020/09/07/note-of-concern/ (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

Bucci, E.M. et al. (2021) 'Data discrepancies and substandard reporting of interim data of Sputnik V phase 3 trial', Lancet, 397(10288), pp. 1881–1883. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00899-0.

Buchan, S.A. et al. (2022) 'Epidemiology of Myocarditis and Pericarditis Following mRNA Vaccination by Vaccine Product, Schedule, and Interdose Interval Among Adolescents and Adults in Ontario, Canada', JAMA Netw Open, 5(6), p. e2218505. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.18505.

Burn, E. et al. (2020) 'Deep phenotyping of 34,128 adult patients hospitalised with COVID-19 in an international network study', Nat. Commun., 11(1), p. 5009. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18849-z.

Burn, E. et al. (2021) 'The natural history of symptomatic COVID-19 during the first wave in Catalonia', Nat. Commun., 12(1), p. 777. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-21100y.

Burn, E., Li, X., Kostka, K., et al. (2022) 'Background rates of five thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndromes of special interest for COVID-19 vaccine safety surveillance: incidence between 2017 and 2019 and patient profiles from 38.6 million people in six European

countries', Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.5419.

Burn, E., Roel, E., et al. (2022) 'Thrombosis and thrombocytopenia after vaccination against and infection with SARS-CoV-2 in Catalonia, Spain', Nat. Commun., 13(1). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-34669-9.

Burn, E., Li, X., Delmestri, A., et al. (2022) 'Thrombosis and thrombocytopenia after vaccination against and infection with SARS-CoV-2 in the United Kingdom', Nat. Commun., 13(1). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-34668-w.

Burrows, A. et al. (2021) 'Sequential contralateral facial nerve palsies following COVID-19 vaccination first and second doses', BMJ Case Rep., 14(7), p. e243829. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2021-243829.

Butler, A.M. et al. (2023) 'Noninterventional studies in the COVID-19 era: methodological considerations for study design and analysis', J. Clin. Epidemiol., 153, pp. 91–101. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2022.11.011.

Byambasuren, O. et al. (2023) 'Effect of covid-19 vaccination on long covid: systematic review', BMJ Med, 2(1), p. e000385. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmed-2022-000385.

Cabezas, C. et al. (2021) 'Associations of BNT162b2 vaccination with SARS-CoV-2 infection and hospital admission and death with covid-19 in nursing homes and healthcare workers in Catalonia: prospective cohort study', BMJ, 374, p. n1868. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1868.

Cabezas, Carmen et al. (2021) 'Effects of BNT162b2 mRNA vaccination on COVID-19 disease, hospitalisation and mortality in nursing homes and healthcare workers: A prospective cohort study including 28,594 nursing home residents, 26,238 nursing home staff, and 61,951 healthcare workers in Catalonia', SSRN Electron. J. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3815682.

Casey, R.M. et al. (2019) 'Immunogenicity of Fractional-Dose Vaccine during a Yellow Fever Outbreak — Final Report', New England Journal of Medicine, 381(5), pp. 444–454. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1710430.

Caspersen, I.H. et al. (2023) 'Menstrual disturbances in 12- to 15-year-old girls after one dose of COVID-19 Comirnaty vaccine: Population-based cohort study in Norway', Vaccine, 41(2), pp. 614–620. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.11.068.

Catala, Marti et al. (2021) 'Risk diagrams based on primary care electronic medical records and linked real-time PCR data to monitor local COVID-19 outbreaks during the summer 2020: A prospective study including 7,671,862 people in Catalonia', Front. Public Health, 9. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.693956.

Català, M. et al. (2021) 'Robust estimation of diagnostic rate and real incidence of COVID-19 for European policymakers', PLoS One, 16(1), p. e0243701. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0243701.

Catala, M. et al. (2021) 'The impact of prioritisation and dosing intervals on the effects of COVID-19 vaccination in Europe: an agent-based cohort model', Sci Rep, 11(1), p. 18812. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-98216-0.

Catala, M., Burn, E., et al. (2024) 'Observational methods for COVID-19 vaccine effectiveness research: an empirical evaluation and target trial emulation', Int J Epidemiol, 53(1). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyad138.

Catala, M., Mercade-Besora, N., et al. (2024) 'The effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines to prevent long COVID symptoms: staggered cohort study of data from the UK, Spain, and Estonia', Lancet Respir Med, 12(3), pp. 225–236. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(23)00414-9.

Censi, S. et al. (2023) 'Hyperthyroidism incidence in a large population-based study in northeastern Italy', Endocrine Connections, 12(12), p. e230292. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1530/EC-23-0292.

Cerqueira-Silva, T. et al. (2022) 'Vaccine effectiveness of heterologous CoronaVac plus BNT162b2 in Brazil', Nat Med, 28(4), pp. 838–843. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01701-w.

Chui, C.S.L. et al. (2022) 'Thromboembolic events and hemorrhagic stroke after mRNA (BNT162b2) and inactivated (CoronaVac) covid-19 vaccination: A self-controlled case series study', EClinicalMedicine, 50(101504), p. 101504. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101504.

Ciapponi, A. et al. (2023) 'Safety of COVID-19 vaccines during pregnancy: A systematic review and meta-analysis', Vaccine, 41(25), pp. 3688–3700. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2023.03.038.

Cines, D.B. and Bussel, J.B. (2021) 'SARS-CoV-2 vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia', N. Engl. J. Med., 384(23), pp. 2254–2256. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMe2106315.

Colella, G., Orlandi, M. and Cirillo, N. (2021) 'Bell's palsy following COVID-19 vaccination', J. Neurol. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-021-10462-4.

Collard, D. et al. (2020) 'Cardiovascular risk factors are independently associated with COVID-19 mortality: a prospective cohort study', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.01.20205229.

Cooper, N. and Ghanima, W. (2019) 'Immune Thrombocytopenia', N Engl J Med, 381(10), pp. 945–955. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMcp1810479.

Copland, E. et al. (2024) 'Safety outcomes following COVID-19 vaccination and infection in 5.1 million children in England', Nature Communications, 15(1), p. 3822. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-47745-z.

Cruz, V.A. et al. (2024) 'Safety of CoronaVac and ChAdOx1 vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: data from the Brazilian multicentric study safer', Advances in Rheumatology, 64(1), p. 58. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s42358-024-00397-5.

Dagan, Noa et al. (2021) 'BNT162b2 mRNA covid-19 vaccine in a nationwide mass vaccination setting', N. Engl. J. Med., 384(15), pp. 1412–1423. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa2101765.

Dagan, N. et al. (2021) 'Effectiveness of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in pregnancy', Nat Med, 27(10), pp. 1693–1695. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01490-8.

David, P. and Shoenfeld, Y. (2020) 'ITP following vaccination', Int J Infect Dis, 99, pp. 243–244. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.07.085.

Davies, N.G., Klepac, P., et al. (2020) 'Age-dependent effects in the transmission and control of COVID-19 epidemics', Nat. Med., 26(8), pp. 1205–1211. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0962-9.

Davies, N.G., Barnard, R.C., et al. (2020) 'Estimated transmissibility and severity of novel SARS-CoV-2 Variant of Concern 202012/01 in England', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.24.20248822.

Deeks, S.L. et al. (2011) 'Estimating background rates of Guillain-Barré Syndrome in Ontario in order to respond to safety concerns during pandemic H1N1/09 immunization campaign', BMC Public Health, 11(1), p. 329. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-329.

Diaz, G.A. et al. (2021) 'Myocarditis and Pericarditis After Vaccination for COVID-19', JAMA, 326(12), pp. 1210–1212. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.13443.

Diaz, P. et al. (2021) 'COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy linked to increased internet search queries for side effects on fertility potential in the initial rollout phase following Emergency Use Authorization', Andrologia, 53(9), p. e14156. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/and.14156.

Dick, A., Rosenbloom, J.I., Gutman-Ido, E., et al. (2022) 'Safety of SARS-CoV-2 vaccination during pregnancy- obstetric outcomes from a large cohort study', BMC Pregnancy Childbirth, 22(1), p. 166. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-022-04505-5.

Dick, A., Rosenbloom, J.I., Karavani, G., et al. (2022) 'Safety of third SARS-CoV-2 vaccine (booster dose) during pregnancy', Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. MFM, 4(4), p. 100637. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2022.100637.

Dickerman, B.A., Gerlovin, H., et al. (2022) 'Comparative effectiveness of BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 vaccines in U.s. veterans', N. Engl. J. Med., 386(2), pp. 105–115. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2115463.

Dickerman, B.A., Madenci, A.L., et al. (2022) 'Comparative safety of BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 vaccines in a nationwide cohort of US veterans', JAMA Intern. Med., 182(7), pp. 739–746. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.2109.

Dickey, J.B. et al. (2021) 'A series of patients with myocarditis following SARS-CoV-2 vaccination with mRNA-1279 and BNT162b2', JACC Cardiovasc. Imaging [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmg.2021.06.003.

Docherty, A.B. et al. (2020) 'Features of 20 133 UK patients in hospital with covid-19 using the ISARIC WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol: prospective observational cohort study', BMJ, 369, p. m1985. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1985.

Dorney, I. et al. (2023) 'Prevalence of New-Onset Tinnitus after COVID-19 Vaccination with Comparison to Other Vaccinations', The Laryngoscope, 133(7), pp. 1722–1725. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.30395.

Duarte-Salles, T. et al. (2020) 'Baseline characteristics, management, and outcomes of 55,270 children and adolescents diagnosed with COVID-19 and 1,952,693 with influenza in France, Germany, Spain, South Korea and the United States: an international network cohort study', medRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.29.20222083.

Dunkle, L.M. et al. (2022) 'Efficacy and Safety of NVX-CoV2373 in Adults in the United States and Mexico', N Engl J Med, 386(6), pp. 531–543. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2116185.

Edelman, A. et al. (2022) 'Association Between Menstrual Cycle Length and Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Vaccination: A U.S. Cohort', Obstet Gynecol, 139(4), pp. 481–489. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.000000000004695.

Elkin, P.L. et al. (2023) 'COVID-19 vaccination and venous thromboembolism risk in older veterans', J. Clin. Transl. Sci., 7(1), p. e55. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/cts.2022.527.

EMA (2021a) ASSOCIATION BETWEEN THROMBOSIS WITH THROMBOCYTOPENIA SYNDROME (TTS) OR THROMBOEMBOLIC EVENTS, AND COVID-19 VACCINES. Available at: https://catalogues.ema.europa.eu/node/3075/administrative-details.

EMA (2021b) AstraZeneca's COVID-19 vaccine: EMA finds possible link to very rare cases of unusual blood clots with low blood platelets. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/astrazenecas-covid-19-vaccine-ema-finds-possible-link-very-rare-cases-unusual-blood-clots-low-blood-platelets (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

EMA (2021c) 'COVID-19 vaccines: update on ongoing evaluation of myocarditis and pericarditis'. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/covid-19-vaccines-update-ongoing-evaluation-myocarditis-pericarditis (Accessed: 8 December 2024)

EMA (2021d) EMA advises against use of COVID-19 Vaccine Janssen in people with history of capillary leak syndrome. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/ema-advises-against-use-covid-19-vaccine-janssen-people-history-capillary-leak-syndrome (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

EMA (2021e) EMA starts rolling review of the Sputnik V COVID-19 vaccine. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/ema-starts-rolling-review-sputnik-v-covid-19-vaccine (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

EMA (2021f) Natural history of coagulopathy and use of anti-thrombotic agents in COVID-19 patients and persons vaccinated against SARS-CoV-2. Available at: https://catalogues.ema.europa.eu/node/2935/administrative-details (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

EMA (2021g) 'Press briefing on the conclusion of the assessment of the Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment Committee (PRAC) of Vaxzevria (previously COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca) and thromboembolic events'. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/events/press-briefing-conclusion-assessment-pharmacovigilance-risk-assessment-committee-prac-vaxzevria-previously-covid-19-vaccine-astrazeneca-and-thromboembolic-events (Accessed 3 Dec 2024)

EMA (2021h) Vaxzevria: EMA advises against use in people with history of capillary leak syndrome. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/vaxzevria-ema-advises-against-use-people-history-capillary-leak-syndrome (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

EMA (2021i) 'Vaxzevria: further advice on blood clots and low blood platelets'.

EMA (2022) ICH guideline E8 (R1) on general considerations for clinical studies. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/ich-e-8-general-considerations-clinical-trials-step-5_en.pdf (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

EMA (2024a) COVID-19 medicines. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/humanregulatory-overview/public-health-threats/coronavirus-disease-covid-19/covid-19-medicines (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

EMA (2024b) Glossary of regulatory terms. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/about-us/glossaries/glossary-regulatory-terms (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

Embi, P.J. et al. (2021) 'Effectiveness of 2-Dose Vaccination with mRNA COVID-19 Vaccines Against COVID-19-Associated Hospitalizations Among Immunocompromised Adults - Nine States, January-September 2021', MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 70(44), pp. 1553–1559. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7044e3.

Eyre, D.W. et al. (2022) 'Effect of Covid-19 Vaccination on Transmission of Alpha and Delta Variants', N Engl J Med, 386(8), pp. 744–756. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2116597.

Faes, C. et al. (2020) 'Time between symptom onset, hospitalisation and recovery or death: Statistical analysis of Belgian COVID-19 patients', Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, 17(20), p. 7560. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17207560.

Fang, M.C. et al. (2023) 'Assessment of the risk of venous thromboembolism in nonhospitalized patients with COVID-19', JAMA Netw. Open, 6(3), p. e232338. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2023.2338.

Feikin, D.R. et al. (2022) 'Duration of effectiveness of vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19 disease: results of a systematic review and meta-regression', Lancet, 399(10328), pp. 924–944. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00152-0.

Fell, D.B. et al. (2022) 'Association of COVID-19 vaccination in pregnancy with adverse peripartum outcomes', JAMA, 327(15), pp. 1478–1487. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.4255.

Filosto, M. et al. (2021) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome and COVID-19: an observational multicentre study from two Italian hotspot regions', J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry, 92(7), pp. 751–756. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2020-324837.

Florea, A. et al. (2023) 'Risk of herpes zoster following mRNA COVID-19 vaccine administration', Expert Review of Vaccines, 22(1), pp. 643–649. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2023.2232451.

Fragiel, M. et al. (2021) 'Incidence, clinical, risk factors and outcomes of Guillain-Barré in Covid-19', Ann. Neurol., 89(3), pp. 598–603. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25987.

Frenck, R.W. et al. (2021) 'Safety, Immunogenicity, and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 Covid-19 Vaccine in Adolescents', N Engl J Med, 385(3), pp. 239–250. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2107456.

Frontera, J.A. et al. (2022) 'Neurological Events Reported after COVID-19 Vaccines: An Analysis of Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System', Annals of Neurology, 91(6), p. 756. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.26339.

Garcia-Gil, M. et al. (2014) 'Linking of primary care records to census data to study the association between socioeconomic status and cancer incidence in Southern Europe: a nation-wide ecological study', PLoS One, 9(10), p. e109706. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109706.

García-Gil, M.D.M. et al. (2011) 'Construction and validation of a scoring system for the selection of high-quality data in a Spanish population primary care database (SIDIAP)', Inform. Prim. Care, 19(3), pp. 135–145. Available at: https://doi.org/10.14236/jhi.v19i3.806.

García-Grimshaw, M. et al. (2021) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome is infrequent among recipients of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine', Clin. Immunol., 230(108818), p. 108818. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2021.108818.

Gellad, W.F. (2021) 'Myocarditis after vaccination against covid-19', BMJ, 375, p. n3090. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n3090.

de Gier, B. et al. (2021) 'Vaccine effectiveness against SARS-CoV-2 transmission and infections among household and other close contacts of confirmed cases, the Netherlands, February to May 2021', Euro Surveill, 26(31). Available at: https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021.26.31.2100640.

Glampson, B. et al. (2021) 'Assessing COVID-19 Vaccine Uptake and Effectiveness Through the North West London Vaccination Program: Retrospective Cohort Study', JMIR Public Health Surveill, 7(9), p. e30010. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2196/30010.

Goddard, K. et al. (2022) 'Risk of myocarditis and pericarditis following BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 COVID-19 vaccination', Vaccine, 40(35), pp. 5153–5159. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.07.007.

Goh, Y. et al. (2020) 'Pearls & Oy-sters: Facial nerve palsy in COVID-19 infection', Neurology, 95(8), pp. 364–367. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000009863.

Golder, S. et al. (2023) 'Social media and COVID-19 vaccination hesitancy during pregnancy: a mixed methods analysis', BJOG, 130(7), pp. 750–758. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.17481.

Gorshtein, A. et al. (2024) 'Graves' Disease Following COVID-19 Vaccination: A Populationbased, Matched Case-control Study', The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 109(2), pp. e508–e512. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgad582.

Granieri, E. et al. (2019) 'Incidence study of Guillain-Barré syndrome in the province of Ferrara, Northern Italy, between 2003 and 2017. A 40-year follow-up', Neurol. Sci., 40(3), pp. 603–609. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-018-3688-4.

Greinacher, A. et al. (2021) 'Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination', N. Engl. J. Med. [Preprint], (NEJMoa2104840). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2104840.

Grint, D.J. et al. (2020) 'Safety of inadvertent administration of live zoster vaccine to immunosuppressed individuals in a UK-based observational cohort analysis', BMJ Open, 10(1), p. e034886. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034886.

Gulliford, M.C. et al. (2020) 'Comparison of antibiotic prescribing records in two UK primary care electronic health record systems: cohort study using CPRD GOLD and CPRD Aurum databases', BMJ Open, 10(6), p. e038767. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-038767.

Gupta, S. et al. (2020) 'Factors associated with death in critically ill patients with Coronavirus disease 2019 in the US', JAMA Intern. Med., 180(11), pp. 1436–1447. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.3596.

Gurdasani, D. et al. (2021) 'Vaccinating adolescents against SARS-CoV-2 in England: a riskbenefit analysis', J R Soc Med, 114(11), pp. 513–524. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/01410768211052589.

Gutiérrez-Ortiz, C. et al. (2020) 'Miller Fisher syndrome and polyneuritis cranialis in COVID-19', Neurology, 95(5), pp. e601–e605. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000009619.

Hadi, Y.B. et al. (2021) 'COVID-19 vaccination is safe and effective in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: Analysis of a large multi-institutional research network in the United States', Gastroenterology, 161(4), pp. 1336-1339.e3. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2021.06.014.

Hagan, L.M. et al. (2021) 'Outbreak of SARS-CoV-2 B.1.617.2 (Delta) Variant Infections Among Incarcerated Persons in a Federal Prison - Texas, July-August 2021', MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 70(38), pp. 1349–1354. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7038e3.

Hall, V.J. et al. (2021) 'COVID-19 vaccine coverage in health-care workers in England and effectiveness of BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine against infection (SIREN): a prospective, multicentre, cohort study', Lancet, 397(10286), pp. 1725–1735. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00790-X.

Han, J.Y. et al. (2023) 'Neuro-Ophthalmic Adverse Events of COVID-19 Infection and Vaccines: A Nationwide Cohort Study', Investigative Opthalmology & Visual Science, 64(14), p. 37. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.64.14.37.

Hanson, K.E. et al. (2022) 'Incidence of Guillain-Barré syndrome after COVID-19 vaccination in the Vaccine Safety Datalink', JAMA Netw. Open, 5(4), p. e228879. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.8879.

Harris, R.J. et al. (2021) 'Effect of Vaccination on Household Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in England', N Engl J Med, 385(8), pp. 759–760. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2107717.

Hasan, T. et al. (2021) 'Case of Guillain-Barré syndrome following COVID-19 vaccine', BMJ Case Rep., 14(6), p. e243629. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2021-243629.

Hashimoto, Y. et al. (2023) 'Ocular Adverse Events after Coronavirus Disease 2019 mRNA Vaccination', Ophthalmology, 130(3), pp. 256–264. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2022.10.017.

Heath, P.T. et al. (2021) 'Safety and Efficacy of NVX-CoV2373 Covid-19 Vaccine', N Engl J Med, 385(13), pp. 1172–1183. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2107659.

Hense, S. et al. (2014) 'Estimation of background incidence rates of Guillain-Barré syndrome in Germany - a retrospective cohort study with electronic healthcare data', Neuroepidemiology, 43(3–4), pp. 244–252. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1159/000369344.

Hermosilla, E. et al. (2022) 'Comparative effectiveness and safety of homologous two-dose ChAdOx1 versus heterologous vaccination with ChAdOx1 and BNT162b2', Nat Commun, 13(1), p. 1639. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-29301-9.

Herrett, E. et al. (2015) 'Data resource profile: Clinical practice research datalink (CPRD)', Int. J. Epidemiol., 44(3), pp. 827–836. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyv098.

Hertel, M. et al. (2022) 'Real-world evidence from over one million COVID-19 vaccinations is consistent with reactivation of the varicella-zoster virus', Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology, 36(8), p. 1342. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.18184.

Hessami, A. et al. (2021) 'Cardiovascular diseases burden in COVID-19: Systematic review and meta-analysis', Am. J. Emerg. Med., 46, pp. 382–391. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2020.10.022.

Hill, E.M. and Keeling, M.J. (2021) 'Comparison between one and two dose SARS-CoV-2 vaccine prioritization for a fixed number of vaccine doses', Journal of The Royal Society Interface, 18(182), p. 20210214. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2021.0214.

Hippisley-Cox, J. et al. (2021) 'Risk of thrombocytopenia and thromboembolism after covid-19 vaccination and SARS-CoV-2 positive testing: self-controlled case series study', BMJ, 374, p. n1931. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1931.

Hoertel, N. et al. (2020) 'A stochastic agent-based model of the SARS-CoV-2 epidemic in France', Nat. Med., 26(9), pp. 1417–1421. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1001-6.

Houghton, D.E. et al. (2022) 'Risk of venous thromboembolism after COVID-19 vaccination', J. Thromb. Haemost., 20(7), pp. 1638–1644. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.15725.

Hu, M. et al. (2024) 'Safety of Ancestral Monovalent BNT162b2, mRNA-1273, and NVX-CoV2373 COVID-19 Vaccines in US Children Aged 6 Months to 17 Years', JAMA Network Open, 7(4), p. e248192. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2024.8192.

Huh, K. et al. (2024) 'Vaccination and the risk of post-acute sequelae after COVID-19 in the Omicron-predominant period', Clinical Microbiology and Infection, 30(5), pp. 666–673. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2024.01.028.

Hunter, P.R. and Brainard, J. (2021) 'Estimating the effectiveness of the Pfizer COVID-19 BNT162b2 vaccine after a single dose. A reanalysis of a study of "real-world" vaccination outcomes from Israel', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.02.01.21250957.

Husby, A. et al. (2021) 'SARS-CoV-2 vaccination and myocarditis or myopericarditis: population based cohort study', BMJ, 375, p. e068665. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-068665.

Hviid, A. et al. (2022) 'Association of AZD1222 and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccination with thromboembolic and thrombocytopenic events in frontline personnel : A retrospective cohort study', Ann. Intern. Med., 175(4), pp. 541–546. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7326/M21-2452.

Hwang, J. et al. (2021) 'Predictors of mortality in thrombotic thrombocytopenia after adenoviral COVID-19 vaccination: the FAPIC score', Eur Heart J, 42(39), pp. 4053–4063. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehab592.

Hwang, S. et al. (2024) 'COVID-19 Vaccination and Ocular Adverse Events: A Self-Controlled Case Series Study From the Entire South Korean Population', American Journal of Ophthalmology, 269, pp. 69–77. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajo.2024.08.015.

Iftikhar, H. et al. (2021) 'Bell's palsy after 24 hours of mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine', Cureus, 13(6), p. e15935. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.15935.

İğrek, S., Ulusoy, İ. and Çeliksöz, A.H. (2023) 'Does COVID-19 vaccine exacerbate rotator cuff symptoms? A prospective study', BMC musculoskeletal disorders, 24(1), p. 551. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-023-06660-y.

Imai, N. et al. (2023) 'Quantifying the effect of delaying the second COVID-19 vaccine dose in England: a mathematical modelling study', Lancet Public Health, 8(3), pp. e174–e183. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(22)00337-1.

Inoue, M. et al. (2022) 'Systemic capillary leak syndrome (SCLS) after receiving BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 (Pfizer-BioNTech) vaccine', BMJ Case Rep, 15(3). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2022-248927.

Introna, A. et al. (2021) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome after AstraZeneca COVID-19-vaccination: A causal or casual association?', Clin. Neurol. Neurosurg., 208(106887), p. 106887. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2021.106887.

Ip, S. et al. (2022) 'Risk of myocarditis and pericarditis following BNT162b2 and ChAdOx1 COVID-19 vaccinations', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.03.06.21267462.

Iskander, J.K., Miller, E.R. and Chen, R.T. (2004) 'The role of the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting system (VAERS) in monitoring vaccine safety', Pediatr. Ann., 33(9), pp. 599–606. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3928/0090-4481-20040901-11.

Jabagi, M.J. et al. (2022) 'Myocardial infarction, stroke, and pulmonary embolism after BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in people aged 75 years or older', JAMA, 327(1), pp. 80– 82. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.21699.

Jaffry, M. et al. (2023) 'Optic Neuritis After COVID-19 Vaccination: An Analysis of the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System', Journal of Neuro-Ophthalmology, 43(4), pp. 499–503. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1097/WNO.000000000001900.

JCVI (2021a) Annex B: comparison between 1 and 2 dose prioritisation for a fixed number of doses. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/60103229e90e071440e63dc3/annex-b-comparison-between-1-and-2-dose-prioritisation-for-a-fixed-number-of-doses.pdf.

JCVI (2021b) Independent report - Optimising the COVID-19 vaccination programme for maximum short-term impact. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prioritising-the-first-covid-19-vaccine-dose-jcvistatement/optimising-the-covid-19-vaccination-programme-for-maximum-short-term-impact (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

JCVI (2021c) Independent report Use of the AstraZeneca COVID-19 (AZD1222) vaccine: updated JCVI statement, 7 May 2021. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-the-astrazeneca-covid-19-vaccine-jcvistatement-7-may-2021/use-of-the-astrazeneca-covid-19-azd1222-vaccine-updated-jcvistatement-7-may-

2021#:~:text=JCVI%20advises%20that%2C%20in%20addition,and%20only%20where%20no%2 0substantial (Accessed: 8 December 2024).

JCVI (2021d) JCVI statement on COVID-19 vaccination of children and young people aged 12 to 17 years: 15 July 2021, GOV.UK. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-vaccination-of-children-and-young-people-aged-12-to-17-years-jcvi-statement/jvci-statement-on-covid-19-vaccination-of-children-and-young-people-aged-12-to-17-years-15-july-2021 (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

JCVI (2021e) JCVI statement on use of the AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine: 7 April 2021. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/use-of-the-astrazeneca-covid-19-vaccine-jcvi-statement/jcvi-statement-on-use-of-the-astrazeneca-covid-19-vaccine-7-april-2021 (Accessed 8 December 2024)

JCVI (2022) JCVI statement on vaccination of children aged 5 to 11 years old, GOV.UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/jcvi-update-on-advice-for-covid-19vaccination-of-children-aged-5-to-11/jcvi-statement-on-vaccination-of-children-aged-5-to-11years-old (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

Johns Hopkins Medicine (no date) 'Transverse Myelitis'. Available at: https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-and-diseases/transverse-

myelitis#:~:text=About%20one%2Dthird%20of%20people,and%20have%20significant%20physic al%20disabilities. (Accessed 8 December 2024)

Jouaville, S.L. et al. (2015) 'Validity and limitations of the longitudinal patient database France for use in pharmacoepidemiological and pharmacoeconomics studies', Value Health, 18(3), p. A18. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2015.03.115.

Jung, S.-W. et al. (2024) 'Long-term risk of autoimmune diseases after mRNA-based SARS-CoV2 vaccination in a Korean, nationwide, population-based cohort study', Nature Communications, 15(1), p. 6181. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-024-50656-8.

Kang, W. et al. (2022) 'Safety of two-dose COVID-19 vaccination (BNT162b2 and CoronaVac) in adults with cancer: a territory-wide cohort study', J. Hematol. Oncol., 15(1), p. 66. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-022-01265-9.

Karlstad, O. et al. (2022) 'SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination and Myocarditis in a Nordic Cohort Study of 23 Million Residents', JAMA Cardiol, 7(6), pp. 600–612. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2022.0583.

Katsoularis, I. et al. (2022) 'Risks of deep vein thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, and bleeding after covid-19: nationwide self-controlled cases series and matched cohort study', BMJ, 377, p. e069590. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-069590.

Keddie, S. et al. (2021) 'Epidemiological and cohort study finds no association between COVID-19 and Guillain-Barré syndrome', Brain, 144(2), pp. 682–693. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa433.

Keeling, M.J. et al. (2023) 'The impacts of SARS-CoV-2 vaccine dose separation and targeting on the COVID-19 epidemic in England', Nat Commun, 14(1), p. 740. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-35943-0.

Keh, R.Y.S. et al. (2023) 'COVID-19 vaccination and Guillain-Barré syndrome: analyses using the National Immunoglobulin Database', Brain, 146(2), pp. 739–748. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awac067.

Kerr, S. et al. (2022) 'First dose ChAdOx1 and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccinations and cerebral venous sinus thrombosis: A pooled self-controlled case series study of 11.6 million individuals in England, Scotland, and Wales', PLoS Med., 19(2), p. e1003927. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003927.

Kim, H.J. et al. (2024) 'Psychiatric adverse events following COVID-19 vaccination: a populationbased cohort study in Seoul, South Korea', Molecular Psychiatry, 29(11), pp. 3635–3643. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-024-02627-0.

Kim, H.W. et al. (2021) 'Patients With Acute Myocarditis Following mRNA COVID-19 Vaccination', JAMA Cardiol, 6(10), pp. 1196–1201. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2021.2828.

Kim, M.S. et al. (2022) 'Comparative safety of mRNA COVID-19 vaccines to influenza vaccines: A pharmacovigilance analysis using WHO international database', J Med Virol, 94(3), pp. 1085–1095. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.27424.

Klein, N.P. et al. (2021) 'Surveillance for adverse events after COVID-19 mRNA vaccination', JAMA, 326(14), pp. 1390–1399. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.15072.

Klok, F.A. et al. (2020) 'Incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19', Thromb. Res., 191, pp. 145–147. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.013.

Knight, R. et al. (2022) 'Association of COVID-19 with major arterial and venous thrombotic diseases: A population-wide cohort study of 48 million adults in England and wales', Circulation, 146(12), pp. 892–906. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.122.060785.

Krantz, M.S. and Phillips, E.J. (2022) 'COVID-19 mRNA vaccine safety during the first 6 months of roll-out in the USA', Lancet Infect Dis, 22(6), pp. 747–748. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00123-2.

Kwan, A.C. et al. (2022) 'Apparent risks of postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome diagnoses after COVID-19 vaccination and SARS-Cov-2 Infection', Nature Cardiovascular Research, 1(12), pp. 1187–1194. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s44161-022-00177-8.

Lai, F.T.T., Chua, Gilbert T., Chan, E.W.W., Huang, L., et al. (2022) 'Adverse events of special interest following the use of BNT162b2 in adolescents: a population-based retrospective cohort study', Emerg. Microbes Infect., 11(1), pp. 885–893. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2022.2050952.

Lai, F.T.T., Li, Xue, Peng, K., Huang, L., et al. (2022) 'Carditis after COVID-19 vaccination with a messenger RNA vaccine and an inactivated virus vaccine : A case-control study', Ann. Intern. Med., 175(3), pp. 362–370. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7326/M21-3700.

Lai, F.T.T., Huang, L., Chui, C.S.L., et al. (2022) 'Multimorbidity and adverse events of special interest associated with Covid-19 vaccines in Hong Kong', Nat. Commun., 13(1), p. 411. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-28068-3.

Lai, F.T.T., Huang, L., Peng, K., et al. (2022) 'Post-Covid-19-vaccination adverse events and healthcare utilization among individuals with or without previous SARS-CoV-2 infection', J. Intern. Med., 291(6), pp. 864–869. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.13453.

Lai, L.Y. et al. (2022) 'Current Approaches to Vaccine Safety Using Observational Data: A Rationale for the EUMAEUS (Evaluating Use of Methods for Adverse Events Under Surveillance-for Vaccines) Study Design', Front Pharmacol, 13, p. 837632. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.837632.

Lambert, M.P. and Gernsheimer, T.B. (2017) 'Clinical updates in adult immune thrombocytopenia', Blood, 129(21), pp. 2829–2835. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2017-03-754119.

Lane, J.C.E. et al. (2020) 'Risk of hydroxychloroquine alone and in combination with azithromycin in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: a multinational, retrospective study', Lancet Rheumatol, 2(11), pp. e698–e711. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2665-9913(20)30276-9.

Lau, C.L. et al. (2021) 'Risk-benefit analysis of the AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine in Australia using a Bayesian network modelling framework', Vaccine, 39(51), pp. 7429–7440. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.10.079.

Lee, E.-J. et al. (2021) 'Thrombocytopenia following Pfizer and Moderna SARS-CoV-2 vaccination', Am. J. Hematol., 96(5), pp. 534–537. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.26132.

Lee, Y. et al. (2022) 'Venous thromboembolism in COVID-19 patients and prediction model: a multicenter cohort study', BMC Infect. Dis., 22(1), p. 462. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-022-07421-3.

Leite, A., Thomas, S.L. and Andrews, N.J. (2017) 'Implementing near real-time vaccine safety surveillance using the Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD)', Vaccine, 35(49 Pt B), pp. 6885–6892. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.09.022.

Levison, L.S. et al. (2019) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome in Denmark: validation of diagnostic codes and a population-based nationwide study of the incidence in a 30-year period', Clin. Epidemiol., 11, pp. 275–283. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2147/CLEP.S199839.

Li, L.L. et al. (2022) 'Impact of prior SARS-CoV-2 infection on incidence of hospitalization and adverse events following mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccination: A nationwide, retrospective cohort study', Vaccine, 40(8), pp. 1082–1089. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.01.026.

Li, Q. et al. (2020) 'Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of novel Coronavirus-infected pneumonia', N. Engl. J. Med., 382(13), pp. 1199–1207. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001316.

Li, Xintong, Lai, L.Y., et al. (2021a) 'Bias, precision and timeliness of historical (background) rate comparison methods for vaccine safety monitoring: An empirical multi-database analysis', Front. Pharmacol., 12, p. 773875. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.773875.

Li, X., Lai, L. Y., Ostropolets, A., Arshad, F., Tan, E.H., et al. (2021b) 'Bias, Precision and Timeliness of Historical (Background) Rate Comparison Methods for Vaccine Safety Monitoring: An Empirical Multi-Database Analysis', Front Pharmacol, 12, p. 773875. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.773875.

Li, X., Ostropolets, A., Makadia, R., Shoaibi, A., Rao, G., et al. (2021c) 'Characterising the background incidence rates of adverse events of special interest for covid-19 vaccines in eight countries: multinational network cohort study', BMJ, 373, p. n1435. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1435.

Li, Xintong, Raventós, B., Roel, E., et al. (2022a) 'Association between covid-19 vaccination, SARS-CoV-2 infection, and risk of immune mediated neurological events: population based cohort and self-controlled case series analysis', BMJ, 376, p. e068373. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-068373.

Li, Xue, Gao, L., Tong, X., et al. (2022c) 'Autoimmune conditions following mRNA (BNT162b2) and inactivated (CoronaVac) COVID-19 vaccination: A descriptive cohort study among 1.1 million vaccinated people in Hong Kong', J. Autoimmun., 130(102830), p. 102830. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2022.102830.

Li, Xintong, Burn, E., Duarte-Salles, T., et al. (2022b) 'Comparative risk of thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndrome or thromboembolic events associated with different covid-19 vaccines: international network cohort study from five European countries and the US', BMJ, 379, p. e071594. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2022-071594.

Li, Xue, Tong, X., Yeung, W.W.Y., et al. (2022d) 'Two-dose COVID-19 vaccination and possible arthritis flare among patients with rheumatoid arthritis in Hong Kong', Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, 81(4), pp. 564–568. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2021-221571.

Lip, G.Y.H. et al. (2010) 'Refining clinical risk stratification for predicting stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation using a novel risk factor-based approach: the euro heart survey on atrial fibrillation', Chest, 137(2), pp. 263–272. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.09-1584.

Lipkind, H.S. et al. (2022) 'Receipt of COVID-19 vaccine during pregnancy and preterm or smallfor-gestational-age at birth - eight integrated health care organizations, United States, December 15, 2020-July 22, 2021', MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep., 71(1), pp. 26–30. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7101e1.

Llitjos, J.-F. et al. (2020) 'High incidence of venous thromboembolic events in anticoagulated severe COVID-19 patients', J. Thromb. Haemost., 18(7), pp. 1743–1746. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.14869.

Lloyd, P.C. et al. (2022) 'Near real-time surveillance of safety outcomes in US COVID-19 vaccine recipients aged 12 to 64 years', Vaccine, 40(45), pp. 6481–6488. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.09.060.

Lodigiani, C. et al. (2020) 'Venous and arterial thromboembolic complications in COVID-19 patients admitted to an academic hospital in Milan, Italy', Thromb. Res., 191, pp. 9–14. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.024.

Logunov, D.Y. et al. (2020) 'Safety and immunogenicity of an rAd26 and rAd5 vector-based heterologous prime-boost COVID-19 vaccine in two formulations: two open, non-randomised phase 1/2 studies from Russia', The Lancet, 396(10255), pp. 887–897. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31866-3.

Logunov, D.Y. et al. (2021) 'Safety and efficacy of an rAd26 and rAd5 vector-based heterologous prime-boost COVID-19 vaccine: an interim analysis of a randomised controlled phase 3 trial in Russia', Lancet, 397(10275), pp. 671–681. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00234-8.

Lopez Bernal, J. et al. (2021) 'Effectiveness of Covid-19 Vaccines against the B.1.617.2 (Delta) Variant', N Engl J Med, 385(7), pp. 585–594. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2108891.

Lowe, G.D.O. (2008) 'Common risk factors for both arterial and venous thrombosis', Br. J. Haematol., 140(5), pp. 488–495. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06973.x.

Lund, J.L., Richardson, D.B. and Stürmer, T. (2015) 'The active comparator, new user study design in pharmacoepidemiology: historical foundations and contemporary application', Curr. Epidemiol. Rep., 2(4), pp. 221–228. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40471-015-0053-5.

90

Lyngse, F.P. et al. (2022) 'Household transmission of the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant in Denmark', Nat Commun, 13(1), p. 5573. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-33328-3.

van der Maas, N.A.T. et al. (2011) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome: background incidence rates in The Netherlands', J. Peripher. Nerv. Syst., 16(3), pp. 243–249. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8027.2011.00356.x.

MacIntyre, C.R. et al. (2021) 'Thrombosis with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome (TTS) following AstraZeneca ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZD1222) COVID-19 vaccination - A risk-benefit analysis for people < 60 years in Australia', Vaccine, 39(34), pp. 4784–4787. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.07.013.

Mahase, E. (2021) 'Covid-19: Medical community split over vaccine interval policy as WHO recommends six weeks', BMJ, 372, p. n226. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n226.

Mahaux, O., Bauchau, V. and Van Holle, L. (2016) 'Pharmacoepidemiological considerations in observed-to-expected analyses for vaccines', Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf., 25(2), pp. 215–222. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.3918.

Maliwankul, K. et al. (2022) 'Shoulder Injury Related to COVID-19 Vaccine Administration: A Case Series', Vaccines, 10(4), p. 588. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines10040588.

Maltezou, H.C. et al. (2022) 'Anaphylaxis rates associated with COVID-19 vaccines are comparable to those of other vaccines', Vaccine, 40(2), pp. 183–186. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.11.066.

Maltezou, H.C. et al. (2023) 'Anaphylaxis rates following mRNA COVID-19 vaccination in children and adolescents: Analysis of data reported to EudraVigilance', Vaccine, 41(14), pp. 2382–2386. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2023.02.067.

Manzano, G.S. et al. (2021) 'Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis and acute hemorrhagic leukoencephalitis following COVID-19', Neurol. Neuroimmunol. Neuroinflamm., 8(6), p. e1080. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1212/nxi.000000000000001080.

Maramattom, B.V. et al. (2021) 'Guillain-Barré Syndrome following ChAdOx1-S / nCoV -19 Vaccine', Ann. Neurol. [Preprint], (ana.26143). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.26143.

Markus, A.F. et al. (2022) 'TreatmentPatterns: An R package to facilitate the standardized development and analysis of treatment patterns across disease domains', Comput. Methods Programs Biomed., 225(107081), p. 107081. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmpb.2022.107081.

Martin-Villares, C. et al. (2021) 'Bell's palsy following a single dose of mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccine: a case report', J. Neurol. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-021-10617-3.

Massari, M. et al. (2022) 'Post-marketing active surveillance of myocarditis and pericarditis following vaccination with COVID-19 mRNA vaccines in persons aged 12-39 years in Italy: a multi-database, self-controlled case series study', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.02.07.22270020.

Matrajt, L. et al. (2021) 'Optimizing vaccine allocation for COVID-19 vaccines: critical role of single-dose vaccination', medRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.31.20249099.

McCarthy, S. et al. (2009) 'Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: treatment discontinuation in adolescents and young adults', Br. J. Psychiatry, 194(3), pp. 273–277. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.107.045245.

McGrath, L.J. et al. (2020) 'Using negative control outcomes to assess the comparability of treatment groups among women with osteoporosis in the United States', Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf., 29(8), pp. 854–863. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.5037.

McKean, N. and Chircop, C. (2021) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome after COVID-19 vaccination', BMJ Case Rep., 14(7), p. e244125. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2021-244125.

McMurry, R. et al. (2021) 'Real-time analysis of a mass vaccination effort confirms the safety of FDA-authorized mRNA COVID-19 vaccines', Med (N. Y.), 2(8), pp. 965-978.e5. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medj.2021.06.006.

McNair, D. et al. (2022) 'Use of RWE to inform regulatory, public health policy, and intervention priorities for the developing world', Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 111(1), pp. 44–51. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.2449.

McNeil, M.M. and DeStefano, F. (2018) 'Vaccine-associated hypersensitivity', J Allergy Clin Immunol, 141(2), pp. 463–472. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2017.12.971.

Menni, C. et al. (2022) 'COVID-19 vaccine waning and effectiveness and side-effects of boosters: a prospective community study from the ZOE COVID Study', Lancet Infect. Dis., 22(7), pp. 1002–1010. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00146-3.

Mercade-Besora, N. et al. (2024) 'Effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines administered during pregnancy in Spain and Norway', Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf, In press (ICPE 2024 conference book).

Mesle, M.M. et al. (2021) 'Estimated number of deaths directly averted in people 60 years and older as a result of COVID-19 vaccination in the WHO European Region, December 2020 to November 2021', Euro Surveill, 26(47). Available at: https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021.26.47.2101021.

Mesle, M.M.I. et al. (2024) 'Estimated number of lives directly saved by COVID-19 vaccination programmes in the WHO European Region from December, 2020, to March, 2023: a retrospective surveillance study', Lancet Respir Med, 12(9), pp. 714–727. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(24)00179-6.

Mevorach, D. et al. (2021) 'Myocarditis after BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine against Covid-19 in Israel', N. Engl. J. Med., 385(23), pp. 2140–2149. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2109730.

MHRA (2021a) MHRA issues new advice, concluding a possible link between COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca and extremely rare, unlikely to occur blood clots. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/mhra-issues-new-advice-concluding-a-possible-link-

between-covid-19-vaccine-astrazeneca-and-extremely-rare-unlikely-to-occur-blood-clots (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2021b) The MHRA concludes positive safety profile for Pfizer/BioNTech vaccine in 12- to 15-year-olds, GOV.UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/the-mhra-concludes-positive-safety-profile-for-pfizerbiontech-vaccine-in-12-to-15-year-olds (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2021c) 'UK regulator confirms that people should continue to receive the COVID-19 vaccine AstraZeneca'. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-regulator-confirms-that-people-should-continue-to-receive-the-covid-19-vaccine-astrazeneca (Accessed: 14 Novermber 2024)

MHRA (2022a) Novavax COVID-19 vaccine Nuvaxovid approved by MHRA, GOV.UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/novavax-covid-19-vaccine-nuvaxovid-approved-by-mhra (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2022b) Regulatory approval of Pfizer/BioNTech vaccine for COVID-19, GOV.UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-approval-of-pfizer-biontech-vaccine-for-covid-19 (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

MHRA (2023a) ARCHIVED - Coronavirus vaccine - summary of Yellow Card reporting, GOV.UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-vaccine-adverse-reactions/coronavirus-vaccine-summary-of-yellow-card-reporting--2 (Accessed: 30 October 2024).

MHRA (2023b) Package leaflet: Information for the user - Spikevax. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6532381de839fd0014867219/PIL_Spikevax_dispe rsion_for_injection_PLGB_53720_0002.pdf (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2023c) Regulatory approval of COVID-19 Vaccine AstraZeneca. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-approval-of-covid-19-vaccine-astrazeneca#full-publication-update-history (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2023d) Regulatory approval of COVID-19 vaccine Nuvaxovid, GOV.UK. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-approval-of-covid-19-vaccine-nuvaxovid (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

MHRA (2023e) SUMMARY OF PRODUCT CHARACTERISTICS - SpikeVax. Available at: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/15085/smpc (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2023f) SUMMARY OF PRODUCT CHARACTERISTICS COVID-19 Vaccine Janssen. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/653135a7e839fd00148671cb/COVID-19_Vaccine_Janssen_SmPC.pdf (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2023g) 'Summary of Product Characteristics for Vaxzevria - Last updated November 2023'. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-approval-of-covid-19-vaccine-astrazeneca/information-for-healthcare-professionals-on-covid-19-vaccine-astrazeneca (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

MHRA (2024) Information for UK recipients on Pfizer/BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine (Regulation 174). Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-approval-of-pfizer-biontech-vaccine-for-covid-19/information-for-uk-recipients-on-pfizerbiontech-covid-19-vaccine.

Min, Y.G. et al. (2021) 'Sensory Guillain-Barre syndrome following the ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccine: Report of two cases and review of literature', J. Neuroimmunol., 359(577691), p. 577691. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577691.

Mok, C.C., Chan, K.L. and Tse, S.M. (2022) 'Hesitancy for SARS-CoV-2 vaccines and post-vaccination flares in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus', Vaccine, 40(41), pp. 5959–5964. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.08.068.

Moore, S. et al. (2020) 'Modelling optimal vaccination strategy for SARS-CoV-2', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.22.20194183.

Morales, D.R. et al. (2021) 'Renin-angiotensin system blockers and susceptibility to COVID-19: an international, open science, cohort analysis', Lancet Digit Health, 3(2), pp. e98–e114. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30289-2.

Morciano, M. et al. (2020) 'Excess mortality for care home residents during the first 23 weeks of the COVID-19 pandemic in England: a national cohort study', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.11.11.20229815.

Mostert, S. et al. (2024) 'Excess mortality across countries in the Western World since the COVID-19 pandemic: "Our World in Data" estimates of January 2020 to December 2022', BMJ Public Health, 2(1). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjph-2023-000282.

Muller, I. et al. (2024) 'Increased Risk of Thyroid Eye Disease Following Covid-19 Vaccination', The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 109(2), pp. 516–526. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgad501.

Musonda, P., Farrington, C.P. and Whitaker, H.J. (2006) 'Sample sizes for self-controlled case series studies', Stat. Med., 25(15), pp. 2618–2631. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.2477.

Mutsch, M. et al. (2004) 'Use of the inactivated intranasal influenza vaccine and the risk of Bell's palsy in Switzerland', N Engl J Med, 350(9), pp. 896–903. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa030595.

Nabizadeh, F. et al. (2023) 'Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM) following COVID-19 vaccination: A systematic review', J Clin Neurosci, 111, pp. 57–70. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2023.03.008.

Nagai, K. et al. (2020) 'Data resource profile: JMDC claims databases sourced from Medical Institutions', J. Gen. Fam. Med., 21(6), pp. 211–218. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/jgf2.367.

Nasuelli, N.A. et al. (2021) 'A case of acute demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy with bilateral facial palsy after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine', Neurol. Sci. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-021-05467-w.

Nazir, M. et al. (2022) 'Menstrual abnormalities after COVID-19 vaccines: A systematic review', Vacunas, 23, pp. S77–S87. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vacun.2022.07.001.

Nguyen, T.-L. et al. (2017) 'Double-adjustment in propensity score matching analysis: choosing a threshold for considering residual imbalance', BMC Med. Res. Methodol., 17(1), p. 78. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0338-0.

NHS (2023) 'Bell's palsy'. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/bells-palsy/ (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

Niesen, M.J.M. et al. (2022) 'Surveillance of safety of 3 doses of COVID-19 mRNA vaccination using electronic health records', JAMA Netw. Open, 5(4), p. e227038. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.7038.

Nishizawa, Y., Hoshina, Y. and Baker, V. (2021) 'Bell's palsy following the Ad26.COV2.S COVID-19 vaccination', QJM [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcab143.

Notarte, K.I. et al. (2022) 'Impact of COVID-19 vaccination on the risk of developing long-COVID and on existing long-COVID symptoms: A systematic review', EClinicalMedicine, 53, p. 101624. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2022.101624.

Nyberg, T. et al. (2022) 'Comparative analysis of the risks of hospitalisation and death associated with SARS-CoV-2 omicron (B.1.1.529) and delta (B.1.617.2) variants in England: a cohort study', Lancet, 399(10332), pp. 1303–1312. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00462-7.

Obermann, M. et al. (2021) 'Bell's palsy following COVID-19 vaccination with high CSF antibody response', Neurol. Sci. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-021-05496-5.

Office for National Statistics (2023) Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey technical article: Cumulative incidence of the percentage of people who have been infected with COVID-19 by variant and age, England: 9 February 2023. Available at:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddisea ses/articles/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveytechnicalarticlecumulativeincidenceofthenumberofp eoplewhohavebeeninfectedwithcovid19byvariantandageengland/9february2023#:~:text=Figure% 202%3A%20The%20percentage%20of%20people%20who%20have%20had%20coronavirus%2 0(COVID%2D19)%20across%20all%20variants%20and%20age%20groups (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

Ohaeri, C. et al. (2022) 'Comparative risk of cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) following COVID-19 vaccination or infection: A national cohort study using linked electronic health records', Hum. Vaccin. Immunother., 18(6), p. 2127572. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2022.2127572.

Overhage, J.M. et al. (2012) 'Validation of a common data model for active safety surveillance research', J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc., 19(1), pp. 54–60. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000376.

Page, M.J. et al. (2021) 'The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews', BMJ, p. n71. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71.

Pagenkopf, C. and Südmeyer, M. (2021) 'A case of longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis following vaccination against Covid-19', J. Neuroimmunol., 358(577606), p. 577606. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577606.

Pakhchanian, H. et al. (2022) 'COVID-19 vaccination outcomes among patients with dermatomyositis: a multicentered analysis', Clin. Rheumatol., 41(7), pp. 2257–2260. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-022-06081-7.

Palladino, R. et al. (2021) 'A Quantitative Benefit-Risk Analysis of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccine among People under 60 in Italy', Vaccines (Basel), 9(6). Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9060618.

Paltiel, A.D., Schwartz, J.L., et al. (2021) 'Clinical Outcomes Of A COVID-19 Vaccine: Implementation Over Efficacy', Health Aff., 40(1), pp. 42–52. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.02054.

Paltiel, A.D., David Paltiel, A., et al. (2021) 'Speed Versus Efficacy: Quantifying Potential Tradeoffs in COVID-19 Vaccine Deployment', Annals of Internal Medicine [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7326/m20-7866.

Paranthaman, K. et al. (2022) 'Effectiveness of BNT162b2 and ChAdOx-1 vaccines in residents of long-term care facilities in England using a time-varying proportional hazards model', Age Ageing, 51(5). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afac115.

Patel, S.U. et al. (2021) 'Guillain-Barre syndrome following the first dose of the chimpanzee adenovirus-vectored COVID-19 vaccine, ChAdOx1', BMJ Case Rep., 14(4), p. e242956. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2021-242956.

Patone, M. et al. (2021) 'Neurological complications after first dose of COVID-19 vaccines and SARS-CoV-2 infection', Nat. Med., 27(12), pp. 2144–2153. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01556-7.

Patone, M. et al. (2022a) 'Risk of Myocarditis After Sequential Doses of COVID-19 Vaccine and SARS-CoV-2 Infection by Age and Sex', Circulation, 146(10), pp. 743–754. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.122.059970.

Patone, M. et al. (2022b) 'Risks of myocarditis, pericarditis, and cardiac arrhythmias associated with COVID-19 vaccination or SARS-CoV-2 infection', Nat Med, 28(2), pp. 410–422. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01630-0.

Pawlowski, C. et al. (2021) 'Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) is not significantly linked to COVID-19 vaccines or non-COVID vaccines in a large multi-state US health system', bioRxiv [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.04.20.21255806.

Peng, K. et al. (2023) 'Risk of autoimmune diseases following COVID-19 and the potential protective effect from vaccination: a population-based cohort study', eClinicalMedicine, 63, p. 102154. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2023.102154.

Perry, R.J. et al. (2021) 'Cerebral venous thrombosis after vaccination against COVID-19 in the UK: a multicentre cohort study', Lancet, 398(10306), pp. 1147–1156. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01608-1.

Petersen, I., Douglas, I. and Whitaker, H. (2016) 'Self controlled case series methods: an alternative to standard epidemiological study designs', BMJ, 354, p. i4515. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i4515.

Petrilli, C.M. et al. (2020) 'Factors associated with hospital admission and critical illness among 5279 people with coronavirus disease 2019 in New York City: prospective cohort study', BMJ, 369, p. m1966. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1966.

Pillay, J. et al. (2022) 'Incidence, risk factors, natural history, and hypothesised mechanisms of myocarditis and pericarditis following covid-19 vaccination: living evidence syntheses and review', BMJ, 378, p. e069445. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj-2021-069445.

Pischel, L. et al. (2022) 'Adenovirus-Based Vaccines and Thrombosis in Pregnancy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis', Clin Infect Dis, 75(7), pp. 1179–1186. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciac080.

Pohl, D. et al. (2016) 'Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: Updates on an inflammatory CNS syndrome', Neurology, 87(9 Suppl 2), pp. S38-45. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000002825.

Polack, F.P. et al. (2020) 'Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine', N. Engl. J. Med., 383(27), pp. 2603–2615. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2034577.

Pottegård, A. et al. (2021) 'Arterial events, venous thromboembolism, thrombocytopenia, and bleeding after vaccination with Oxford-AstraZeneca ChAdOx1-S in Denmark and Norway: population based cohort study', BMJ, 373, p. n1114. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1114.

Pouwels, K.B. et al. (2021) 'Effect of Delta variant on viral burden and vaccine effectiveness against new SARS-CoV-2 infections in the UK', Nat Med, 27(12), pp. 2127–2135. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01548-7.

Prasad, A. et al. (2021) 'A novel case of bifacial diplegia variant of guillain-Barré syndrome following Janssen COVID-19 vaccination', Neurol. Int., 13(3), pp. 404–409. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/neurolint13030040.

Prats-Uribe, A. et al. (2021) 'Use of repurposed and adjuvant drugs in hospital patients with covid-19: multinational network cohort study', BMJ, 373, p. n1038. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n1038.

Previtali, E. et al. (2011) 'Risk factors for venous and arterial thrombosis', Blood Transfus., 9(2), pp. 120–138. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2450/2010.0066-10.

Prieto-Alhambra, D. et al. (2021) 'Filling the gaps in the characterization of the clinical management of COVID-19: 30-day hospital admission and fatality rates in a cohort of 118 150 cases diagnosed in outpatient settings in Spain', Int. J. Epidemiol., 49(6), pp. 1930–1939. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyaa190.

Pritchard, E. et al. (2021) 'Impact of vaccination on new SARS-CoV-2 infections in the United Kingdom', Nat Med, 27(8), pp. 1370–1378. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01410-w.

Prunas, O. et al. (2022) 'Vaccination with BNT162b2 reduces transmission of SARS-CoV-2 to household contacts in Israel', Science, 375(6585), pp. 1151–1154. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abl4292.

Rafati, A. et al. (2023) 'Association of SARS-CoV-2 Vaccination or Infection With Bell Palsy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis', JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg, 149(6), pp. 493–504. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2023.0160.

Rafati, A. et al. (2024) 'Association of New-Onset Seizures With SARS-CoV-2 Vaccines: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials', JAMA Neurology, 81(6), pp. 611–618. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2024.0967.

Raman, S.R. et al. (2015) 'An observational study of pharmacological treatment in primary care of children with ADHD in the United Kingdom', Psychiatr. Serv., 66(6), pp. 617–624. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201300148.

Raman, S.R. et al. (2018) 'Trends in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder medication use: a retrospective observational study using population-based databases', Lancet Psychiatry, 5(10), pp. 824–835. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(18)30293-1.

Ramasamy, M.N. et al. (2021) 'Safety and immunogenicity of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine administered in a prime-boost regimen in young and old adults (COV002): a single-blind, randomised, controlled, phase 2/3 trial', Lancet, 396(10267), pp. 1979–1993. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32466-1.

Rasmussen, T.A. et al. (2012) 'Use of population based background rates of disease to assess vaccine safety in childhood and mass immunisation in Denmark: nationwide population based cohort study', BMJ, 345(sep17 1), p. e5823. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e5823.

Raventós, B. et al. (2023) 'IncidencePrevalence: An R package to calculate population-level incidence rates and prevalence using the OMOP common data model', Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.5717.

Razok, A. et al. (2021) 'Post-COVID-19 vaccine Guillain-Barré syndrome; first reported case from Qatar', Ann. Med. Surg. (Lond.), 67(102540), p. 102540. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102540.

Recalde, M. et al. (2021) 'Characteristics and outcomes of 627 044 COVID-19 patients living with and without obesity in the United States, Spain, and the United Kingdom', Int. J. Obes. (Lond), 45(11), pp. 2347–2357. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-00893-4.

Reilev, M. et al. (2020) 'Characteristics and predictors of hospitalization and death in the first 11 122 cases with a positive RT-PCR test for SARS-CoV-2 in Denmark: a nationwide cohort', Int. J. Epidemiol., 49(5), pp. 1468–1481. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyaa140.

Renoud, L. et al. (2021) 'Association of facial paralysis with mRNA COVID-19 vaccines: A disproportionality analysis using the world health organization pharmacovigilance database', JAMA Intern. Med. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.2219.

Repajic, M. et al. (2021) 'Bell's Palsy after second dose of Pfizer COVID-19 vaccination in a patient with history of recurrent Bell's palsy', Brain Behav Immun Health, 13(100217), p. 100217. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2021.100217.

Rider, L.G. et al. (2022) 'Baseline factors associated with self-reported disease flares following COVID-19 vaccination among adults with systemic rheumatic disease: results from the COVID-19 global rheumatology alliance vaccine survey', Rheumatology, 61(SI2), pp. SI143–SI150. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/keac249.

Rinaldi, V. et al. (2022) 'CNS inflammatory demyelinating events after COVID-19 vaccines: A case series and systematic review', Front Neurol, 13, p. 1018785. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2022.1018785.

Roel, E. et al. (2022) 'Socioeconomic Inequalities in COVID-19 Vaccination and Infection in Adults, Catalonia, Spain', Emerg Infect Dis, 28(11), pp. 2243–2252. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2811.220614.

Romano, P.S., Roos, L.L. and Jollis, J.G. (1993) 'Adapting a clinical comorbidity index for use with ICD-9-CM administrative data: differing perspectives', J. Clin. Epidemiol., 46(10), pp. 1075–9; discussion 1081-90. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(93)90103-8.

Rosenbaum, P.R. and Rubin, D.B. (1983) 'The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects', Biometrika, 70(1), pp. 41–55. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/70.1.41.

Rosenblum, H.G. et al. (2022) 'Safety of mRNA vaccines administered during the initial 6 months of the US COVID-19 vaccination programme: an observational study of reports to the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System and v-safe', Lancet Infect Dis, 22(6), pp. 802–812. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00054-8.

Rosner, C.M. et al. (2021) 'Myocarditis temporally associated with COVID-19 vaccination', Circulation [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.121.055891.

Rottenstreich, M. et al. (2022) 'Covid-19 vaccination during the third trimester of pregnancy: rate of vaccination and maternal and neonatal outcomes, a multicentre retrospective cohort study', BJOG, 129(2), pp. 248–255. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.16941.

Royal College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (no date) RCOG COVID-19 vaccination guidance timeline. Available at: https://www.rcog.org.uk/media/k5aniwh1/rcog-covid-19-vaccination-guidance-timeline.pdf (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

Rubin, R. (2023) 'Large Cohort Study Finds Possible Association Between Postural Orthostatic Tachycardia Syndrome and COVID-19 Vaccination but Far Stronger Link With SARS-CoV-2 Infection', JAMA, 329(6), pp. 454–456. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2023.0050.

Ruggiero, R. et al. (2022) 'Capillary leak syndrome following COVID-19 vaccination: Data from the European pharmacovigilance database Eudravigilance', Front Immunol, 13, p. 956825. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.956825.

Sadarangani, M. et al. (2022) 'Safety of COVID-19 vaccines in pregnancy: a Canadian National Vaccine Safety (CANVAS) network cohort study', Lancet Infect Dis, 22(11), pp. 1553–1564. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00426-1.

Sadoff, Jerald et al. (2021) 'Interim results of a phase 1-2a trial of Ad26.COV2.S Covid-19 vaccine', N. Engl. J. Med., 384(19), pp. 1824–1835. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2034201.

Sadoff, J. et al. (2021) 'Safety and Efficacy of Single-Dose Ad26.COV2.S Vaccine against Covid-19', N Engl J Med, 384(23), pp. 2187–2201. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2101544.

Salmon, D.A. et al. (2013) 'Association between Guillain-Barré syndrome and influenza A (H1N1) 2009 monovalent inactivated vaccines in the USA: a meta-analysis', Lancet, 381(9876), pp. 1461–1468. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62189-8.

Salo, J. et al. (2022) 'The indirect effect of mRNA-based COVID-19 vaccination on healthcare workers' unvaccinated household members', Nat Commun, 13(1), p. 1162. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-28825-4.

Salvatore, P.P. et al. (2023) 'Transmission potential of vaccinated and unvaccinated persons infected with the SARS-CoV-2 Delta variant in a federal prison, July-August 2021', Vaccine, 41(11), pp. 1808–1818. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.11.045.

Scendoni, R. et al. (2021) 'Electromyoneurography and laboratory findings in a case of Guillain-Barré syndrome after second dose of Pfizer COVID-19 vaccine', Hum. Vaccin. Immunother., pp. 1–4. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2021.1954826.

Schneeweiss, S. et al. (2020) 'Choosing among common data models for real-world data analyses fit for making decisions about the effectiveness of medical products', Clin. Pharmacol. Ther., 107(4), pp. 827–833. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.1577.

Schultz, N.H. et al. (2021) 'Thrombosis and thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination', N. Engl. J. Med. [Preprint], (NEJMoa2104882). Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2104882.

See, I. et al. (2022) 'Case series of thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndrome after COVID-19 vaccination-United States, December 2020 to August 2021', Ann. Intern. Med. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7326/M21-4502.

Self, W.H. et al. (2021) 'Comparative effectiveness of Moderna, Pfizer-BioNTech, and Janssen (Johnson & Johnson) vaccines in preventing COVID-19 hospitalizations among adults without immunocompromising conditions - United States, March-August 2021', MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep., 70(38), pp. 1337–1343. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7038e1.

Shafiee, A. et al. (2023) 'Herpesviruses reactivation following COVID-19 vaccination: a systematic review and meta-analysis', European Journal of Medical Research, 28(1), p. 278. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s40001-023-01238-9.

Shah, A.S.V. et al. (2021) 'Effect of Vaccination on Transmission of SARS-CoV-2', N Engl J Med, 385(18), pp. 1718–1720. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2106757.

Shah, W. et al. (2021) 'Managing the long term effects of covid-19: summary of NICE, SIGN, and RCGP rapid guideline', BMJ, 372, p. n136. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n136.

Shani, M. et al. (2024) 'The association between BNT162b2 vaccinations and incidence of immune-mediated comorbidities', Vaccine, 42(18), pp. 3830–3837. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2024.04.097.

Shasha, D., Heymann, A.D. and Zacay, G. (2022) 'Re: Real-world safety data for the Pfizer BNT162b2 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine, historical cohort study: authors' response', Clin. Microbiol. Infect., 28(3), pp. 454–455. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2021.12.010.

Sheikh, A., Robertson, C. and Taylor, B. (2021) 'BNT162b2 and ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccine Effectiveness against Death from the Delta Variant', N Engl J Med, 385(23), pp. 2195–2197. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2113864.

Shemer, A. et al. (2021) 'Association of COVID-19 vaccination and facial nerve palsy: A casecontrol study', JAMA Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2021.1259.

Shetty, A.N. et al. (2024) 'Audiovestibular adverse events following COVID-19 vaccinations', Vaccine, 42(8), pp. 2011–2017. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2024.02.051.

Shibli, R. et al. (2021) 'Association between vaccination with the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine and Bell's palsy: a population-based study', Lancet Reg. Health Eur., 11(100236), p. 100236. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100236.

Shimabukuro, T. and Nair, N. (2021) 'Allergic Reactions Including Anaphylaxis After Receipt of the First Dose of Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine', JAMA, 325(8), pp. 780–781. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.0600.

Shimabukuro, T.T. et al. (2021) 'Preliminary Findings of mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine Safety in Pregnant Persons', N Engl J Med, 384(24), pp. 2273–2282. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2104983.

Shimabukuro, T.T., Cole, M. and Su, J.R. (2021) 'Reports of Anaphylaxis After Receipt of mRNA COVID-19 Vaccines in the US-December 14, 2020-January 18, 2021', JAMA, 325(11), pp. 1101–1102. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.1967.

Shrotri, M. et al. (2021) 'Vaccine effectiveness of the first dose of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and BNT162b2 against SARS-CoV-2 infection in residents of long-term care facilities in England (VIVALDI): a prospective cohort study', Lancet Infect Dis, 21(11), pp. 1529–1538. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00289-9.

Shukla, P. et al. (2024) 'The Risk of Optic Neuritis following mRNA Coronavirus Disease 2019 Vaccination Compared to Coronavirus Disease 2019 Infection and Other Vaccinations', Ophthalmology, 131(9), pp. 1076–1082. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ophtha.2024.02.024.

Silva, I.R., Duczmal, L. and Kulldorff, M. (2021) 'Confidence intervals for spatial scan statistic', Comput. Stat. Data Anal., 158(107185), p. 107185. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csda.2021.107185. Simone, A. et al. (2022) 'Acute myocarditis following a third dose of COVID-19 mRNA vaccination in adults', Int. J. Cardiol., 365, pp. 41–43. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2022.07.031.

Simpson, C.R. et al. (2021) 'First-dose ChAdOx1 and BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccines and thrombocytopenic, thromboembolic and hemorrhagic events in Scotland', Nat Med, 27(7), pp. 1290–1297. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01408-4.

Simpson, S.E. et al. (2013) 'Multiple self-controlled case series for large-scale longitudinal observational databases', Biometrics, 69(4), pp. 893–902. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/biom.12078.

Sing, C.-W. et al. (2022) 'COVID-19 vaccines and risks of hematological abnormalities: Nested case-control and self-controlled case series study', Am. J. Hematol., 97(4), pp. 470–480. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/ajh.26478.

Singanayagam, A. et al. (2022) 'Community transmission and viral load kinetics of the SARS-CoV-2 delta (B.1.617.2) variant in vaccinated and unvaccinated individuals in the UK: a prospective, longitudinal, cohort study', Lancet Infect Dis, 22(2), pp. 183–195. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00648-4.

Singh Malhotra, H. et al. (2021) 'COVID-19 vaccination-associated myelitis', QJM [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/hcab069.

Skjefte, M. et al. (2021) 'COVID-19 vaccine acceptance among pregnant women and mothers of young children: results of a survey in 16 countries', Eur J Epidemiol, 36(2), pp. 197–211. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-021-00728-6.

Sodhi, M., Samii, A. and Etminan, M. (2022) 'A comparative safety study of reported neurological adverse events with three COVID-19 vaccines', J. Neurol. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-021-10919-6.

SputnikV (2022) Sputnik V vaccine granted full permanent approval in Russia. Available at: https://sputnikvaccine.com/newsroom/pressreleases/sputnik-v-vaccine-granted-full-permanent-approval-in-russia/ (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

Stone, P.W. (2002) 'Popping the (PICO) question in research and evidence-based practice', Appl. Nurs. Res., 15(3), pp. 197–198. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1053/apnr.2002.34181.

Suchard, M.A. et al. (2019) 'Comprehensive comparative effectiveness and safety of first-line antihypertensive drug classes: a systematic, multinational, large-scale analysis', Lancet, 394(10211), pp. 1816–1826. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32317-7.

Sudlow, C. (2024) Uniting the UK's Health Data: A Huge Opportunity for Society. Available at: https://www.hdruk.ac.uk/helping-with-health-data/the-sudlow-review/ (Accessed: 3 December 2024).

Tamaki, A. et al. (2021) 'Incidence of bell palsy in patients with COVID-19', JAMA Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2021.1266.

Tamborska, A.A. et al. (2022) 'Guillain-Barre syndrome following SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in the UK: a prospective surveillance study', BMJ Neurol Open, 4(2), p. e000309. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjno-2022-000309.

Tan, S.T. et al. (2023) 'Infectiousness of SARS-CoV-2 breakthrough infections and reinfections during the Omicron wave', Nat Med, 29(2), pp. 358–365. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-02138-x.

Tessier, E. et al. (2023) 'Monitoring the COVID-19 immunisation programme through a national immunisation Management system - England's experience', Int J Med Inform, 170, p. 104974. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2022.104974.

Theiler, R.N. et al. (2021) 'Pregnancy and birth outcomes after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in pregnancy', Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. MFM, 3(6), p. 100467. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2021.100467.

Theuriet, J. et al. (2021) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome following first injection of ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine: First report', Rev. Neurol. (Paris) [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurol.2021.04.005.

Thomas, W. et al. (2020) 'Thrombotic complications of patients admitted to intensive care with COVID-19 at a teaching hospital in the United Kingdom', Thrombosis Research, 191, pp. 76–77. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.thromres.2020.04.028.

Thompson, M.G. et al. (2021) 'Interim estimates of vaccine effectiveness of BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 COVID-19 vaccines in preventing SARS-CoV-2 infection among health care personnel, first responders, and other essential and frontline workers - eight U.s. locations, December 2020-March 2021', MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep., 70(13), pp. 495–500. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7013e3.

Tian, Y., Schuemie, M.J. and Suchard, M.A. (2018) 'Evaluating large-scale propensity score performance through real-world and synthetic data experiments', Int. J. Epidemiol., 47(6), pp. 2005–2014. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyy120.

To, K.K.-W. et al. (2020) 'Temporal profiles of viral load in posterior oropharyngeal saliva samples and serum antibody responses during infection by SARS-CoV-2: an observational cohort study', Lancet Infect. Dis., 20(5), pp. 565–574. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30196-1.

Tormen, M. et al. (2023) 'Effectiveness and safety of COVID-19 vaccine in pregnant women: A systematic review with meta-analysis', BJOG, 130(4), pp. 348–357. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.17354.

Toscano, G. et al. (2020) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with SARS-CoV-2', N. Engl. J. Med., 382(26), pp. 2574–2576. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2009191.

Trimboli, M. et al. (2021) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome following BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine', Neurol. Sci. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-021-05523-5.

Trinh, N.T. et al. (2024) 'Effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines to prevent long COVID: data from Norway', Lancet Respir Med, 12(5), pp. e33–e34. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(24)00082-1.

Truong, D.T. et al. (2022) 'Clinically Suspected Myocarditis Temporally Related to COVID-19 Vaccination in Adolescents and Young Adults: Suspected Myocarditis After COVID-19 Vaccination', Circulation, 145(5), pp. 345–356. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.121.056583.

Tu, T.M. et al. (2022) 'Incidence of cerebral venous thrombosis following SARS-CoV-2 infection vs mRNA SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in Singapore', JAMA Netw. Open, 5(3), p. e222940. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.2940.

Tuite, A.R. et al. (2021) 'Alternative Dose Allocation Strategies to Increase Benefits From Constrained COVID-19 Vaccine Supply', Ann. Intern. Med. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-8137.

UKHSA (2021a) COVID-19 vaccine surveillance report - Week 39. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6155b6ca8fa8f529777ffac2/Vaccine_surveillance_ report_-_week_39.pdf (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

UKHSA (2021b) Information for healthcare professionals on Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS) following COVID-19 vaccination. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-vaccination-guillain-barre-syndrome-information-for-healthcare-professionals/information-for-healthcare-professionals-on-guillain-barre-syndrome-gbs-following-covid-19-vaccination.

UKHSA (2022a) The effect of vaccination on transmission of COVID-19 A rapid evidence briefing Update 1: Search to 12 January 2022. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil e/1185476/The-effect-of-vaccination-on-transmission-of-covid-19-a-rapid-review-update1.pdf (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

UKHSA (2022b) The effect of vaccination on transmission of COVID-19 A rapid review. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil e/1184818/The-effect-of-vaccination-on-transmission-of-COVID-19-a-rapid-review.pdf (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

UKHSA (2022c) The effectiveness of vaccination against long COVID - A rapid evidence briefing. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/fil e/1184822/The-effectiveness-of-vaccination-against-long-COVID-a-rapid-evidence-briefing.pdf (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

UKHSA (2023) Myocarditis and pericarditis after COVID-19 vaccination: clinical management guidance for healthcare professionals, GOV.UK. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/myocarditis-and-pericarditis-after-covid-19-vaccination/myocarditis-and-pericarditis-after-covid-19-vaccination-guidance-for-healthcare-professionals (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

UKRI (2023) Competition overview - UK Regulatory Science and Innovation Networks – Discovery phase - Innovation Funding Service. Available at: https://apply-for-innovation-funding.service.gov.uk/competition/1827/overview/382ad049-da55-4870-9cdb-579dccca2852 (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

Uncini, A., Vallat, J.-M. and Jacobs, B.C. (2020) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome in SARS-CoV-2 infection: an instant systematic review of the first six months of pandemic', J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry, 91(10), pp. 1105–1110. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2020-324491.

Vasileiou, E., Simpson, C.R., Robertson, C., et al. (2021) 'Effectiveness of First Dose of COVID-19 Vaccines Against Hospital Admissions in Scotland: National Prospective Cohort Study of 5.4 Million People'. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3789264.

Vasileiou, E., Simpson, C.R., Shi, T., et al. (2021) 'Interim findings from first-dose mass COVID-19 vaccination roll-out and COVID-19 hospital admissions in Scotland: a national prospective cohort study', Lancet, 397(10285), pp. 1646–1657. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00677-2.

Vegezzi, E. et al. (2021) 'Acute myelitis and ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine: Casual or causal association?', J. Neuroimmunol., 359(577686), p. 577686. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577686.

Vlug, A.E. et al. (1999) 'Postmarketing surveillance based on electronic patient records: the IPCI project', Methods Inf. Med., 38(4–5), pp. 339–344.

Vogrig, A. et al. (2021) 'Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination', Clin. Neurol. Neurosurg., 208(106839), p. 106839. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2021.106839.

Voss, E.A., Makadia, R. and Matcho, A. (1093) 'Feasibility and utility of applications of the common data model to multiple, disparate observational health databases', J Am Med Inf Assoc, 22, pp. 553–64. Available at: https://doi.org/10.

Voysey, M. et al. (2021) 'Safety and efficacy of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine (AZD1222) against SARS-CoV-2: an interim analysis of four randomised controlled trials in Brazil, South Africa, and the UK', Lancet, 397(10269), pp. 99–111. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32661-1.

Waheed, S. et al. (2021) 'Neurological complications of COVID-19: Guillain-Barre Syndrome following Pfizer COVID-19 vaccine', Cureus, 13(2), p. e13426. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.13426.

Walker, J.L. et al. (2022) 'Safety of COVID-19 vaccination and acute neurological events: A selfcontrolled case series in England using the OpenSAFELY platform', Vaccine, 40(32), pp. 4479– 4487. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.06.010.

Walsh, E.E. et al. (2023) 'Efficacy and Safety of a Bivalent RSV Prefusion F Vaccine in Older Adults', N Engl J Med, 388(16), pp. 1465–1477. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2213836.

Walter, E.B. et al. (2022) 'Evaluation of the BNT162b2 Covid-19 Vaccine in Children 5 to 11 Years of Age', N Engl J Med, 386(1), pp. 35–46. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2116298.

Wan, E.Y.F. et al. (2021) 'Bell's palsy following vaccination with mRNA (BNT162b2) and inactivated (CoronaVac) SARS-CoV-2 vaccines: a case series and nested case-control study', Lancet Infect. Dis. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00451-5.

Wan, E.Y.F., Ng, V.W.S., et al. (2022) 'Association between the risk of seizure and COVID-19 vaccinations: A self-controlled case-series study', Epilepsia, 63(12), pp. 3100–3110. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.17436.

Wan, E.Y.F., Chui, C.S.L., Wang, Y., et al. (2022) 'Herpes zoster related hospitalization after inactivated (CoronaVac) and mRNA (BNT162b2) SARS-CoV-2 vaccination: A self-controlled case series and nested case-control study', The Lancet Regional Health. Western Pacific, 21, p. 100393. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanwpc.2022.100393.

Wan, E.Y.F., Chui, C.S.L., Mok, A.H.Y., et al. (2022) 'MRNA (BNT162b2) and inactivated (CoronaVac) COVID-19 vaccination and risk of adverse events and acute diabetic complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A population-based study', Drug Saf., 45(12), pp. 1477–1490. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-022-01228-6.

Wan, E.Y.F., Wang, Y., et al. (2022) 'Safety of an inactivated, whole-virion COVID-19 vaccine (CoronaVac) in people aged 60 years or older in Hong Kong: a modified self-controlled case series', Lancet Healthy Longev., 3(7), pp. e491–e500. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-7568(22)00125-8.

Wang, Yumin et al. (2021) 'SARS-CoV-2-associated acute disseminated encephalomyelitis: a systematic review of the literature', J. Neurol. [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-021-10771-8.

Watanabe, A., Kani, R., et al. (2023) 'Assessment of Efficacy and Safety of mRNA COVID-19 Vaccines in Children Aged 5 to 11 Years: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis', JAMA Pediatr, 177(4), pp. 384–394. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2022.6243.

Watanabe, A., Iwagami, M., et al. (2023) 'Protective effect of COVID-19 vaccination against long COVID syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis', Vaccine, 41(11), pp. 1783–1790. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2023.02.008.

Watson, O.J. et al. (2022) 'Global impact of the first year of COVID-19 vaccination: a mathematical modelling study', Lancet Infect Dis, 22(9), pp. 1293–1302. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00320-6.

Webb, S. et al. (2020) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome following COVID-19: a newly emerging postinfectious complication', BMJ Case Rep., 13(6), p. e236182. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2020-236182.

Welsh, K.J. et al. (2021) 'Thrombocytopenia including immune thrombocytopenia after receipt of mRNA COVID-19 vaccines reported to the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS)', Vaccine, 39(25), pp. 3329–3332. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.04.054.

106

Whitaker, H.J. et al. (2022) 'Pfizer-BioNTech and Oxford AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine effectiveness and immune response amongst individuals in clinical risk groups', J Infect, 84(5), pp. 675–683. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2021.12.044.

Whitaker, H.J., Steer, C.D. and Farrington, C.P. (2018) 'Self-controlled case series studies: Just how rare does a rare non-recurrent outcome need to be?', Biom. J., 60(6), pp. 1110–1120. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/bimj.201800019.

Whiteley, W.N. et al. (2022) 'Association of COVID-19 vaccines ChAdOx1 and BNT162b2 with major venous, arterial, or thrombocytopenic events: A population-based cohort study of 46 million adults in England', PLoS Med., 19(2), p. e1003926. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003926.

WHO (2021a) Interim recommendations for use of the inactivated COVID-19 vaccine, CoronaVac, developed by Sinovac. Available at: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/352472/WHO-2019-nCoV-vaccines-SAGErecommendation-Sinovac-CoronaVac-2022.1-eng.pdf (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

WHO (2021b) Interim recommendations for use of the Pfizer–BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine, BNT162b2, under Emergency Use Listing Interim guidance. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1326072/retrieve (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

WHO (2021c) Statement of the COVID-19 subcommittee of the WHO Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety (GACVS) on safety signals related to the Johnson & Johnson/Janssen COVID-19 vaccine. Available at: https://www.who.int/news/item/19-05-2021-statement-gacvs-safety-johnson-johnson-janssen-covid-19-

vaccine#:~:text=%2D%20The%20GACVS%20subcommittee%20recommends%20that,19%20va ccine%20should%20be%20reported. (Accessed: 12 November 2021).

WHO (2021d) Statement of the WHO Global Advisory Committee on Vaccine Safety (GACVS) COVID-19 subcommittee on reports of Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS) following adenovirus vector COVID-19 vaccines. Available at: https://www.who.int/news/item/26-07-2021-statement-of-the-who-gacvs-covid-19-subcommittee-on-

gbs#:~:text=Though%20countries%20should%20always%20consider,the%20increase%20in%20 the%20more (Accessed: 12 November 2024).

WHO (2024) COVID-19 vaccinations have saved more than 1.4 million lives in the WHO European Region, a new study finds. Available at: https://www.who.int/europe/news/item/16-01-2024-covid-19-vaccinations-have-saved-more-than-1.4-million-lives-in-the-who-european-region--a-new-study-finds (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

Wilson, E. et al. (2023) 'Efficacy and Safety of an mRNA-Based RSV PreF Vaccine in Older Adults', N Engl J Med, 389(24), pp. 2233–2244. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2307079.

Wise, J. (2020) 'Covid-19: New coronavirus variant is identified in UK', BMJ, 371, p. m4857. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m4857.

Wise, J. (2021) 'Covid-19: European countries suspend use of Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccine after reports of blood clots', BMJ, 372, p. n699. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n699.

Witberg, G. et al. (2021) 'Myocarditis after Covid-19 Vaccination in a Large Health Care Organization', N Engl J Med, 385(23), pp. 2132–2139. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2110737.

Wolf, A. et al. (2019) 'Data resource profile: Clinical Practice Research Datalink (CPRD) Aurum', Int. J. Epidemiol., 48(6), pp. 1740–1740g. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyz034.

Wong, C.K.H., Lau, K.T.K., et al. (2022) 'Adverse events of special interest and mortality following vaccination with mRNA (BNT162b2) and inactivated (CoronaVac) SARS-CoV-2 vaccines in Hong Kong: A retrospective study', PLoS Med., 19(6), p. e1004018. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1004018.

Wong, C.K.H., Mak, L.Y., et al. (2022) 'Risk of acute liver injury following the mRNA (BNT162b2) and inactivated (CoronaVac) COVID-19 vaccines', J. Hepatol., 77(5), pp. 1339–1348. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2022.06.032.

Wong, C.K.H., Lui, D.T.W., et al. (2022a) 'Risk of thyroid dysfunction associated with mRNA and inactivated COVID-19 vaccines: a population-based study of 2.3 million vaccine recipients', BMC Medicine, 20(1), p. 339. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-022-02548-1.

Wong, H.-L. et al. (2022) 'Risk of myocarditis and pericarditis after the COVID-19 mRNA vaccination in the USA: a cohort study in claims databases', Lancet, 399(10342), pp. 2191–2199. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00791-7.

Wyber, R. et al. (2015) 'Big data in global health: improving health in low- and middle-income countries', Bull. World Health Organ., 93(3), pp. 203–208. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.14.139022.

Xia, S. et al. (2020) 'Effect of an Inactivated Vaccine Against SARS-CoV-2 on Safety and Immunogenicity Outcomes: Interim Analysis of 2 Randomized Clinical Trials', JAMA, 324(10), pp. 951–960. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.15543.

Xia, S. et al. (2021) 'Safety and immunogenicity of an inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine, BBIBP-CorV: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 1/2 trial', Lancet Infect Dis, 21(1), pp. 39–51. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30831-8.

Xie, J., Prats-Uribe, A., et al. (2022) 'Clinical and Genetic Risk Factors for Acute Incident Venous Thromboembolism in Ambulatory Patients With COVID-19', JAMA Intern Med, 182(10), pp. 1063–1070. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.3858.

Xie, J., Feng, S., et al. (2022) 'Comparative effectiveness of the BNT162b2 and ChAdOx1 vaccines against Covid-19 in people over 50', Nat Commun, 13(1), p. 1519. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-29159-x.

Xie, Junqing et al. (2022) 'Genetic risk and incident venous thromboembolism in middle-aged and older adults following COVID-19 vaccination', J. Thromb. Haemost., 20(12), pp. 2887–2895. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/jth.15879.

Xiong, X. et al. (2022) 'Safety of inactivated and mRNA COVID-19 vaccination among patients treated for hypothyroidism: A population-based cohort study', Thyroid, 32(5), pp. 505–514. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1089/thy.2021.0684.
Xu, S. et al. (2021) 'COVID-19 vaccination and non-COVID-19 mortality risk - seven integrated health care organizations, United States, December 14, 2020-July 31, 2021', MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep., 70(43), pp. 1520–1524. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7043e2.

Xu, Y. et al. (2024) 'Cardiovascular events following coronavirus disease 2019 vaccination in adults: a nationwide Swedish study', European Heart Journal, p. ehae639. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehae639.

Yanir, Y. et al. (2022) 'Association between the BNT162b2 messenger RNA COVID-19 vaccine and the risk of sudden sensorineural hearing loss', JAMA Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg., 148(4), pp. 299–306. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2021.4278.

Ye, X. et al. (2022) 'Association between BNT162b2 or CoronaVac COVID-19 vaccines and major adverse cardiovascular events among individuals with cardiovascular disease', Cardiovasc. Res., 118(10), pp. 2329–2338. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvac068.

Yih, W.K. et al. (2011) 'Active surveillance for adverse events: the experience of the Vaccine Safety Datalink project', Pediatrics, 127 Suppl 1(Supplement), pp. S54-64. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-1722I.

Yih, W.K. et al. (2024) 'Tinnitus after COVID-19 vaccination: Findings from the vaccine adverse event reporting system and the vaccine safety datalink', American Journal of Otolaryngology, 45(6), p. 104448. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjoto.2024.104448.

Yong, S.J. et al. (2023) 'Pooled rates and demographics of POTS following SARS-CoV-2 infection versus COVID-19 vaccination: Systematic review and meta-analysis', Autonomic Neuroscience, 250, p. 103132. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autneu.2023.103132.

Yoshida, K., Solomon, D.H. and Kim, S.C. (2015) 'Active-comparator design and new-user design in observational studies', Nat. Rev. Rheumatol., 11(7), pp. 437–441. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2015.30.

Yoshida, T. et al. (2022) 'Medium-term impact of the SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine against disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus', Lupus Science & Medicine, 9(1), p. e000727. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/lupus-2022-000727.

Zace, D. et al. (2022) 'The impact of COVID-19 vaccines on fertility-A systematic review and meta-analysis', Vaccine, 40(42), pp. 6023–6034. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.09.019.

Zhang, J. et al. (2022) 'Best practices in the real-world data life cycle', PLOS Digit. Health, 1(1), p. e0000003. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pdig.0000003.

Zhao, H. et al. (2020) 'Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection: causality or coincidence?', Lancet Neurol., 19(5), pp. 383–384. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30109-5.

Zhou, F. et al. (2020) 'Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study', Lancet, 395(10229), pp. 1054–1062. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3.

109

Zhou, W. et al. (2004) 'A potential signal of Bell's palsy after parenteral inactivated influenza vaccines: reports to the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS)--United States, 1991-2001', Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf, 13(8), pp. 505–10. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.998.